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INTRODUCTION

In this annual report, we use the term “Copa Hadinto refer to Copa Holdings, S.A., “Copa” or “Gopirlines” to refer t
Compafiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., a subsidiaBopa Holdings, S.A., and “AeroRepublica” to referAeroRepblica, S.A.,
subsidiary of Copa Holdings, S.A. The terms “way$™ and “our’refer to Copa Holdings, S.A. together with its sdiagies, excef
where the context requires otherwise. ReferenceSlass A shares” refer to Class A shares of Cophlidgs, S.A.

This annual report contains terms relating to djpeggperformance that are commonly used withinghi&ne industry and a
defined as follows:

“Aircraft utilizatior” represents the average number of block hours auepar day per aircraft for the total aircraft fle

“Available seat miles” or “ASMs'tepresents the aircraft seating capacity multiphgdhe number of miles the seats
flown.

“Average stage leng” represents the average number of miles flown pgntfl
“Block hour? refers to the elapsed time between an aircrafirigaan airport gate and arriving at an airport g
“Breal-even load fact(’ represents the load factor that would have resiidtéotal revenues being equal to total exper

“Load factor’represents the percentage of aircraft seating @gphat is actually utilized (calculated by dividj revenu
passenger miles by available seat mil

“Operating expense per available seat” represents operating expenses divided by avaitaaemiles
“Operating revenue per available seat ” represents operating revenues divided by avaikdsaé miles
“Passenger revenue per available seal” represents passenger revenue divided by availabtersles

“Revenue passenger m” represents the number of miles flown by revenuseragers

“Revenue passengersépresents the total number of paying passengectuding all passengers redeeming One
frequent flyer miles and other travel awards) floemall flight segments (with each connecting seginbeing consider¢
a separate flight segmen

“Yield” represents the average amount one passenger dysite mile.

Market Data

This annual report contains certain statisticahdagarding our airline routes and our competipigsition and market share
and the market size of, the Latin American airfimgustry. This information has been derived fromagety of sources, including t

International Air Transport Association, the U.®dEral Aviation Administration, the Internationalohketary Fund and other third-

party sources, governmental agencies or industgeaeral publications. Information for which no smuis cited has been prepe
by us on the basis of our knowledge of Latin Amemi@irline markets and other information availablels. The methodology a
terminology used by different sources are not abvegnsistent, and data from different sources ateremadily comparable.

addition, sources other than us use methodolop@sare not identical to ours and may produce tegshbht differ from our ow
estimates. Although we have not independently ieetithe information concerning our competitive piosi, market share, marl
size, market growth or other similar data providsdthirdparty sources or by industry or general publicatjone believe the
sources and publications are generally accurateediadble.
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Presentation of Financial and Statistical Data

Included elsewhere in this annual report are oulited consolidated balance sheets at December@®b @nd 2006 and t
audited consolidated statements of income, chaimgslareholderséquity and cash flows for the years ended Dece®bep004
2005 and 2006. The consolidated financial infororaths of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and for thesyended December
2002 and 2003 has been derived from our auditedatiolated financial statements that were preparextcordance with accounti
principles generally accepted in the United Statesl).S. GAAP and which have not been includedhis tannual report. Ti
consolidated financial information as of Decemhbkr2002 has been derived from our audited congelitiinancial statements tl
were prepared under International Financial Repgr8tandards and adjusted to be presented on admasistent with U.S. GA/
and which have not been included in this annualntep

Our audited and unaudited consolidated financé&kstents have been prepared in accordance withGASP and are stated
U.S. dollars. We began consolidating the resultewf AeroRephilica operating subsidiary as of its acquisitioiedan April 22
2005. Unless otherwise indicated, all referenceth&éannual report to “$” or “dollarg'efer to U.S. dollars, and all reference
“Pesos” or “Ps.” refer to Colombian pesos, the lacarency of Colombia.

Certain figures included in this annual report hbeen subject to rounding adjustments. Accordinfigyires shown as totals
certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregatighe figures that precede them.

Special Note About Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report includes forward-looking statateeprincipally under the captions “Risk Factor&lsiness Overviewanc
“Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.” Nige based these forwakabking statements largely on our current bel
expectations and projections about future evendsfimancial trends affecting our business. Many ama@nt factors, in addition
those discussed elsewhere in this annual repontd aause our actual results to differ substatifitbm those anticipated in ¢
forward-looking statements, including, among otiéngs:

. general economic, political and business condition®anama and Latin America and particularly ie tieographi
markets we serve

. our managemertt’ expectations and estimates concerning our fufimancial performance and financing plans
programs

. our level of debt and other fixed obligatiol

. demand for passenger and cargo air service in #rkats in which we operat

. competition;

. our capital expenditure plar

. changes in the regulatory environment in which pwerate;

. changes in labor costs, maintenance costs, futd aosl insurance premiun

. changes in market prices, customer demand andrenefes and competitive conditiol
. cyclical and seasonal fluctuations in our operatgsylts;

. defects or mechanical problems with our airci

. our ability to successfully implement our growthaseégy;
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. our ability to obtain financing on commercially semable terms; ar
»  the risk factors discussed un¢‘Risk Factor” beginning on page :

LIS [T " ou LIS " ou INTH

The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “aim,” “estimag,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect’and similar words a
intended to identify forward-looking statementsniard{ooking statements include information concerning possible or assum
future results of operations, business stratediesancing plans, competitive position, industry Eomment, potential grow
opportunities, the effects of future regulation dimel effects of competition. Forwaldeking statements speak only as of the date
were made, and we undertake no obligation to upglaibécly or to revise any forwarlboking statements after the date of this an
report because of new information, future eventetber factors. In light of the risks and uncertigi® described above, the forward-
looking events and circumstances discussed inahisial report might not occur and are not guarantéefuture performanc
Considering these limitations, you should not placdue reliance on forward-looking statements doathin this annual report.
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PART |
Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management ad Advisers
Not applicable.
Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.
Item 3. Key Information
A. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents summary consolidategricial and operating data for each of the periodicated. Ou
consolidated financial statements are prepared@ordance with U.S. GAAP and are stated in U.Sladnl You should read tt
information in conjunction with our consolidatechdincial statements included in this annual repod the information und
“—Selected Financial Data” and “ltem 5. Operatimgl &inancial Review and Prospects” appearing elsesvim this annual report.

The summary consolidated financial information BBecember 31, 2005 and 2006 and for the yearsceDedeember 31, 20C
2005 and 2006 has been derived from our auditedatiolated financial statements included elsewherthis annual report. Tl
consolidated financial information as of Decembkr Z)03 and 2004, and for the years ended Dece®ih&002 and 2003 has b
derived from our audited consolidated financiatesteents that were prepared under U.S. GAAP andhiiidee not been included
this annual report. The consolidated financial infation as of December 31, 2002 has been derived &ur audited consolidat
financial statements that were prepared underrat@mal Financial Reporting Standards and adjustelde presented on a bz
consistent with U.S. GAAP and which have not bewtuded in this annual report.

We acquired 99.8% of the stock of AeroRbjica, a Colombian air carrier, and began consthdaits results on April 2;
2005. As a result of this acquisition, our finah@iormation prior to and after the acquisitiomist comparable.

Year Ended December 31
2002 2003 2004 2005(20) 2006
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shardata and operating data’

INCOME STATEMENT DATA
Operating revenue

Passenger reven $ 269,62 $ 311,68 $ 364,61 $ 563,52 $  798,90:
Cargo, mail and othe 31,00¢ 30,10¢ 35,22¢ 45,09« 52,25¢
Total operating revenut 300,63 341,78 399,83 608,61- 851,16(
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel 40,02 48,51: 62,54¢ 149,30: 217,73(
Salaries and benefi 39,26« 45,25¢ 51,70: 69,73( 91,38:
Passenger servicir 33,89: 36,87¢ 39,22: 50,62: 64,38(
Commission: 28,72( 27,68 29,07: 45,081 57,80¢
Reservations and sal 16,70" 18,01: 22,11¢ 29,21 38,21:
Maintenance, materials and reps 20,73 20,35¢ 19,74: 32,50¢ 50,05"
Depreciatior 13,377 14,04( 19,27¢ 19,857 24,87
Flight operation: 14,567 15,97¢ 17,90« 24,94 33,74(
Aircraft rentals 21,18: 16,68¢ 14,44t 27,63: 38,16¢
Landing fees and other rent: 8,49¢ 10,55 12,15¢ 17,90¢ 23,92¢
Other 19,16¢ 25,97% 29,30¢ 32,62: 44,75¢
Fleet impairment charc® 13,66¢ 3,57 — — —
Total operating expens 269,79¢ 283,49: 317,49 499,42. 685,03
Operating incom: 30,84 58,29¢ 82,34 109,19. 166,12:
Non-operating income (expens:
Interest expens (7,629 (11,619 (16,48¢) (21,629 (29,15()
Interest capitalize 1,11¢ 2,00¢ 963 1,08¢ 1,71z
Interest incom 831 887 1,42 3,544 7,251
Other, ne® (1,490 2,55¢ 6,06: 39t 18t
Total nor-operating expenses, r (7,179 (6,163 (8,039 (16,607) (19,996
Income before income tax 23,66 52,13 74,30« 92,59 146,12!
Provision for income taxe (2,999 (3,649 (5,732 (9,599 (12,28¢6)

Net income 20,66¢ 48,48¢ 68,57: 82,99¢ 133,83¢
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BALANCE SHEET DATA

Total cash, cash equivalents and shc
term investment

Accounts receivable, n

Total current asse

Purchase deposits for flight equipm:

Total property and equipme

Total asset

Long-term debi

Total shareholde’ equity

CASH FLOW DATA

Net cash provided by operati
activities

Net cash used in investing activit|

Net cash provided by financir
activities

OTHER FINANCIAL DATA

EBITDA ®)

Aircraft rentals

Operating margii

Weighted average shares used in
computing net income per share
(basic)®)

Weighted average shares used in
computing net income per share
(diluted)®)

Net income (loss) per share (ba<®)

Net income (loss) per share (dilute®

OPERATING DATA

Revenue passengers carr®)

Revenue passenger mil(?)

Available seat mile(®)

Load factoi®)

Breal-even load facto(10)

Total block hourd11)

Average daily aircraft utilizatio(2)

Average passenger fa

Yield (13)

Passenger revenue per A{14)

Operating revenue per AS(15)

Operating expenses per ASM
(CASM) (16)

Departures

Average daily departure

Average number of aircra

Airports served at period el

SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA
Copa:
Operating revenu
Operating expenst
Depreciatior
Aircraft rentals
Interest expens
Interest capitalize

Year Ended December 31,

2002

2003

2004

2005(20)

2006

(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shardata and operating data)

$ 34,47¢
24,00¢
68,94(
55,861
345,41
421,93!
211,69¢
67,09

$ 55,54

(150,205

100,40(

42,72¢
21,18:

10.2%

42,812,50

42,812,50
$ 0.4¢
$ 0.4¢

1,81¢
1,87¢
2,84

65.€%
54.5%

58,11:
8.8
148.2
14.3¢
9.47
10.5¢

9.4¢
23,36!
64.C
18.1
27

$ 300,63
269,79t
13,371
21,18:
7,62¢

1,114

$

$

$
$

61,43:
31,01¢
103,52:
45,86¢
480,48
591,91!
311,99:
115,58¢

73,47¢
(151,80:)

105,29¢

74,89(
16,68¢
17.1%

42,812,50

42,812,50
1.15
1.1¢

2,02¢
2,19t
3,22¢
68.(%
52.&%
64,90¢
9.C
153.7
14.22
9.6¢€
10.6(C

8.7¢
25,70z
70.4
19.¢
28

341,78¢
283,49¢
14,04(
16,68¢
11,61
2,00¢

$

$
$

110,94
27,70¢
152,08
7,19(
541,21:
702,05(
380,82
174,15!

98,05
(85,73%)

29,75¢

107,68
14,44
20.6%

42,812,50

42,812,50
1.6C
1.6C

2,33¢
2,54¢
3,63¢
70.(%
52.t%
70,22¢

"
2
<

156.%
14.31
10.0z
10.9¢

8.72
27,43¢
75.C
20.¢
29

399,83
317,49
19,27¢
14,44
16,48
962

$

$

$
$

114,491

46,53:
184,35:

52,75:
637,54:
916,91.
402,95-
245,86

115,36¢
(159,88()

38,92¢

129,44.
27,63
17.%%

42,812,50

42,812,50
1.94
1.94

4,361
3,82¢
5,35¢
71.4%
57.%
103,62¢
9.8
129.2
14.7¢
10.51
11.3¢

9.32
48,93¢
156.€
31.C
36

505,65!
402,68
19,24:
22,09¢
19,42
1,08¢

$ 197,38l
62,137
290,65
65,15(
862,28:
1,255,071
529,80:
371,66

$ 193,46t
(258,98()

141,49t

191,18
38,16¢
19.5%

42,812,50

43,234,55
$ 3.1¢
$ 3.1C

5,741
5,01
6,86¢
73.1%
58.(%
130,81t
9.8
139.2
15.92
11.6¢
12.4(

9.9¢
65,47
179.¢
38.€
42

$ 676,16t
509,54(
23,73
23,84:
26,90°
1,712



Interest incom

Net income (loss) before ti

Total asset
AeroRejublica: (1)

Operating revenu

Operating expenst

Depreciatior

Aircraft rentals

Interest expens

Interest capitalize

Interest incom

Net income (loss) before t:

Total asset

831
23,66
421,93!

887
52,13
591,91!

1,42
74,30
702,05(

3,37¢
89,74¢
851,07!

103,01t
96,83¢
61t
5,53¢
2,20
16¢
2,84¢
98,09:

$

6,887
155,53:
1,168,12.

175,88:
176,38¢
1,147
14,60:
2,24¢
37C
(9,409)
132,87:
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SEGMENT OPERATING DATA
Copa:

Year Ended December 31,

2002

2003

2004

2005(20)

2006

(in thousands of dollars, except share and per shardata and operating data)

Available seat mile® 2,847 3,22¢ 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢
Load factoi® 65.9% 68.(% 70.(% 73.2% 77.8%
Breal-even load facto 54.5% 52.8% 52.% 56.£% 56.1%
Yield (13) 14.3¢ 14.2z 14.31 14.41 15.4¢
Operating revenue per AS(15) 10.5¢ 10.6(C 10.9¢ 11.45 12.9]
CASM (18) 9.4¢ 8.7¢ 8.72 9.12 9.7:2
Average stage leng(8) 1,01( 1,02¢ 1,047 1,12z 1,15¢
On time performanc? 90.5% 91.4% 91.8% 91.7% 91.(%
AeroRejlblica: (21)
Available seat mile® — — — 95(C 1,62
Load factoi®) — — — 62.(% 57.%%
Break even load factc — — — 60.8% 61.%%
Yield @3) — — — 16.5: 17.7¢
Operating revenue per AS(15) — — — 10.8¢ 10.81
CASM (16) — — — 10.1¢ 10.8¢
Average stage leng(18) — — — 36C 37C
On time performanc(19) — — — 70.4% 80.2%

(1)
()

(3)

Represents impairment losses on our Boein¢-200 aircraft and related asse

Consists primarily of changes in the fair valuefwdl derivative contracts, foreign exchange gaissés and gains on sale
Boeing 737-200 aircraft. See “ltem 5. Operating Bimhncial Review and Prospectrid the notes to our consolidated finar
statements

EBITDA represents net income (loss) plus the surintarest expense, income taxes, depreciation arattaation minus tr
sum of interest capitalized and interest incomelTER\ is presented as supplemental information beeawe believe it is
useful indicator of our operating performance anddeful in comparing our operating performancé wther companies in t
airline industry. However, EBITDA should not be safered in isolation, as a substitute for net inegrepared in accordar
with U.S. GAAP or as a measure of a comparprofitability. In addition, our calculation of EBDA may not be comparable
other companiessimilarly titled measures. The following table prets a reconciliation of our net income to EBITDg the
specified periods

Year Ended December 31
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
(in thousands of dollars)

Net income $ 20,66¢ $ 48,48¢ $ 68,57 $ 82,99¢ $ 133,83
Interest expens 7,62¢ 11,61 16,48¢ 21,62¢ 29,15(
Income taxe: 2,99¢ 3,64¢ 5,732 9,592 12,28¢
Depreciatior 13,371 14,04( 19,27¢ 19,857 24,87«
Subtotal 44,67 77,78¢ 110,07: 134,07 200,14
Interest capitalize (1,119 (2,009 (963) (1,089 (1,712
Interest incom (831) (887) (1,427) (3,549 (7,257)
EBITDA 42,72¢ 74,89( 107,68! 129,44. 191,18(

(4)
()

(6)

(7)
(8)

Aircraft rentals represents a significant operatéxgense of our business. Because we leased seberait aircraft during tr
periods presented, we believe that when assessmBRBITDA you should also consider the impact of aircraft rent expens
which was $21.2 million in 2002, $16.7 million i0@3, $14.4 million in 2004, $27.6 million in 20GiMd $38.2 million in 200

Operating margin represents operating income divlileoperating revenue

All share and per share amounts have been retvefictrestated to reflect the current capital suetdescribed und
“Description of Capital Sto” and in the notes to our consolidated financiakstants

Total number of paying passengers (including afispagers redeeming OnePass frequent flyer mileotued travel award
flown on all flight segments, expressed in thousa

Number of miles flown by scheduled revenue passang&pressed in million
Aircraft seating capacity multiplied by the numioémiles the seats are flown, expressed in milli



(9) Percentage of aircraft seating capacity that igaist utilized. Load factors are calculated by dimg revenue passenger m
by available seat mile

(10) Load factor that would have resulted in total raxenbeing equal to total expens

(11) The number of hours from the time an airplane maféthe departure gate for a revenue flight uitis parked at the gate
the arrival airport

(12) Average number of block hours operated per dayperaft for the total aircraft flee

(13) Average amount (in cents) one passenger pays tméymile.

(14) Passenger revenues (in cents) divided by the nuoitzsailable seat mile

(15) Total operating revenues for passenger aircradted|costs (in cents) divided by the number oflalbe seat miles
(16) Total operating expenses for passenger aircraftaglcosts (in cents) divided by the number oflalle seat miles
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17
(18
(19
(20

Percentage of flights that arrive at the destimagjate within fifteen minutes of scheduled arri
The average number of miles flown per flig
Percentage of flights that depart within fifteemates of the scheduled departure ti

For AeroReplilica operating data, this period covers from AR#| 2005 until December 31, 2005 which correspdodihe
period that AeroRelblica was consolidated in our financial stateme

(21) AeroRepublica has not historically distinguisheetween revenue passengers and neeenue passengers. Although we
implementing systems at AeroRdghida to record that information, revenue passemgf@rmation and other statistics deri
from revenue passenger data for the year endedhiexe31, 2005 and 2006 has been derived from estintiaat we believe
be materially accurat

T T O

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable

D. Risk Factors

An investment in our Class A shares involves a kighree of risk. You should carefully consider tisks described belo
before making an investment decision. Our busirfesmcial condition and results of operations abile materially and adverse
affected by any of these risks. The trading priceur Class A shares could decline due to any e$étrisks, and you may lose all
part of your investment. The risks described belosvthose known to us and that we currently belraag materially affect u:

Risks Relating to Our Company

Our failure to successfully implement our growthrategy may adversely affect our results of operagoand harm the marke
value of our Class A shares.

We have grown rapidly over the past seven yearsinftéad to continue to grow our fleet, expand cenviee to new marke
and increase the frequency of flights to the market currently serve. Achieving these goals isréssan order for our business
benefit from cost efficiencies resulting from econies of scale. We expect to have substantial casdshas we expand, includi
cash required to fund aircraft purchases or airdaposits as we add to our fleet. We cannot aggurghat we will have sufficiet
cash to fund such projects, and if we are unablsuttwessfully expand our route system, our futekemue and earnings grov
would be limited.

When we commence a new route, our load factors tefe lower than those on our established routdsoar advertising ar
other promotional costs tend to be higher, whicty mesult in initial losses that could have a negatimpact on our results
operations as well as require a substantial amoticash to fund. We also periodically run speciainpotional fare campaign
particularly in connection with the opening of nesutes. Promotional fares may have the effect ofeiasing load factors whi
reducing our yield on such routes during the petiad they are in effect. The number of marketsseme and our flight frequenci
depend on our ability to identify the appropriaemgraphic markets upon which to focus and to gaitalsle airport access and roi
approval in these markets. There can be no assuthatthe new markets we enter will provide pageeiraffic that is sufficient t
make our operations in those new markets profitafahy condition that would prevent or delay our eésx to key airports or route
including limitations on the ability to process ragrassengers, the imposition of flight capacityrigfons, the inability to secul
additional route rights under bilateral agreematshe inability to maintain our existing slots anbtain additional slots, cou
constrain the expansion of our operations.

The expansion of our business will also requireitaaithl skilled personnel, equipment and facilitig#fe inability to hire an
retain skilled pilots and other personnel or se¢heerequired equipment and facilities efficierdlyd costeffectively may adversel
affect our ability to execute our growth strate@xpansion of our markets and flight frequencies mao strain our existin
management resources and operational, financialnzamthgement information systems to the point wihieeg may no longer t
adequate to support our operations, requiring usake significant expenditures in these areasight bf these factors, we canr
assure you that we will be able to successfullpldisth new markets or expand our existing markatsd, our failure to do so cou
harm our business and results of operations, dsag¢he value of our Class A shares.
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If we fail to successfully integrate the new Embrag90 aircraft we have agreed to purchase into caperations, our busines
could be harmed.

In October 2004, Copa announced an order to puecteas new Embraer 190 aircraft with options foraalulitional 20 nev
aircraft. Subsequently, Copa increased its firmemsdor the Embraer 190 aircraft by exercising fdfe¢hese options. Through t
first quarter of 2007, Copa has accepted delivérsiboEmbraer 190 aircraft. In March 2006, AeroRelpza announced an order
purchase five new Embraer 190 aircraft with optiémis an additional 10 new aircraft. Since then AReplblica has accepte
delivery of four Embraer 190 aircraft. Acquisitiofian allnew type of aircraft, such as the Embraer 190, lirega variety of risks
including:

. difficulties or delays in obtaining the necessagytifications from the aviation regulatory authied of the countrie
to which we fly;

. manufacture' s delays in meeting the agreed upon aircraft delisehedule

. difficulties in obtaining financing on acceptablerrhs to complete our purchase of all of the aitcved hawvi
committed to purchase; al

» the inability of the new aircraft and its comporgemd comply with agreed upon specifications andgoerance
standards

The Embraer 190 is a new aircraft and, althouglate we have not had any significant problems tiih aircraft, certain othe
airlines have in the past experienced problemsrgéineassociated with it, including difficulties thi the software that operates
Embraer avionics system. As a result, we may egpee similar or other problems with the Embraersli®@t will be delivered to t
which could result in increased costs or servitermptions.

In addition, we also face risks integrating a selctype of aircraft into our existing infrastructuaad operations, includin
among other things, the additional costs, resouaoéstime needed to hire and train new pilots, i@ians and other skilled suppt
personnel. If we fail to successfully take delivefyplace into service and integrate into our aiens the new Embraer 190 aircr:
our business, financial condition and results afragions could be harmed.

We are dependent on our alliance with Continentaldacannot assure you that it will continue.

We maintain a broad commercial and marketing atkawith Continental Airlines, Inc., or Continenttiat has allowed us
enhance our network and, in some cases, offer vstomers services that we could not otherwise offe€ontinental were t
experience severe financial difficulties or go baupk, our alliance and service agreements may ringéiriated or we may not reali;
the anticipated benefits from our relationship w@bntinental. While Continental recorded net incoohé&343 million for 2006, i
suffered significant losses following September 2001, and it has indicated that several factoreatien its ability to susta
profitability, including competition from loveost carriers and carriers emerging from bankrugtmtection, high fuel cost ar
terrorism or other international hostilities. Wennat assure you that Continental will be able tetain its profitability, and as
result, we may be materially and adversely affebted deterioration of Continental’s financial caiwh.
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Since we began the alliance in 1998, we have hedefrom Continenta$ support in negotiations for aircraft purcha
insurance and fuel purchases, sharing of “bestipest and engineering support in our maintenance op@st@and significant oth
intangible support. This support has assisted usuingrowth strategy, while also improving our ag@mal performance and f
quality of our service. Our alliance relationshigthwContinental is the subject of a grant of anstrimmunity from the U.!
Department of Transportation, or DOT. If our redaghip with Continental were to deteriorate, or alliance relationship were
longer to benefit from a grant of antitrust immuynior our alliance or services agreements wereitett@d, our business, financ
condition and results of operations would likelyrbaterially and adversely affected. The loss of &£@podesharing relationship w
Continental would likely result in a significant atease in our revenues. We also rely on ContinentahePass frequent fh
program that we participate in globally and on ébcanded basis in Latin America, and our businesg Ineaadversely affected if t
OnePass program does not remain a competitive miragkprogram. In addition, our competitors may Hérfeom alliances witl
other airlines that are more extensive than ouarale with Continental. We cannot predict the eixtenwhich we will b
disadvantaged by competing alliances. See “lteml&jor Shareholders and Related Party TransactioBsi’ relationship wit
suppliers depends in part on our alliance with @emtal. As a result of our follow-on offering irude 2006, Continental’
investment in our company diminished to approxinyat0% of our total outstanding capital stock. Wanwot assure you tt
Continentals reduced participation in our company will not &a@n adverse effect on our relationships with dappbr that the tern
of our current or future supply agreements will betaffected by this reduced participation.

Continental’s economic interest in our continued stess can be expected to further decline over time.

In connection with our initial public offering in &ember 2005, Continental reduced its investmenasinfrom 49% t
approximately 27.3% of our capital stock. Througfoleow-on offering in 2006, Continental further reducegliitvestment in us
approximately 10.0% of our capital stock. Contimemhay seek to monetize its remaining investmentsnContinental has cert
rights pursuant to a shareholders’ agreement antomgtinental, Corporacion de Inversionesrdas, S.A., or CIASA, and 1
including the right to appoint one of our direct@s long as our alliance agreement with Contineataitinues. As a result
Continentals right to appoint one member of our board of doex and our dependence on the alliance betweeraithires
Continental has the ability to exercise significenfiluence over us. Nevertheless, Continestaiterests will likely diverge from tha
of our other shareholders as Continental reduceitestment in us over time. Other than certaiolustvity provisions and
termination event for certain competitive activdtieontained in our alliance agreement, we do nee hleny nonsompetitior
agreement with Continental, and as Continentalicoas to reduce its economic stake in us, it mkg tections that are adverse to
interests of the majority of our shareholders. ‘$een 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Taatigns.”

We operate using a hub-and-spoke model and are eudhble to competitors offering direct flights betere destinations we serve.

The structure of substantially all of our curreligtt operations (other than those of AeroRgma) generally follows what
known in the airline industry as a “hub-and-spoka&jdel. This model aggregates passengers by opeféights from a number
“spoke” origins to a central hub through which theg transported to their final destinations. lcerg years, many traditional hub-
and-spoke operators have faced significant anek@&sing competitive pressure from low-cost, poiRpaint carriers on routes w
sufficient demand to sustain point-to-point servidepoint-to-point structure enables airlines teds on the most profitable, high-
demand routes and to offer greater convenienceiamdany instances, lower fares. With the passdgene, and in particular :
demand for air travel in Latin America increasess iincreasingly likely that one or more of oummgetitors will initiate norstog
service between important destinations that weeatly serve through our Panamanian hub. By bypgssim hub in Panama, &
non-stop service would be more convenient and poss#isly expensive, than our connecting service antll agnificantly decrea:
demand for our service to those destinations. Wieveethat future competition from point-fmint carriers will be directed towal
the largest markets that we serve. As a resulteffeet of such competition on us could be sigaificand could have a mate
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.
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The Panamanian Aviation Act and certain of the bikeral agreements under which we operate contain Baranian ownershi
requirements that are not clearly defined, and diailure to comply with these requirements could caius to lose our authority 1
operate in Panama or to the international destinaiis we serve.

Under Law No. 21 of January 29, 2003, which regsdahe aviation industry in the Republic of Panamd which we refer t
as the Aviation Act, “substantial ownership” andféetive control”of our airline must remain in the hands of Panamramiationals
Under certain of the bilateral agreements betwesrafa and other countries pursuant to which we tieveght to fly to those oths
countries and over their territory, we must contiia have substantial Panamanian ownership andtieffecontrol by Panamanii
nationals to retain these rights. Neither “subssrdwnership” nor “effective controlare defined in the Aviation Act or in tl
bilateral agreements, and it is unclear how a Paném court or, in the case of the bilateral agesgs) foreign regulatory authoriti
might interpret these requirements. In additior, mhanner in which these requirements are intemgbnetay change over time. V
cannot predict whether these requirements woulkbklisfied through ownershgnd control by Panamanian record holders, or B¢
requirements would be satisfied only by direct anttirect ownership and control by Panamanian berz@fowners.

At the present time, CIASA, a Panamanian entitythis record owner of all of our Class B voting €sarrepresentin
approximately 29.2% of our total share capital ath@f the voting power of our capital stock.

On November 25, 2005, the Executive Branch of tbegBhment of Panama promulgated a decree stataight ‘substantia
ownership” and “effective controfequirements of the Aviation Act are met if a Paaaran citizen or a Panamanian company is
record holder of shares representing 51% or motbeo¥oting power of the company. Although the dednas the force of law for
long as it remains in effect, it does not superdib@eAviation Act, and it can be modified or supelsd at any time by a futu
Executive Branch decree. Additionally, the decrae ho binding effect on regulatory authorities tfes countries whose bilatel
agreements impose Panamanian ownership and cbntitations on us. We cannot assure you that ttoeegewill not be challenge
modified or superseded in the future, that CIASA wontinue to own a majority of the Class B shasthat record ownership ol
majority of our Class B shares by Panamanian eatitill be sufficient to satisfy the “substantialieership” requirement of th
Aviation Act and the decree. A change in the ownigref the Class B shares or a determination byPtaeamanian Civil Aviatio
Authority (theAutoridad de Aeronautica Civjl which we refer to as the AAC, or a Panamaniairtciinat “substantialPanamania
ownership should be determined on the basis ofdoect and indirect ownership, could cause us $& lour license to operate ¢
airline in Panama. Likewise, if a foreign regulatauthority were to determine that our direct atiiact Panamanian ownership fe
to satisfy the minimum Panamanian ownership reqers for a Panamanian carrier under the applidaitdéeral agreement, v
may lose the benefit of that agreement and be bitedi from flying to the relevant country or ovds iterritory. Any sucl
determination would have a material adverse effmcbur business, financial condition and result®mérations, as well as on t
value of the Class A shares.

Our business is subject to extensive regulation géhimay restrict our growth or our operations or ingase our costs.

Our business, financial condition and results afrafions could be adversely affected if we or ¢erd&iation authorities in th
countries to which we fly fail to maintain the réepa foreign and domestic governmental authorizetioecessary for our operatio
In order to maintain the necessary authorizatiesgdd by the AAC and other corresponding foreighaxities, we must continue
comply with applicable statutes, rules and regofeipertaining to the airline industry, includingyaules and regulations that m
be adopted in the future. We cannot predict orrobiiny actions that the AAC or foreign aviatioguéators may take in the futui
which could include restricting our operations orposing new and costly regulations. Also, our faaes technically subject
review by the AAC and the regulators of certaineotbountries to which we fly, any of which may retfuture impose restrictions
our fares.

We are also subject to international bilateralt@nsport agreements that provide for the exchamngér traffic rights betwee
Panama and various other countries, and we muatnopermission from the applicable foreign governtado provide service !
foreign destinations. There can be no assurantexisting bilateral agreements between the coemiri which our airline operatir
companies are based and foreign governments wiitimge, or that we will be able to obtain more eouights under thos
agreements to accommodate our future expansios.pfamodification, suspension or revocation of onenore bilateral agreemer
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrifegancial condition and results of operationse Buspension of our permits
operate to certain airports or destinations, thecelation of any of our provisional routes or thgosition of other sanctions cot
also have a material adverse effect. For examplkently, our third daily frequency to Mexico Cityhich was under provision
permit, was not extended by the Mexican civil agiatauthority. We do not expect this to have a mate@dverse effect on ol
business, but it is indicative of the route chartgeshich we may be subject. Due to the natureilatdral agreements, we can fly
many destinations only from Panama. We cannot asguu that a change in a foreign governmeatiministration of current lav
and regulations or the adoption of new laws andlegpns will not have a material adverse effecbanbusiness, financial conditit
and results of operations.
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We plan to continue to increase the scale of oeraimns and revenues by expanding our presenoewrand existing route
Our ability to successfully implement this strategyl depend upon many factors, several of whiok @ntside our control or subje
to change. These factors include the permanenaesaftable political, economic and regulatory emrwiment in the Latin Americe
countries in which we operate or intend to opeaaite our ability to identify strategic local partaer

The most active government regulator among thetcasrto which we fly is the U.S. Federal Aviatiddministration, or FAA
The FAA from time to time issues directives andeottegulations relating to the maintenance andaijwer of aircraft that requir
significant expenditures. FAA requirements covenoag other things, collision avoidance systemdycaire windshear avoidan
systems, noise abatement and other environmestatss and increased inspections and maintenancedu@s to be conducted
older aircraft. We expect to continue incurring expes to comply with the FAA’regulations, and any increase in the co:
compliance could have an adverse effect on ounéia condition and results of operations. Additibnew regulations continue
be regularly implemented by the U.S. TransportaBeourity Administration, or TSA, as well.

The growth of our operations to the United Stateadathe benefits of our codeharing arrangements with Continental ai
dependent on Panama'’s continued favorable safetyessment.

The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulat@ythorities of other countries. As a result ofifitgestigation, each country
given an International Aviation Safety AssessmentJASA, rating. In May 2001, PanansalASA rating was downgraded frc
Category 1 to Category 2 due to alleged deficienoiePanamanian air safety standards and AAg@pability to provide regulato
oversight. As a result of this downgrade, we wearvented from offering our Copa flights to any ndeastinations in the Unite
States and from certifying new aircraft for flightsthe United States, and Continental was no loagk to codeshare on our fligh
In April 2004, after extensive investment by thenx@aanian government in the AAC and consultationsrayrCopa, the AAC an
U.S. safety officials, PanamsalASA rating was restored to Category 1. We ca@sstre you that the government of Panama, ar
AAC in particular, will continue to meet internatial safety standards, and we have no direct contret their compliance wit
IASA guidelines. If Panama’lASA rating were to be downgraded in the futireould prohibit us from increasing service to
United States and Continental would have to suspleadlacing of its code on our flights, causingtedose direct revenue fro
codesharing as well as reducing flight optionsup @ustomers.

We are highly dependent on our hub at Panama City'scumen International Airport.

Our business is heavily dependent on our operaadmsir hub at Panama CisyTocumen International Airport. Substantit
all of our Copa flights either depart from or aeriat our hub. The hub-arspoke structure of our operations is particulagpehden
on the ontime arrival of tightly coordinated groupings oigfits to ensure that passengers can make timelyections to continuin
flights. Like other airlines, we are subject toaled caused by factors beyond our control, includiindgraffic congestion at airport
adverse weather conditions and increased secugg@suares. Delays inconvenience passengers, reduacaftaitilization and increas
costs, all of which in turn negatively affect ourofitability. A significant interruption or disrufn in service at Tocume
International Airport could have a serious impact @ur business, financial condition and operatiegults. Also, Tocume
International Airport provides international seevito the Republic of Panansgdopulation of approximately 3.0 million, wherehs
hub markets of our current competitors tend to lehrarger, providing those competitors with a éargase of customers at th
hub.
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Tocumen International Airport is operated by a oogtion that is controlled by the government of Bepublic of Panama. W
depend on our good working relationship with theagjgovernmental corporation that operates the airfmgnsure that we ha
adequate access to aircraft parking positions,imgndghts and gate assignments for our aircrafatcommodate our curre
operations and future plans for expansion. Theaatn that operates Tocumen International Airglaes not enter into any form
written leases or other agreements with airlines gfovern rights to use the airparietways or aircraft parking spaces. Therefor
connection with the ongoing or future expansiothefairport, the airport authority could assign reapacity to competing airlines
could reassign resources that are currently usedshbip other aircraft operators. Either such ewentld result in significant ne
competition for our routes or could otherwise haveaterial adverse effect on our current operatiorability for future growth.

We are exposed to increases in landing charges atiter airport access fees and cannot be assuredeasdo adequate facilitie
and landing rights necessary to achieve our expamsplans.

We must pay fees to airport operators for the Ustheir facilities. Any substantial increase inpairt charges could have
material adverse impact on our results of operatidPassenger taxes and airport charges have alseaded in recent yea
sometimes substantially. Certain important airpdintst we use may be privatized in the near futuhgchvis likely to result ir
significant cost increases to the airlines thatthese airports. We cannot assure you that ther&rpised by us will not impose,
further increase, passenger taxes and airport ebanghe future, and any such increases could amasverse effect on our financ
condition and results of operations.

Certain airports that we serve (or that we plarsg¢ove in the future) are subject to capacity cairsis and impose sl
restrictions during certain periods of the day. ¥danot assure you that we will be able to obtasmfficient number of slots, gat
and other facilities at airports to expand our v as we are proposing to do. It is also possitaeairports not currently subject
capacity constraints may become so in the futur@ddition, an airline must use its slots on a l&gand timely basis or risk havii
those slots rellocated to others. Where slots or other airpesburces are not available or their availabilityeistricted in some wa
we may have to amend our schedules, change routeslace aircraft utilization. Any of these alteimas could have an adver
financial impact on us.

Some of the airports to which we fly impose varioestrictions, including limits on aircraft noisevels, limits on the number
average daily departures and curfews on runway lasaddition, we cannot assure you that airportsvlaich there are no su
restrictions may not implement restrictions in foeure or that, where such restrictions exist, thegy not become more onero
Such restrictions may limit our ability to continteeprovide or to increase services at such aisport

We have significant fixed financing costs and expée incur additional fixed costs as we expand dieet.

The airline business is characterized by high leger and we have a high level of indebtedness. Mte lmve significar
expenditures in connection with our operating leamed facility rental costs, and substantiallycdlbur property and equipment
pledged to secure indebtedness. For the year dbdeeimber 31, 2006, our interest expense and dir@naf facility rental expens
under operating leases aggregated $76.1 millionMAtch 31, 2007, approximately 45% of our totaldbtedness bore interest
fixed rates, and a small portion of our lease @tians was determined with reference to LIBOR. Adewgly, our financing and rei
expense will not decrease significantly if markderest rates decline.

As of May 31, 2007, we had firm commitments to pase ten Boeing 73Mext Generation and ten Embraer 190s, with
aggregate manufacturerlist price of approximately $1.1 billion. We hageranged for financing for a significant portiof tbe
commitment relating to such aircraft and will regusubstantial capital from external sources totnoeg remaining financie
commitment. The acquisition and financing of theseraft will likely result in a substantial incrg& in our leverage and fix
financing costs. A high degree of leverage anddfigayment obligations could:

. limit our ability in the future to obtain additiohinancing for working capital or other importamteds
. impair our liquidity by diverting substantial caBbm our operating needs to service fixed finanabgjgations; ol

. limit our ability to plan for or react to changes our business, in the airline industry or in gahexconomi
conditions.
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Any one of these could have a material adversetefie our business, financial condition and resoiitsperations.

The cost of refinancing our debt and obtaining adidinal financing for new aircraft could increase gnificantly if the Export-
Import Bank of the United States does not continteeguarantee our deb

We currently finance our aircraft through bank leamd, to a lesser extent, operating leases aatldond offerings. In the pa:
we have obtained most of the financing for our Bgeaircraft purchases from commercial financiatiintions utilizing guarantee
provided by the Export-Import Bank of the Unitecht®s. The Exporimport Bank provides guarantees to companies thathgase
goods from U.S. companies for export, enabling thewbtain financing at substantially lower intdneges as compared to those 1
they could obtain without a guarantee. The Expmgort Bank will not be able to provide similar gaatees in connection wi
financing for our aircraft purchases from Embraaces those aircraft are not exports from the Uniates. At December 31, 20!
we had $365.4 million of outstanding indebtednéss is owed to financial institutions under finargiarrangements guaranteed
the Export-Import Bank. We cannot predict whethe Export-lmport Banls credit support will continue to be available ®ta
fund future purchases of Boeing aircraft. The Exbmport Bank may in the future limit its exposucePanamdased companies,
our airline or to airlines generally, or may enage us to diversify our credit sources by limitfioagure guarantees. Similarly, v
cannot assure you that we will be able to conttougise financing from past sources, or from otwirces, on terms comparable
our existing financing. We may not be able to cmmi to obtain lease or debt financing on termsetitre to us, or at all, and if v
are unable to obtain financing, we may be forcethtalify our aircraft acquisition plans or to incdugher than anticipated financi
costs which could have an adverse impact on theutioa of our growth strategy and business.

Our existing debt financing agreements and our aiaft operating leases contain restrictive covenartsat impose significan
operating and financial restrictions on us.

Our aircraft financing loans and operating leased the instruments governing our other indebtedicestain a number ¢
significant covenants and restrictions that limit ability and our subsidiaries’ ability to:
. create material liens on our assi
«  take certain actions that may impair credi rights to our aircraft
+ sell assets or engage in certain mergers or caaimins; anc
. engage in other specified significant transacti
In addition, several of our aircraft financing agmeents require us to maintain compliance with dgetifinancial ratios an
other financial and operating tests. For example, access to certain borrowings under our airciiatincing arrangements
conditioned upon our maintenance of minimum debtise coverage and capitalization ratios. Skeni 5. Operating and Financ
Review and Prospects—Liquidity and Capital Resaufd@omplying with these covenants may cause us todakens that make
more difficult to execute successfully our businsssitegy, and we may face competition from comgmmiot subject to sut

restrictions. Moreover, our failure to comply witrese covenants could result in an event of defaufefusal by our creditors
extend certain of our loans.
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If we were to determine that our aircraft, rotabjgarts or inventory were impaired, it would have igmificant adverse effect on ot
operating results.

We perform impairment reviews when there are paldicrisks of impairment or other indicators delsed in Statement «
Financial Accounting Standards No. 14&counting for the Impairment or Disposal of Longdd Assets in order to determin
whether we need to reduce the carrying value ofagaraft and related assets with a related chrgeir earnings. In addition to t
fact that the value of our fleet declines as itsadle excess capacity that currently exists inaiiae industry, airline bankruptcis
and other factors beyond our control may furthertidbute to the decline of the fair market valueoof aircraft and related rotak
parts and inventory. If such impairment does ocete,would be required under U.S. GAAP to write dotiese assets to thi
estimated fair market value through a charge tmiegs. A significant charge to earnings would adedr affect our financie
condition and operating results. In addition, thteiest rates on and the availability of certaiowf aircraft financing loans are tied
the value of the aircraft securing the loans. tsth values were to decrease substantially, ourestieates may rise or the lend
under those loans may cease extending credit teiter of which could have an adverse impact onfimancial condition an
results of operations.

We rely on information technology systems, and waynbecome more dependent on such systems in thedut

We rely upon information technology systems to afeeour business and increase our efficiency. Véehaghly reliant or
certain critical systems, such as the Sceptre dade¥ systems for maintenance, the “SHARES” compatgervation and chedk-
system and the Airmax revenue management systeher @ystems are designed to decrease distributists ¢hrough Internt
reservations and to maximize cargo distributiortsese systems may not deliver their anticipated fitesndlso, in transitioning tc
new systems we may lose data or experience int@ngin service, which could harm our business.

Our quarterly results can fluctuate substantiallgnd the trading price of our Class A shares maydféected by such variations.

The airline industry is by nature cyclical and se®d, and our operating results may vary from aquait quarter. We tend
experience the highest levels of traffic and rewemuJuly and August, with a smaller peak in taffi December and January.
general, demand for air travel is higher in thedkind fourth quarters, particularly in internaibmarkets, because of the increas
vacation travel during these periods relative ® témainder of the year. We generally experiengelamuest levels of passenc
traffic in April and May. Given our high proportioof fixed costs, seasonality can affect our profltsy from quarter to quarte
Demand for air travel is also affected by factamstsas economic conditions, war or the threat of, isre levels and weath
conditions.

Due to the factors described above and others ibesicin this annual report, quarterdgoarter comparisons of our operat
results may not be good indicators of our futurdggenance. In addition, it is possible that in aparter our operating results col
be below the expectations of investors and anyighdd reports or analyses regarding our companthdhevent, the price of o
Class A shares could decline, perhaps substantially

Our reputation and financial results could be harrden the event of an accident or incident involvirgur aircraft.

An accident or incident involving one of our airitreould involve significant claims by injured pasgers and others, as well
significant costs related to the repair or replagehof a damaged aircraft and its temporary or paent loss from service. A sh
time prior to our acquisition of AeroRejplica, one of its aircraft slid off of a runway an accident without serious injuries
passengers; although, the aircraft was severel\adathand declared a total loss by its insurersak&eequired by our creditors a
the lessors of our aircraft under our operatingdeagreements to carry liability insurance, butahmunt of such liability insuran
coverage may not be adequate and we may be foocbdar substantial losses in the event of any éuaacident. Our insuran
premiums may also increase due to an accidentcatent affecting one of our aircraft. Substantiairas resulting from an accide
in excess of our related insurance coverage oe@sed premiums would harm our business and finaresalts. Moreover, an
aircraft accident or incident, even if fully insdrecould cause the public to perceive us as lefes@areliable than other airline
which could harm our business and results of omersit Our business would also be significantly hedrif the public avoids flyin
our aircraft due to an adverse perception of thpegyof aircraft that we operate arising from safgincerns or other problen
whether real or perceived, or in the event of andant involving those types of aircraft.
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Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could negatiy affect our net income.

In 2006, approximately 71% of our expenses and #1%ur revenues were denominated in U.S. dollang femainder of ot
expenses and revenues were denominated in thencigseof the various countries to which we fly, lwihe largest nodellar
amount denominated in Colombian Pesos. As a refulhe acquisition of AeroReplica in April 2005, we have an increas
exposure to the Colombian Peso. If any of theseenares decline in value against the U.S. dollar, revenues, expressed in U
dollars, and our operating margin would be advgra#ected. We may not be able to adjust our fdersominated in other currenc
to offset any increases in U.S. dold@nominated expenses, increases in interest expersehange losses on fixed obligation:
indebtedness denominated in foreign currency. Gapeently does not hedge the risk of fluctuationfameign exchange rate
AeroReptblica currently has hedges in place with respecioime of its U.S. dollar / Colombian Peso exposWe.are exposed
exchange rate losses and gains due to the flustustithe value of local currencies visAg-the U.S. dollar during the period of tir
(typically between 1 to 2 weeks) between the tineeane paid in local currencies and the time weahte to repatriate the revenues
U.S. dollars.

Our maintenance costs will increase as Copa'’s flages and as we perform maintenance on AeroRepatdiolder fleet.

Because the average age of Cepitcraft was approximately 3.9 years as of May28D7, the fleet requires less maintene
now than it will in the future. We have incurredoav level of maintenance expenses in recent yeacgalse most of the parts
Copa’s aircraft were still covered under myiiar warranties. Our maintenance costs will in@esagnificantly, both on an absolt
basis and as a percentage of our operating expaases fleet ages and these warranties expire.

AeroRepublica’s fleet is considerably older tharp&se fleet, having an average age of 13.1 yead$ kay 31, 2007. The MD-
80 aircraft operated by AeroRepublica will likelye Bess reliable than Comanewer aircraft and can be expected to rec
significantly greater expenditures on maintenamd¢gch may lead to an overall increase in our cadatéd operating expenses.

If we enter into a prolonged dispute with any of bamployees, many of whom are represented by unjamsf we are required t
increase substantially the salaries or benefitsonfr employees, it may have an adverse impact onaperations and cash flows.

Approximately 50% of the Compars/employees belong to a labor union. There aresutlyr five unions covering our Coj
employees based in Panama: the pilots’ union; ligkt fattendants’ union; the mechanics’ union; tfafic attendantsunion; and ¢
generalized union, which represents baggage handigcraft cleaners, counter agents, and otheremenutive administrative sta
Copa is scheduled to begin its next negotiatiorth wie pilots’ union in mid2008. Copa entered into new collective bargail
agreements with its general union and its fligkgredantsunion on October 26, 2005 and April 3, 2006, retipely. After extensive
negotiations which did not lead to a mutually datitory resolution, Copa and the mechanics’ uniotered into a government-
mandated arbitration, and a collective bargainiggeement was agreed to on March 29, 2006 as atrekwduch arbitratiol
proceedings. Previously, Copa has not had to rdeodrbitration to resolve negotiations with itsiams. Collective bargainin
agreements in Panama are typically between thrddam year terms. We also have union contracth witr Copa employees
Brazil and Mexico. AeroRepublica is a party to eotlve bargaining agreements that cover all of Reqiblica’s 126 pilots and co-
pilots and all of AeroRepublica’178 flight attendants. A strike, work interruptior stoppage or any prolonged dispute with
employees who are represented by any of these sitionld have an adverse impact on our operationesd risks are typical
exacerbated during periods of renegotiation withuthions. For example, in 2000 we experiencedd lmtalized pilotsunion work
slow-down during contract negotiations that was evehtuasolved to our satisfaction. Any renegotiateilective bargaining
agreement could feature significant wage increas®eb a consequent increase in our operating expeBksegloyees outside 1
Panama that are not currently members of unionsatsayform new unions that may seek further wageeases or benefits.

Our business is labor intensive. We expect salaviegies and benefits to increase on a gross hasisthese costs col

increase as a percentage of our overall costselfare unable to hire, train and retain qualifielbtpiand other employees a
reasonable cost, our business could be harmed eamday be unable to complete our expansion plans.
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Our investment in AeroRepublica may not generate thenefits we sought when we purchased the company.

In the second quarter of 2005, we purchased AerdBliga, a Colombian airline currently providing ptto{oint service
among 12 cities in Colombia and to Panama CityoRepuUblicas results of operations are highly sensitive to petitive condition:
in the Colombian domestic air travel market. Aerp&aica’s rapid growth in recent years came during a penio@vhich the
domestic market leader, Aeragi del Continente Americano S.A. (Avianca), expeel severe financial difficulties that resultec
its bankruptcy and the exit from the market of selveother competitors. Avianca has emerged fromkhagicy with new
management and an improved financial conditiois therefore likely that AeroReplica will face stronger competition in the futt
than it has in recent years, and its prior resully not be indicative of its future performance.

AeroRepublicas results of operations are significantly less ipaibfe than those of Copa. AeroRepublica has egpeed lose
in recent periods and may have continuing net bosséuture fiscal periods. We may not be abledbieve the cost savings and ot
improvements we seek at AeroRépéa, and our failure to do so would harm our aidgted operating margins and results
operations. Our investment in AeroRépda is subject to many risks and uncertainties thill ultimately determine whether tl
acquisition will increase or reduce our overallffiability. See “ltem 4B. Business Overview—AeroRigfica.”

The integration of AeroRepublica into our businessay require a significant amount of our managemesittime and distract ou
management from our core operations.

Although we believe that our acquisition of AeroRlelica represents an attractive opportunity, sulisthresources are need
to implement our plan to improve its profitabilittmplementation of our plan is subject to many utaieties and may eventua
require us to dedicate a potentially significanttiom of our limited management resources to tffiere Inconsistencies in standari
internal controls, procedures, policies, businesties and compensation structures between Cap@aroRepblica, and the nee
to implement, coordinate and harmonize various nassispecific operating procedures and systems, as aglthe financia
accounting, information and other systems of Capd AeroRepblica, may result in substantial costs and may rtlimesubstantie
amount of our management’s resources from our icdeenational operations. Diversion of Copaksources could materially a
negatively affect our financial condition and reéswf operations.

Our revenues depend on our relationship with trawgjents and tour operators.

In 2006, approximately 56% of our revenues werévddrfrom tickets sold by travel agents or tourmgpers. We cannot asst
you that we will be able to maintain favorable tielaships with these ticket sellers. Our revenumsict be adversely impacted
travel agents or tour operators elect to favor o#tiines or to disfavor us. Our relationship withvel agents and tour operators r
be affected by:

» the size of commissions offered by other airlir
. changes in our arrangements with other distributbesrline tickets; an
« the introduction and growth of new methods of aglliickets.

We rely on third parties to provide our customensdaus with facilities and services that are intedta our business.

We have entered into agreements with tlpadty contractors to provide certain facilities asérvices required for o
operations, such as heavy aircraft and engine sranice; call center services; and catering, grdwamdiling, cargo and bagga
handling, or “below the wing” aircraft services.rrexample, at airports other than Tocumen Inteonati Airport, all of the below
the wing” aircraft services for Copa flights arerfpemed by contractors. AeroRegica contracts ground handling equipmen
eleven of the thirteen cities it serves and hadraoted labor for “below the wingtasks in eleven of the thirteen cities. Overt
maintenance and “C-check$dr Copa are handled by contractors in the Unit¢éateS, Panama and Costa Rica, and some
maintenance for Copa is handled at certain airgmyrtsontract workers rather than our employeesstauitially all of our agreemer
with third-party contractors are subject to termination orrtshotice. The loss or expiration of these agredmen our inability tc
renew these agreements or to negotiate new agréemih other providers at comparable rates coalarhour business and rest
of operations. Further, our reliance on third gertio provide essential services on our behalfsgus less control over the cos
efficiency, timeliness and quality of those sergic& contractors negligence could compromise our aircraft or egdapassenge
and crew. This could also have a material adveffeeteon our business. We expect to be dependersuch agreements for t
foreseeable future and if we enter any new mavketwill need to have similar agreements in place.
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We depend on a limited number of suppliers for aircraft and engines.

One of the elements of our business strategy $ave costs by operating a simplified aircraft fl€xpa currently operates t
Boeing 737-700/800 Next Generation aircraft powebydCFM 567B engines from CFM International and the Embra@o,
powered by General Electric CF 34-10 engines. AemRlica currently operates the Embraer 190, poweseGéneral Electric C
34-10 engines and MD-80 fleet powered by Pratt &itdy JT8D219 engines. We currently intend to continue tg elclusively
on these aircraft for the foreseeable future. if ahBoeing, Embraer, CFM International or GE Erggirwere unable to perform th
contractual obligations, or if we are unable towagior lease new aircraft or engines from aircoafengine manufacturers or less
on acceptable terms, we would have to find anathpplier for a similar type of aircraft or engine.

If we have to lease or purchase aircraft from agosupplier, we could lose the benefits we derigenf our current flee
composition. We cannot assure you that any replanéraircraft would have the same operating advastas the Boeing 737-
700/800 Next Generation or Embraer 190 aircraft Wauld be replaced or that Copa could lease oclage engines that would
as reliable and efficient as the CFM 56-7B and GB410. We may also incur substantial transition cdastduding costs associat
with retraining our employees, replacing our masw@add adapting our facilities. Our operations caléd be harmed by the failure
inability of Boeing, Embraer, CFM International GE Engines to provide sufficient parts or relategport services on a time
basis.

Our business would be significantly harmed if aigilesdefect or mechanical problem with any of thpety of aircraft o
components that we operate were discovered thatdwgnound any of our aircraft while the defect aolglem was correcte
assuming it could be corrected at all. The useuofaircraft could be suspended or restricted bwletgry authorities in the event
any actual or perceived mechanical or design prabléur business would also be significantly harifigioe public began to avo
flying with us due to an adverse perception oftilpes of aircraft that we operate stemming fronetsatoncerns or other problen
whether real or perceived, or in the event of asidsnt involving those types of aircraft or compotse Carriers that operate a m
diversified fleet are better positioned than wetarmanage such events.

We are dependent on key personnel.

Our success depends to a significant extent uperetforts and abilities of our senior managemeammtend key financia
commercial, operating and maintenance personnglatticular, we depend on the services of our sanamagement team, includi
Pedro Heilbron, our Chief Executive Officer, Victdial, our Chief Financial Officer, Lawrence Gansey Chief Operating Office
Jorge Isaac Garcia, our Vice-President, Commeiaal,Daniel Gunn, our VicBresident, Planning. Competition for highly qualif
personnel is intense, and the loss of any execoffieer, senior manager or other key employee aittadequate replacement or
inability to attract new qualified personnel colldve a material adverse effect upon our busingssating results and financi
condition.

Our operations in Cuba, which has been identifiegt the U.S. Department of State as a state spon$deworism, may adversel
affect our reputation and the liquidity and valuef our Class A shares.

We currently operate approximately six daily depe$ to and from Cuba which provide passenger,ocangd mai
transportation service. For the year ended DeceBiher2006, our transported passengers to and frarha Grepresente
approximately 4.1% of our total passengers carri@dr operating revenues from Cuban operations duthre year ende
December 31, 2006 represented approximately 7.086tiofotal consolidated operating revenues for sigadr. Our assets located
Cuba are insignificant.
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Cuba has been identified by the United States gowent as a state sponsor of terrorism, and the Tie&sury Departmerst’
Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) administarsl enforces economic and trade sanctions basedororeign policy again
Cuba and certain other targeted foreign counties. should understand that our overall businesstation may suffer as a result
our activities in Cuba, particularly if such actigs grow in the future. Certain U.S. states haoently enacted legislation regarc
investments by pension funds and other retiremgstess in companies, such as ours, that have lassawivities with Cuba a
other countries that have been identified as testreponsoring states. Similar legislation may be pamdh other states. As a res
pension funds and other retirement systems mayubga to new reporting requirements and other ésdme restrictions wi
respect to investments in companies such as oarsiéh funds and similar institutions represeningportant source of demand
our shares, and if their willingness to invest imdahold our shares were to diminish as a resularof such requirements
restrictions, or for any other reason, it woulcelikhave a material adverse effect on the liquiditd value of our Class A shares.

Risks Relating to the Airline Industry
The airline industry is highly competitive.

We face intense competition throughout our routsvaek. Overall airline industry profit margins digv and industry earnin
are volatile. Airlines compete in the areas of ipd¢ scheduling (frequency and flight times), time performance, frequent fly
programs and other services. We compete with a euwfother airlines that currently serve somehefiioutes on which we oper:
including Grupo TACA, American Airlines Inc., Mexoa and Avianca. Some of our competitors, suchrasrigan Airlines, hay
larger customer bases and greater brand recognitithe markets we serve outside Panama, and séroaracompetitors hay
significantly greater financial and marketing resms than we have. Airlines based in other cowniriay also receive subsidies,
incentives or other state aid from their respectijyavernments, which are not provided by the Pananagovernment. Tt
commencement of, or increase in, service on theesowe serve by existing or new carriers could tieglgt impact our operatir
results. Likewise, competitors’ service on routes tve are targeting for expansion may make thggaresion plans less attractive.

We must constantly react to changes in prices andces offered by our competitors to remain cortipet The airline industr
is highly susceptible to price discounting, partécly because airlines incur very low marginal sofbr providing service
passengers occupying otherwise unsold seats. @Gauge discount fares to stimulate traffic durireyigds of lower demand
generate cash flow and to increase market sharg.lédwer fares offered by one airline are often rhatt by competing airline
which often results in lower industry yields wifttle or no increase in traffic levels. Price corifign among airlines in the futu
could lead to lower fares or passenger trafficames or all of our routes, which could negativelypamt our profitability. We cann
assure you that any of our competitors will notenedt our fares in the future or increase capamityoutes in an effort to incre:
their respective market share. Although we inteanddmpete vigorously and to assert our rights againy predatory conduct, st
activity by other airlines could reduce the levélfares or passenger traffic on our routes to thmtpwhere profitable levels
operations could not be maintained. Due to our lemaize and financial resources compared to skeém@ur competitors, we mi
be less able to withstand aggressive marketingctacot fare wars engaged in by our competitors khsuch events occur.

We may face increasing competition from low-costriars offering discounted fares.

Traditional hub-andpoke carriers in the United States and Europe l@avecent years faced substantial and incre
competitive pressure from low-cost carriers offgriiscounted fares. The low-cost carrieperations are typically characterizec
point-to-point route networks focusing on the higthdemand city pairs, high aircraft utilizationngle class service and fewer in-
flight amenities. As evidenced by the operation&of Intelligent Airlines Inc., or Gol, which conties to grow both in Brazil as w
as in other South American countries, Spirit, whiels begun to serve Latin America from Fort Laudkrdand a number of loees
carriers which have recently launched or are plaomd start service in Mexico, among others, the-¢ost carrier business mo
appears to be gaining acceptance in the Latin Araeraviation industry. As a result, we may face meMt substantial competiti
from low-cost carriers in the future which could resultignsficant and lasting downward pressure on thesawve charge for fligh
on our routes.
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Significant changes or extended periods of high Fuests or fuel supply disruptions could materiakffect our operating results

Fuel costs constitute a significant portion of taal operating expenses, representing approximnai@l7% of our operatin
expenses in 2004, 29.9% in 2005 and 31.8% in 2006.fuel prices increased very significantly in 80énd are likely to increa:
further. As a result, substantial increases in fugts may materially and adversely affect our afieg results. Jet fuel costs he
been subject to wide fluctuations as a result ofdéases in demand, sudden disruptions in and otimeerns about global supply,
well as market speculation. Both the cost and akdity of fuel are subject to many economic, pott, weather, environmental a
other factors and events occurring throughout tleeldvthat we can neither control nor accuratelydp® including internationz
political and economic circumstances such as thigigad instability in major oilexporting countries in Latin America, Africa a
Asia. Although we have entered into hedging agreesor a portion of Copa’fuel needs through the first six months of 208
hedge against fuel price volatility, these agreeme@novide only limited protection against futureieases in the price of fuel, a
we may discontinue such agreements in the futuwe.cOrrent or future arrangements will not be adeuo protect us from furth
increases in the price of fuel, and fuel priceslixady to increase above their current levels amay do so in the near future. Inde
numerous market experts and analysts have predita¢duel prices can be expected to increaseduriierhaps significantly, fro
their already high levels. If a future fuel supplyortage were to arise as a result of productiotaidments by the Organization of t
Petroleum Exporting Countries, or OPEC, a disruptd oil imports, supply disruptions resulting frosevere weather or natu
disasters, the continued unrest in Iraqg, otherlmsfin the Middle East or otherwise, higher fyeices or further reductions
scheduled airline services could result. Signifidanreases in fuel costs would materially and tiggly affect our operating result
We cannot assure you that we would be able totodfsg increases in the price of fuel by increasingfares.

Because the airline industry is characterized byghifixed costs and relatively elastic revenuesliags cannot quickly reduce the
costs to respond to shortfalls in expected revenue.

The airline industry is characterized by low grge®fit margins, high fixed costs and revenues thanerally exhibi
substantially greater elasticity than costs. Therating costs of each flight do not vary signifitawith the number of passenge
flown and, therefore, a relatively small changéhiea number of passengers, fare pricing or traffic could have a significant effe
on operating and financial results. These fixedscoannot be adjusted quickly to respond to chaimgesvenues and a shortfall frc
expected revenue levels could have a material adwadfect on our net income.

Airline bankruptcies could adversely affect the instry.

Since September 11, 2001, several air carriers $@wght to reorganize under Chapter 11 of the drtates Bankruptcy Coc
including some of our competitors such as Avianod Belta. Successful completion of such reorgaitimatcould present us wi
competitors with significantly lower operating costierived from labor, supply and financing consagnegotiated under t
protection of the Bankruptcy Code. For example aitga emerged from bankruptcy with a significantipioved financial conditior
In addition, air carriers involved in reorganizaisohave historically undertaken substantial fasealinting in order to maintain ca
flows and to enhance continued customer loyaltychSiare discounting could further lower yields ft carriers, including us
Further, the market value of aircraft would likddg negatively impacted if a number of air carrisegk to reduce capacity
eliminating aircraft from their fleets.

Our business may be adversely affected by downtunrthe airline industry caused by terrorist attaskwar or outbreak of diseas
which may alter travel behavior or increase costs.

Demand for air transportation may be adverselycséfi by terrorist attacks, war or political andiabinstability, epidemics
natural disasters and other events. Any of thesamtevin the markets in which we operate could raveaterial impact on ol
business, financial condition and results of openst Furthermore, these types of situations ctwalde a prolonged effect on .
transportation demand and on certain cost items.
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For example, the terrorist attacks in the Unitemte3t on September 11, 2001 had a severe adveraetiompthe airline industr
Airline traffic in the United States fell dramatilyaafter the attacks and decreased less sevehebughout Latin America. Ot
revenues depend on the number of passengers tgaati our flights. Therefore, any future terrorgtacks or threat of attact
whether or not involving commercial aircraft, amgiiease in hostilities relating to reprisals agai@sorist organizations or otherwi
and any related economic impact could result inrelesed passengéraffic and materially and negatively affect ourshmess
financial condition and results of operations.

The combination of continued instability in theeafbath of the Iraq war and the pubdiconcerns about the possibility of
outbreak of a disease that can be spread by fetlommercial air passengers (such as avian flu oergecute Respiratol
Syndrome) has continued to have a negative impac¢h® publics willingness to travel by air. It is impossible determine if an
when such adverse effects will abate and whethey thill further decrease demand for air travel, ethicould materially an
negatively affect our business, financial conditiord results of operations.

Increases in insurance costs and/or significant textions in coverage would harm our business, finaalccondition and results o
operations.

Following the 2001 terrorist attacks, premiums ifosurance against aircraft damage and liabilitythiod parties increase
substantially, and insurers could reduce their caye or increase their premiums even further inagbent of additional terrori:
attacks, hijackings, airline crashes or other evalversely affecting the airline industry abroadnoLatin America. In the future
certain aviation insurance could become unaffolabhavailable or available only for reduced amsunit coverage that a
insufficient to comply with the levels of insuranceverage required by aircraft lenders and lessorapplicable governme
regulations. While governments in other countriagehagreed to indemnify airlines for liabilitiesatithey might incur from terrori:
attacks or provide loweost insurance for terrorism risks, the Panamag@@rnment has not indicated an intention to prewianilar
benefits to us. Increases in the cost of insuram&g result in both higher fares and a decreaseddeéror air travel generally, whic
could materially and negatively affect our busindismncial condition and results of operations.

We may experience difficulty finding, training ancktaining employees.

The airline industry is a labdntensive business. We employ a large number ofgiflight attendants, maintenance technic
and other operating and administrative personnie¢ dirline industry has, from time to time, expeded a shortage of qualifit
personnel. In addition, as is common with most of competitors, we may, from time to time, face sidarable turnover of ot
employees. Should the turnover of employees shamphgase, our training costs will be significarttigher. We cannot assure y
that we will be able to recruit, train and retale tqualified employees that we need to continuecourent operations or repla
departing employees. A failure to hire and retairalfied employees at a reasonable cost could mieadversely affect oL
business, financial condition and results of openat

Failure to comply with applicable environmental retations could adversely affect our business.

Our operations are covered by various local, nati@nd international environmental regulations. SEheegulations cove
among other things, emissions to the atmosphesppsgal of solid waste and aqueous effluents, dincodse and other activities th
result from the operation of aircraft. Future operss and financial results may vary as a resulumh regulations. Compliance w
these regulations and new or existing regulatibas may be applicable to us in the future coulddase our cost base and adver
affect our operations and financial results.

17




Table of Contents

Risks Relating to Panama and our Region
Our performance is heavily dependent on economiaditions in the countries in which we do business.

Passenger demand is heavily cyclical and highlyeddent on global and local economic growth, econcempectations ar
foreign exchange rate variations. In the past, asetbeen negatively impacted by poor economic padace in certain emergit
market countries in which we operate. Any of thkofeing developments in the countries in which weerate could adversely affe
our business, financial condition and results adrafions:

. changes in economic or other governmental poli
. changes in regulatory, legal or administrative ficas; or
. other political or economic developments over whighhave no contro

Additionally, a significant portion of our revenuissderived from discretionary and leisure travéich are especially sensiti
to economic downturns. A worsening of economic dorks could result in a reduction in passengeffitiaand leisure travel i
particular, which in turn would materially and négely affect our financial condition and resulté aperations. Any perceive
weakening of economic conditions in this regionlddikewise negatively affect our ability to obtafimancing to meet our futu
capital needs in international capital markets.

We are highly dependent on conditions in Panama.

A substantial portion of our assets are locatedhm Republic of Panama, a significant proportionoaf customers ai
Panamanian, and substantially all of Cepllights operate through our hub at Tocumen Irggonal Airport. As a result, we depe
on economic and political conditions prevailingrfréime to time in Panama. Panasiaconomic conditions in turn highly depend
the continued profitability and economic impacttbé Panama Canal. Control of the Panama Canal amy wther assets we
transferred from the United States to Panama i@ E3&r nearly a century of U.S. control. Althoutje Panamanian governmen
democratically elected and the Panamanian polittiedate is currently stable, we cannot assure §@i current conditions wi
continue. If the Panamanian economy experiences@ssion or a reduction in its economic growth, ratéf Panama experienc
significant political disruptions, our businessidicial condition and results of operations coddraterially and negatively affected.

We have paid low taxes in the past, and any incee&s the taxes we or our shareholders pay in Panaorathe other countrie:
where we do business would adversely affect theealf our Class A shares.

We cannot assure you that we will not be subjectditional taxes in the future or that currenewill not be increased. O
provision for income taxes was $5.7 million, $9.#ion and $12.3 in the years ended December 3042005 and 2006, whic
represented an effective income tax rate of 7.7%% and 8.4% for the respective periods. We dogestito local tax regulations
each of the jurisdictions where we operate, thatgrajority of which are related to the taxatiorirafome. In six of the countries
which we fly, we do not pay any income taxes, beeane do not generate income under the laws oéthosntries either becau
they do not have income tax or because of treatiesther arrangements those countries have wittarRanIn the remainin
countries, we pay income tax at a rate ranging 26&b to 35% of income. Different countries calcelmcome in different ways, b
they are typically derived from sales in the apdle country multiplied by our net margin or by regumed net margin set by t
relevant tax legislation. The determination of taxable income in several countries is based angmation of revenues sourcec
each particular country and the allocation of exgsrof our operations to that particular counttye Thethodology for multination
transportation company sourcing of revenue and resgpés not always specifically prescribed in thievant tax regulations, ar
therefore is subject to interpretation by both nd the respective taxing authorities. Additionaltysome countries, the applicabil
of certain regulations governing namome taxes and the determination of our filingtust are also subject to interpretation.
cannot estimate the amount, if any, of potentialliabilities that might result if the allocationmiterpretations and filing positiol
used by us in our tax returns were challenged byaking authorities of one or more countries. [Bverate at which we pay incon
tax has been critical to our profitability in re¢emars and if it were to increase, our financiatfprmance and results of operatis
would be materially and adversely affected.
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In the past, our expenses attributable to opergiiofPanama have consistently exceeded our revetindgsitable to operatior
in Panama. As a result, we have typically expegdriosses for Panamanian income tax purposes amdneesubject to any incon
tax obligations. Beginning in 2004, we adopted #araate method of calculating income tax in Panabhader this alternativ
method, allocation of revenues for operations indP@a is based on a general territorial principt, apecifically defined in the te
regulations. If the Panamanian tax authorities dioagree with our methods of allocating revenuesway be subject to additior
tax liability. Airlines in Panama are currently retbject to any taxes relating specifically to #idine industry other than the 4% t
collected from passengers on tickets sold in Parfantae benefit of the Panamanian Tourism Bureau.

Any future change in the Panamanian tax law inéngathe taxes payable by us could have materiaieese effects on ol
business, financial condition and result of opersi

Political unrest and instability in Colombia may aersely affect our business and the market priceoaf Class A shares

We completed our acquisition of AeroRepublica ie tecond quarter of 2005. Almost all of AeroRem#di schedule
operations are conducted within Colombia. As altegeroRepublicas results of operations are highly sensitive to nme@onomic
and political conditions prevailing in Colombia, iwh have been highly volatile and unstable and magtinue to be so for tt
foreseeable future. In addition, terrorism and efmle have plagued Colombia in the past. Contingirgyrilla activity could caus
political unrest and instability in Colombia, whiatould adversely affect AeroRepublisafinancial condition and results
operations. The threat of terrorist attacks coulpase additional costs on us, including enhancedrie to protect our aircraf
facilities and personnel against possible attask#/@ll as increased insurance premiums. As a resaltmay encounter significa
unanticipated problems at AeroRdfida which could have a material adverse effectoan consolidated financial condition a
results of operations.

Risks Relating to Our Class A Shares

The value of our Class A shares may be adversefeaéd by ownership restrictions on our capital skoand the power of ou
board of directors to take remedial actions to peege our operating license and international routgghts by requiring sales a
certain outstanding shares or issuing new stock.

Pursuant to the Panamanian Aviation Act, as ameadddnterpreted to date, and certain of the bidteeaties affording us tt
right to fly to other countries, we are requiredot “substantially owned” and “effectively conteddl’ by Panamanian nationals. C
failure to comply with such requirements could fesuthe loss of our Panamanian operating licears@'or our right to fly to certai
important countries. Our Articles of Incorporati@Pacto Social)give special powers to our independent directortake certair
significant actions to attempt to ensure that tim@ant of shares held in us by nBanamanian nationals does not reach a level v
could jeopardize our compliance with Panamanian laitederal ownership and control requirements. Uf sndependent directo
determine it is reasonably likely that we will be violation of these ownership and control requieats and our Class B sha
represent less than 10% of our total outstandingjtalastock (excluding newly issued shares soldhwilte approval of ot
independent directors committee), our independeatibrs will have the power to issue additionas3l B shares or Class C she
with special voting rights solely to Panamanianioratls. See “10B. Memorandum and Articles of Asatien—Description of
Capital Stock.”

If any of these remedial actions are taken, thdingaprice of the Class A shares may be materatlg adversely affected. /
issuance of Class C shares could have the effedisoburaging certain changes of control of Copadiigs or may reduce at
voting power that the Class A shares enjoy priothto Class C share issuance. There can be no assutat we would be able
complete an issuance of Class B shares to Panamaat#onals. We cannot assure you that restrictmmsownership by non-
Panamanian nationals will not impede the developiroéan active public trading market for the Clésshares, adversely affect t
market price of the Class A shares or materiathitlour ability to raise capital in markets outswfePanama in the future.
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Our controlling shareholder has the ability to diot our business and affairs, and its interests cduwonflict with yours.

All of our Class B shares, representing approxitga28.2% of the economic interest in Copa Holdirgsl all of the votin
power of our capital stock, are owned by CIASA. GRis in turn controlled by a group of Panamanrarestors. In order to comg
with the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amended atetpreted to date, we have amended our organizdtimctuments to modify o
share capital so that CIASA will continue to exsecvoting control of Copa Holdings. CIASA will nbe able to transfer its voti
control unless control of our company will remaiithiPanamanian nationals. CIASA will maintain veticontrol of the company
long as CIASA continues to own a majority of oua€d B shares and the Class B shares continuersegp more than 10% of «
total share capital (excluding newly issued shamdd with the approval of our independent directmemittee). Even after CIAS
ceases to own the majority of the voting power wf capital stock, CIASA may continue to control duarard of directors indireci
through its control of our Nominating and Corpor@evernance Committee. As the controlling sharedol@IASA may direct us
take actions that could be contrary to your intsrasd under certain circumstances CIASA will bie &b prevent other sharehold:
including you, from blocking these actions. AlIsdAGA may prevent change of control transactiong thaght otherwise provic
you with an opportunity to dispose of or realizeramium on your investment in our Class A she

The Class A shares will only be permitted to vatevery limited circumstances and may never havd fidting rights.

The holders of Class A shares have no right to \atteour shareholdersmeetings except with respect to corpc
transformations of Copa Holdings, mergers, conatitiths or spireffs of Copa Holdings, changes of corporate purpeskintar
delistings of the Class A shares from the NYSE, approval of nominations of our independent directand amendments to
foregoing provisions that adversely affect the tégand privileges of any Class A shares. The hsldérClass B shares have
power, subject to our shareholdesgireement with Continental, to elect the boardiafatiors and to determine the outcome ¢
other matters to be decided by a vote of sharemmld&lass A shares will not have full voting rightsless the Class B sha
represent less than 10% of our total capital s{ezkluding newly issued shares sold with the aparof our independent directt
committee). See “Item 10B. Memorandum and ArtideAssociation—Description of Capital StockVe cannot assure you that
Class A shares will ever carry full voting rights.

Substantial future sales of our Class A shares bgrinental or CIASA could cause the price of thed3k A shares to decreas

CIASA owns all of our Class B shares, and thoses< B shares will be converted into Class A shdrésey are sold to non-
Panamanian investors. In connection with our ihigablic offering in December 2005, Continental aB8ASA reduced the
ownership of our total capital stock from 49% tgegximately 27.3% and from 51% to approximately228, respectively. In
follow-on offering in June 2006, Continental further resbiiéts ownership of our total capital stock from32% to 10.0%. CIAS,
holds registration rights with respect to a sigmifit portion of its shares pursuant to a registnatights agreement entered intt
connection with our initial public offering. The mka&t price of our Class A shares could drop sigaiiitly if Continental or CIAS.
further reduces its investment in us, other sigaift holders of our shares sell a significant numrdfeshares or if the mark
perceives that Continental, CIASA or other sigmifit holders intend to sell them. Continental haseed) subject to certe
exceptions, not to issue or transfer without thesemt of the underwriters, until June 29, 2007 simgres of our capital stock, ¢
options or warrants to purchase shares of ouralagiitck, or any securities convertible into, ocleangeable for, shares of our caj
stock. Continental has also agreed not to makedanyand for, or exercise any right with respecthe, registration of any Class
shares or any security convertible into or exebisar exchangeable for Class A shares until ore gfter the date of the propo
offering. In addition, Continental has agreed, sabjo the same exceptions, not to issue or tramgfhout the consent of CIAS.
until June 29, 2008 any shares of our capital staoly options or warrants to purchase shares otapital stock or any securit
convertible into or exchangeable for shares of aapital stock. Nevertheless, these lagkagreements can be waived at any
and, in any event, after these lock-up agreemeises Continental will not be restricted from g&dj its shares in the public market.

20




Table of Contents

Holders of our common stock are not entitled to praptive rights, and as a result you may experieso@stantial dilution upor
future issuances of stock by u

Under Panamanian law and our organizational doctsnbolders of our Class A shares are not entitleahy preemptive righ
with respect to future issuances of capital stogkub. Therefore, unlike companies organized underlaws of many other Lat
American jurisdictions, we will be free to issuewnshares of stock to other parties without firsteohg them to our existin
shareholders. In the future we may sell Class Atber shares to persons other than our existinggkbllers at a lower price than
shares already sold, and as a result you may exmerisubstantial dilution of your interest in us.

You may not be able to sell our Class A sharesha price or at the time you desire because an aciiv liquid market for the
Class A shares may not continue.

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE. Dutiegthree months ended March 31, 2007, the avemtetading volume fo
our Class A shares as reported by the NYSE wasappately 442,934 shares. We cannot predict whedheactive liquid publi
trading market for our Class A shares will be susi@ Active, liquid trading markets generally riésa lower price volatility anc
more efficient execution of buy and sell ordersdar investors. The liquidity of a securities mariseoften affected by the volume
shares publicly held by unrelated parties.

Our board of directors may, in its discretion, ameror repeal our dividend policy. You may not receithe level of dividend
provided for in the dividend policy or any dividesat all.

Our board of directors has adopted a dividend pdli@at provides for the payment of dividends torshalders equal t
approximately 10% of our annual consolidated nebiine. Our board of directors may, in its sole @ison and for any reaso
amend or repeal this dividend policy. Our boardlioéctors may decrease the level of dividends plexifor in this dividend polic
or entirely discontinue the payment of dividendsture dividends with respect to shares of our comstock, if any, will depend o
among other things, our results of operations, caghirements, financial condition, contractuaktniesons, business opportunitie
provisions of applicable law and other factors that board of directors may deem relevant. Stani 8A. Consolidated Financi
Statements and Other Financial Information—Divid@&udicy.”

To the extent we pay dividends to our shareholders,will have less capital available to meet outute liquidity needs.

Our board of directors has adopted a dividend pdliat provides for the payment of dividends torshalders equal t
approximately 10% of our annual consolidated nebime. The aviation industry has cyclical charastes, and many internatior
airlines are currently experiencing difficulties @tieg their liquidity needs. Also, our businessattgy contemplates substan
growth over the next several years, and we expsach growth will require a great deal of liquiditfo the extent that we p:
dividends in accordance with our dividend polidye tmoney that we distribute to shareholders witl ln® available to us to fur
future growth and meet our other liquidity needs.

Our Articles of Incorporation impose ownership andontrol restrictions on our company which ensure ah Panamanian
nationals will continue to control us and that thesrestrictions operate to prevent any change of wohor some transfers a
ownership in order to comply with the Aviation Aand other bilateral restrictions.

Under the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amended ratedpreted to date, Panamanian nationals mustisgeeffective control”
over the operations of the airline and must maintaubstantial ownership.These phrases are not defined in the Aviation fsetfi
and it is unclear how a Panamanian court wouldpné them. The share ownership requirements amdfeer restrictions contain
in our Articles of Incorporation, as well as theattalass structure of our voting capital stock ardgiesd to ensure compliance w
these ownership and control restrictions. See “®@B. Memorandum and Articles of Association—Degstion of Capital Stock.”
These provisions of our Articles of Incorporatioayrprevent change of control transactions that trogferwise provide you with ¢
opportunity to realize a premium on your investmenbur Class A shares. They also ensure that Pamams will continue t
control all the decisions of our company for theekeeable future.
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The protections afforded to minority shareholdens Panama are different from and more limited thahdse in the United State
and may be more difficult to enforce.

Under Panamanian law, the protections affordediterity shareholders are different from, and muadbrenimited than, thos
in the United States and some other Latin Amermamtries. For example, the legal framework witspert to shareholder dispu
is less developed under Panamanian law than underlav and there are different procedural requénets for bringing sharehold
lawsuits, including shareholder derivative suits. @ result, it may be more difficult for our mingrishareholders to enforce th
rights against us or our directors or controllifgaeholder than it would be for shareholders of .&.ltompany. In additiol
Panamanian law does not afford minority shareheldsrmany protections for investors through comeagavernance mechanisms
in the United States and provides no mandatoryeeaffer or similar protective mechanisms for mihoshareholders in the event
a change in control. While our Articles of Incorption provide limited rights to holders of our Gas shares to sell their shares
the same price as CIASA in the event that a sal€lass B shares by CIASA results in the purchaseinlgy the right to elect
majority of our board, there are other change otmb transactions in which holders of our Classh@ares would not have the right
participate, including the sale of interests byagtypthat had previously acquired Class B shama® I€IASA, the sale of interests
another party in conjunction with a sale by CIASKe sale by CIASA of control to more than one paotythe sale of controllin
interests in CIASA itself.

Developments in Latin American countries and othemerging market countries may cause the market praf our Class A share
to decrease.

The market value of securities issued by Panamatvarpanies may be affected to varying degrees byamnic and marke
conditions in other countries, including other batAmerican and emerging market countries. Altho@glonomic conditions i
emerging market countries outside Latin America rddfer significantly from economic conditions iraRama and Colombia
elsewhere in Latin America, investorgactions to developments in these other countnig have an adverse effect on the ma
value of securities of Panamanian issuers or issuih significant operations in Latin America. Agesult of economic problems
various emerging market countries in recent yesush( as the Asian financial crisis of 1997, thedRarsfinancial crisis of 1998 ai
the Argentine financial crisis in 2001), investtrave viewed investments in emerging markets witlyiiened caution. Crises
other emerging market countries may hamper investtitusiasm for securities of Panamanian issuecfjding our shares, whic
could adversely affect the market price of our €lashares.

Item 4. Information on the Company
A. History and Development of the Company
General

Copa was established in 1947 by a group of Panamamvestors and Pan American World Airways, wipecbvided technice
and economic assistance as well as capital. lyiti@lopa served three domestic destinations in fanaith a fleet of three Dougl:
C-47 aircraft. In the 1960s, Copa began its inteomafi service with three weekly flights to cities @osta Rica, Jamaica a
Colombia using a small fleet of Avro 748s and Hied88s. In 1971, Pan American World Airways séddsitake in Copa to a gro
of Panamanian investors who retained control ofainkne until 1986. During the 1980s, Copa suspehids domestic service
focus on international flights.

In 1986, CIASA purchased 99% of Copa, which wagrotled by the group of Panamanian shareholders eungently contro
CIASA. From 1992 until 1998, Copa was a part obenmercial alliance with Grupo TACA'network of Central American airlit
carriers. In 1997, together with Grupo TACA, Copdeeed into a strategic alliance with American iigls. After a year our alliant
with American was terminated by mutual consentMay 1998, CIASA sold a 49% stake in Copa HoldingsCiontinental an
entered into an extensive alliance agreement withtiG@ental providing for code-sharing, joint maikgt technical exchanges an
other cooperative initiatives between the airlines.
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Since 1998, we have grown and modernized our fléde improving customer service and reliabilityofga has expanded
fleet from 13 aircraft to 30 aircraft. In 1999, weceived our first Boeing 737-700s, in 2003 we ez our first Boeing 73B00s
and in 2005 we received our first Embraer 190. Ha first quarter of 2005, we completed our fleatonation program ar
discontinued use of our last Boeing 73J0s. During the same period, Copa has expanded 2rbdestinations in 18 countries tc
destinations in 21 countries. We plan to continueexpansion in the future, and we plan to almosthte our fleet over the next fi
years.

Copa Holdings was formed on May 6, 1998 as a catfmor (sociedad an6nimaduly incorporated under the laws of Pan
with an indefinite duration. Copa Holdings was arigad to be a holding company for Copa and relatedpanies in connection w
the acquisition by Continental of its 49% interi@stis at that time.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchase@dRepublica, a Colombian air carrier that was theosdlargest domest
carrier in Colombia in terms of number of passesgarried in 2005, providing predominantly poinpmint service among 12 citi
in Colombia and to Copa’s Panama City hub.

Our principal executive offices are located at Bward Costa del Este, Avenida Principal y Avenida ld Rotond:
Urbanizaci@ Costa del Este, Complejo Business Park, TorréeNBarque Lefevre, Panama City, Panama and @aphihe numb
is +507 304-2677. The website of Copa is www.capeain. AeroReplilica maintains a website at www.aerorepublica.cor
Information contained on, or accessible througkséhwebsites is not incorporated by reference mengdl shall not be conside
part of this annual report. Our agent for servit¢hie United States is Puglisi & Associates, 83fr&iy Avenue, Suite 204, Newa
Delaware 19715, and its telephone number is (388)6680.

Capital Expenditures

During 2006, capital expenditures were $252.0 omlliwhich consisted primarily of expenditures retato our purchase of fi
Embraer 190 aircraft and two Boeing 7300 aircraft, as well as to expenditures relateddwance payments on aircraft purcl
contracts. During 2005, capital expenditures werE2$ million, which consisted primarily of expenaes related to our purchase
two Embraer 190 aircraft, as well as to expend#umdated advance payments on aircraft purchasgaots During 2004, capii
expenditures were $82.1 million, which consisteémarily of expenditures related to our purchasettoke Boeing 73Nexi
Generation aircraft, as well as to expendituresteel to advance payments on aircraft purchaseamistr

B. Business Overview

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlipassenger and cargo service through our two pahocbperatin
subsidiaries, Copa and AeroRéfiGa. Copa operates from its strategically locapmition in the Republic of Panama,
AeroRepiblica provides service primarily within Colombiamaplemented by international flights from varioutes in Colombia t
Panama’s Tocumen International Airport. We currenjberate a fleet of 43 aircraft, 24 Boeing 78&xt Generation aircraft, t
Embraer 190 aircraft and nine MD-80 aircraft. Werently have firm orders for ten Boeing 78lExt Generation and 13 Embr
190s, and purchase rights and options for up eidtiitional Boeing 737-Next Generation and 22 addél Embraer 190s.

Copa currently offers approximately 108 daily salled flights among 36 destinations in 21 countire§North, Central ar
South America and the Caribbean from its Panamgaltib. Copa provides passengers with access tadlip more than 120 ott
destinations through codeshare arrangements witti@mtal pursuant to which each airline placeséme and flight designati
code on the othes’flights. Through its Panama City hub, Copa i dblconsolidate passenger traffic from multipléngoto serv
each destination effectively.

Copa operates a modern fleet of 24 Boeing N8Xt Generation aircraft and six Embraer 190 aitosdth an average age
approximately 3.9 years as of May 31, 2007. To niesegrowing capacity requirements, Copa has fimmmitments to acce
delivery of 19 additional aircraft through 2012 aras purchase rights and options that, if exercisedld allow it to accept delive
of up to 22 additional aircraft through 2013. Capfirm orders are for ten additional Boeing #8&@xt Generation aircraft and n
additional Embraer 190s, and its purchase rights aptions are for up to eight Boeing 7Béxt Generation aircraft and up to
Embraer 190s.
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Copa started its strategic alliance with Contineimal998. Since then, it has conducted joint manige and codesharing
arrangements, and participated in the award-windngPass frequent flyer loyalty program globallgl @m a casranded basis
Latin America. We believe that Copa’s beanding and joint marketing activities with Comtitial have enhanced its brand in L
America, and that the relationship with Continertiab afforded it cosklated benefits, such as improving purchasing pdan
negotiations with aircraft vendors and insurersp&® alliance and related services agreements witli@onal are in effect un
2015.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, a Colombian air carrier that was thmsdlargest domest
carrier in Colombia in terms of number of passesgarried in 2005, providing predominantly poirdgtmint service among 12 citi
in Colombia and to Panama City. AeroRepublica aulyeoperates a fleet of four Embraer 190 and mitiz-80s. As part of its fle
modernization and expansion plan, AeroR#jga has firm commitments to accept delivery afrf&mbraer 190 aircraft through
end of 2007 and options to purchase up to eightiaddl Embraer 190 aircraft through 2011.

Since January 2001, we have grown significantly hade established a track record of consistentitphility, recording si.
consecutive years of increasing earnings. Our tigatating revenues have increased from $290.4omiih 2001 to $851.2 millic
in 2006, while our net income has increased frorh.&illion to $134.0 million over the same peri@lr operating margins al
improved from 8.6% in 2001 to 19.5% in 2006.

Our Strengths

We believe our primary business strengths that laleved us to compete successfully in the airliméustry include th
following:

. Our “Hub of the Americas” airport is strategicalljocated. We believe that Copa’ base of operations at
geographically central location of Tocumen Inteioval Airport in Panama City, Panama provides coism connectior
to our principal markets in North, Central and $o#itnerica and the Caribbean, enabling us to codstditraffic to sen
several destinations that do not generate enougiamie to justify point-tggoint service. Flights from Panama operate
few service disruptions due to weather, contrilmtio high completion factors and ¢ime performance. Tocum
International Airport’s segevel altitude allows our aircraft to operate with@erformance restrictions that they woulc
subject to at higher-altitude airports. We beligvat Copa’s hub in Panama allows us to benefit fRamama Citys statu
as a center for financial services, shipping arndroerce and from Panama’s stable, dollar-based enprioeetrade zon
and growing tourism

«  We focus on keeping our operating costs lbwrecent years, our low operating costs and efficy have contribute
significantly to our profitability. Our operatingpst per available seat mile, excluding costs fal nd fleet impairme
charges, was 7.59 cents in 2002, 7.17 cents in,Z0D02 cents in 2004, 6.53 cents in 2005 and 6editscin 2006. St
“ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review and Protgefor a reconciliation of our operating cost per éafsle seat mil
when excluding costs for fuel and fleet impairmeharges to our operating cost per available selat Wie believe th
our cost per available seat mile reflects our modleet, efficient operations and the competitiestoof labor in Panam

. Copa operates a modern fle€opa’s fleet consists of modern Boeing 78@xt Generation and Embraer 190 air¢
equipped with winglets and other modern cgmting and safety features. Over the next four sye@opa intends
enhance its modern fleet through the addition déast ten additional Boeing 73¥ext Generation aircraft and nine r
Embraer 190s. We believe that Copa’s modern fleatributes to its onime performance and high completion fa
(percentage of scheduled flights not cancelled).e&fgect our Boeing 737-700s, 78@0s and Embraer 190s to conti
offering substantial operational cost advantagesemms of fuel efficiency and maintenance costsroRepblica is
currently implementing a fleet modernization angamsion plan. Since December 2006, AeroRépa has taken delive
of its first four Embraer 190 aircraft and had ficommitments on four additional Embraer 190s antioop for ai
additional eight Embraer 190 aircre
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We believe Copa has a strong brand and a reputdtioquality serviceWe believe that the Copa brand is associatec
value to passengers, providing wodidss service and competitive pricing. For thedahmonths ended March 31, 2C
Copa Airline’s statistic for otime performance was 91.0%, completion factor wei8% and baggage handling was
mishandled bags per 1000 passengers. Our goahigply our expertise in these areas to improve Repaiblicas servic
statistics to comparable levels. Our focus on custoservice has helped to build passenger loydy.believe that o
brand has also been enhanced through our relaipomgth Continental, including our joint marketirgf the OnePa:
loyalty program in Latin America, the similarity afur aircraft livery and aircraft interiors and oparticipation i
Continente’s Presider' s Club lounge progran

Our management fosters a culture of teamwork amdirmoous improvemen®©ur management team has been succes!
creating a culture based on teamwork and focusedominuous improvement. Each of our employees @paCha
individual objectives based on corporate goals skate as a basis for measuring performance. Wihgroiate operation
and financial targets are met, employees at Copalagible to receive bonuses according to ouripsbfaring progran
See “ltem 6D. Employees.” We also recognize outhtanperformance of individual employees througmpanywide
recognition, ondgime awards, special events and, in the case ofenior management, grants of restricted stockstod
options. Copa’s goadriented culture and incentive programs have douted to a motivated work force that is focuse
satisfying customers, achieving efficiencies amugng profitability. We seek to create a similaitate at AeroReUblica.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to continue to grow profitably and emb& our position as a leader in Latin American tiwmaby providing
combination of superior customer service, convdarsehedules and competitive fares, while maintgirdiampetitive costs. The k
elements of our business strategy include theviatig:

Expand our network by increasing frequencies andireginew destination\We believe that demand for air travel in L.
America is likely to expand in the next decade, ardintend to use our increasing fleet capacityn&et this growin
demand. We intend to focus on expanding our ogmratby increasing flight frequencies on our mosfitable routes ar
initiating service to new destinations. Capd@anama City hub allows us to consolidate tradfid provide service
certain underserved markets, particularly in Céfiraerica and the Caribbean, and we intend to faouproviding ne\
service to regional destinations that we believe bahance the overall connectivity and profitéypitif our network. Wit
the addition of Embraer 190 aircraft and growttouerall capacity, we expect to have more flexipilit scheduling ot
flights for our custome’ convenience

Continue to focus on keeping our costs l@gve seek to reduce our cost per available seatwiifout sacrificing service
valued by our customers as we execute our grovethsplOur goal is to maintain a modern fleet anchade effective us
of our resources through efficient aircraft utitiva and employee productivity. We intend to redooe distribution cos
by increasing direct sales, including internet aatl center sales, as well as improving efficietftyppugh technology ai
automated processe

Introduce service with new Embraer 190 aircriWe believe that the addition of the Embraer 19@raft allows us t
provide efficient service to new destinations imlerserved markets. In addition, we believe thaBimdraer 190s enhar
our ability to efficiently match our capacity tordand, allowing us to improve service frequenciesuaently serve
markets and to redeploy our higher capacity ait¢caserve routes with greater dema

Emphasize superior service and value to our custerWe intend to continue to focus on satisfying oustomers an
earning their loyalty by providing a combinationafperior service and competitive fares. We beliéa continuing ot
operational success in keeping flights on timeucaty mishandled luggage and offering conveniehédales to attracti
destinations will be essential to achieving thislgdVe intend to continue to incentivize our emggey to improve «
maintain operating and service metrics relatingto customerssatisfaction by continuing our profit sharing planc
employee recognition programs and to reward custdoyalty with the popular OnePass frequent flysrgram, upgradt
and access to Presid’s Club lounges
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. Capitalize on opportunities at AeroRepublidde are seeking to enhance AeroRepuldicaarket share and profitabil
through a variety of initiatives, including modezinig its fleet, integrating its route network witopas and improvin
overall efficiency. We also seek to increase custoloyalty by making further improvements at AerpHglica, such &
implementing the OnePass frequent flyer program iamgroving ontime performance, which increased from 70
during the period from the date of our acquisittonDecember 31, 2005 to 80.3% during the year eiidstkmber 3:
2006.

AeroRepublica

On April 22, 2005, we acquired an initial 85.6% iguwwnership interest in AeroReplica which was followed by subsequ
acquisitions increasing our total ownership intenesAeroRepublica to 99.8% as of May 31, 2007. The total pusehprice we pa
for our investment in AeroReplica, including acquisition costs, was $23.4 milli According to the Colombian Civil Aviati
Administration,Unidad Especial Administrative de Aeronautica CivikeroRepublica is the second largest passenger air cam
Colombia, with a market share of approximately 24%the domestic traffic in Colombia in 2006 and apgmately 1,23
employees.

Our goal is to achieve growth at AeroRbfi¢a through a combination of increasing Colombémestic passenger tra
volume and increasing market share, particularlthan business travelers segment. We believe thad'€@perational coordinatir
with AeroRepiblica may create additional passenger traffic in existing route network by providing Colombian gasgers mol
convenient access to the international destinasenged through our Panama hub.

Since our acquisition, AeroRepublica’s time performance has improved from 70.4% duringpgéeod from the date of o
acquisition to December 31, 2005 to 80.3% durirg ykar ended December 31, 2006. We have centratzedin administrati
functions common to Copa and AeroRepublica. We lads@ implemented e-ticketing at AeroRbfi¢a, and since the first quartel
2006, AeroRepidlica participates in the OnePass frequent flygalkly program. Looking ahead, we seek to continueraft interiol
renovations in our AeroRepublica MD-80 aircraft amtnplete our fleet renovation program.

Industry

In Latin America, the scheduled passenger serviaket consists of three principal groups of trargelstrictly leisure, busine
and travelers visiting friends and family. Leisyvassengers and passengers visiting friends andyfaypically place a highe
emphasis on lower fares, whereas business passetygarally place a higher emphasis on flight frelgey, ontime performanci
breadth of network and service enhancements, imgudyalty programs and airport lounges.

According to data from the International Air TrangpAssociation, or IATA, Latin America comprisedmoximately 7.6% ¢
worldwide passengers flown in 2006, or 105 millassengers.

The Central American aviation market is dominatgdribernational traffic. According to data from IAT international traffi
represented more than 70.4% of passengers cami@=4% of passenger miles flown in Central Aneeiit 2006. Internation
passenger traffic is concentrated between North riomeand Central America. This segment represeBt8% of internation
passengers flown in Central America in 2006, corgado 5.7% for passengers flown between Centralrfsmend South Ameris
and 8.4% for passengers flown between Central Araericountries. Total passengers flown on internatidlights in Centr:
America grew by 5.8% in 2006, and load factorsrdarnational flights to and from Central Americarev&3.0% on average.

Domestic traffic and traffic within Central Ameritacountries represented approximately 35.5% of gragrs carried al
17.2% of passenger miles flown in 2006. Averagel lizetors on domestic flights and flights withinr@al America were 63.9%
2006. The chart below details passenger traff006.
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2006 IATA Traffic Results

Passenger: Passenge
Carried Miles
(Thousands Change (%) (Millions) Change (%) ASMs (Million) Change (%) Load Factor
International Scheduled
Service
North America— Central
America 22,45: 7.C% 35,43 8.8% 48,17¢ 8.C% 73.5%
North America— South
America 19,74+ 4.8%  39,50¢ 6.2% 52,45¢ 2.4% 75.2%
Central America — South
America 1,48¢ -4.5% 2,46¢ -10.€% 3,52( -13.2% 70.(%
Within Central Americ 2,192 1.2% 1,15¢ 5.8% 1,81¢ 6.2% 63.4%
Within South Americ: 9,19( 10.5% 8,86¢ 7.1% 12,50: 5.1% 70.9%
Domestic Scheduled
Service
Central Americe 11,00( -4.2% 6,70( -4.2% 10,47: -0.2% 64.(%
South Americe 38,82¢ -3.4% 19,98 -3.2% 28,24¢ -5.2% 70.7%

Panama serves as a hub for connecting passentfier bietween major markets in North, South, and t@@mmerica and tt
Caribbean. Accordingly, passenger traffic to amanfPanama is significantly influenced by economi@gh in surrounding regior
Major passenger traffic markets in North, South @editral America experienced growth in their GDR@®5 and 2006 on both
absolute and per capita basis. In 2006, real Gireased by8.1% in Panama and by 6.8% in Colombia, accordmght
International Monetary Fund’s estimates.

GDP GDP per Capita

2006 GDP

2006 GDP per Capita
Current Prices 2005 Real GDI Current Prices

(USS$hn) (% Growth) (USS)

Brazil 1,067. 3.7% 5,716.
Argentina 212.7 8.5% 5,458.(
Chile 145.2 4.C% 8,864.:
Mexico 840.( 4.8% 8,066.:
Colombia 135.1 6.8% 2,887.¢
Panamzi 17.1 8.1% 5,210.¢
USA 13,244 3.2% 44,190.!

Source International Monetary Fund, World Economic Outldaktabase, April 2007; real GDP growth calculatetbcal currency

Panama has benefited from a stable economy witheratal inflation and steady GDP growth. Accordinglnternatione
Monetary Fund estimates, from 1998 to 2006 Pansmesll GDP grew at an average annual rate of 4.8%e wflation average
1.2% per year. The service sector represents aippaitedy 75% of total real GDP in Panama, a highecentage of GDP than 1
service sector represents in most other Latin Araericountries. The World Bank currently estimatasamas population to k
approximately 3.2 million in 2005, with the majgriof the population concentrated in Panama Cityenehour hub at Tocum
International Airport is located. We believe thardmnation of a stable, serviagiented economy and steady population growtt
helped drive our domestic origin and destinatiosspager traffic.

Domestic travel within Panama primarily consistsrafividuals visiting families as well as domesied foreign tourist visitin
the countryside. Most of this travel is done viawgrd transportation, and its main flow is to arahfrPanama City, where most of
economic activity and population is concentratedmand for domestic air travel is growing and redgtemarily to leisure trav
from foreign and local tourist. The market is serpeimarily by two local airlines, Air Panama anérAperlas, which operate tu
prop aircraft generally with less than 50 seat®sEhairlines offer limited international servicalaperate in the domestic termina
Panama City, which is located 30 minutes by canfimcumen International Airport.

Colombia is the third largest country in Latin Aneerin terms of population, with a population opagximately 45.6 million i
2005 according to the World Bank, and has a laed af approximately 440,000 square miles. Colorsb@DP was approximate
$135.1 hillion in 2006, and per capita income wapraximately $2.9 thousand (current prices) acegdio the Internation
Monetary Fund. Colombia’geography is marked by the Andean mountains andaglequate road and rail infrastructure, makin
travel a convenient and attractive transportatiterative. Colombia shares a border with Panamd, far historic, cultural ar
business reasons it represents a significant méoketany Panamanian busines:
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Route Network and Schedules
Copa

As of March 31, 2007, Copa provided regularly seched flights to 36 cities in North, Central and 8olmerica and tr
Caribbean. Substantially all of our Copa flightemgie through our hub in Panama which allows usattsport passengers and c:
among a large number of destinations with servibelvis more frequent than if each route were skdieectly.

We believe our hub-ansboke model is the most efficient way for us to rape our business since most of
origination/destination city pairs we serve do geherate sufficient traffic to justify a point-pmint service. Also, since we se
many countries, it would be very difficult to obtghe bilateral route rights necessary to operatenapetitive point-to-point system.

We schedule a morning bank and an evening bankgbitd, with flights timed to arrive at the hub atproximately the sar
time and to depart a short time later.

The following table sets forth certain informatiafith respect to our route system based on ourtfiéghedule in effect as
March 31, 2007:

Number of Passengers Carried

Year Ended December 31

Region ASMs per Week 2003 2004 2005

North America 26,221,94 395,49 487,85 591,48t
Central Americe 10,173,16 741,29 855,49: 902,26°
South Americe 63,413,36 884,29¢ 1,120,35! 1,363,42
Caribbear 13,893,98 290,37. 339,97 484,55:

As a part of our strategic relationship with Coatital, Copa provides flights through coslearing arrangements to over
other destinations. Copa also provides flights ubhoits tactical and regional code-sharing arrareggswith AeroReptlica, Go
and Gulfstream International Airlines.

In addition to increasing the frequencies to desiims we already serve, Copdiusiness strategy is also focused on adding
destinations across Latin America, the Caribbeath Idorth America in order to increase the attractess of our Hub of ti
Americas at Tocumen International Airport hub fotraAmerican traffic. We currently plan to introducewnéestinations and
increase frequencies to many of the destinatiosisGlopa currently serves. The addition of the Embi®0 aircraft, together with t
Boeing 737Next Generation aircraft, allows us to improve searvice by increasing frequencies and service wodestinations wit
the right-sized aircraft.

Our plans to introduce new destinations and inerdasjuencies depend on the allocation of routietsicga process over whi
we do not have direct influence. Route rights dfecated through negotiations between the govermnoénPanama and t
governments of countries to which we intend toéase flights. If we are unable to obtain routetsgtve will exercise the flexibili
within our route network to re-allocate capacityapgpropriate.

We do not currently provide any domestic servicéhm Republic of Panama, choosing instead to featisely on internation
traffic. The following table shows our revenue gered in each of our major operating regions.
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Revenue by Region

Year Ended December 31

Region 2004 2005 2006

North America(1) 16.€% 17.2% 19.4%
South Americe 37.2% 39.6% 41.5%
Central America(2 34.2% 31.6% 29.(%
Caribbean(3 11.9% 11.6€% 10.1%

(1) The United States, Canada and Mex
(2) Includes Panami
(3) Cuba, Dominican Republic, Haiti, Jamaica, Puertml

AeroRepublica
AeroRepublica currently provides scheduled sertodde following cities in Colombia:

Number of Passengel
Departures  Carried During the

Date Service Scheduled Year Ended

Destinations Servec Commencec per Week(1’ December 31, 200!

Barranquilla Jun 199¢ 28 103,50:
Bogoa Jun 199: 247 1,017,55
Bucaramang May 1995 20 85,15¢
Cali Jun 199: 67 250,07:
Cartagen: Jun 199: 39 210,21:
Culcuta Nov 2005 13 41,21
Leticia Nov 1993 7 37,11:
Medellin Oct 1994 59 238,70:
Montelia Jul 1994 14 51,95:
Paname Dec 200t 21 41,24
Pereira Mar 2003 13 52,81:
San Andés Jun 199: 37 204,50:
Santa Mart: Jun 199 15 77,18¢

(1) As of March 31, 2007

In addition to the destinations described aboveroRepiblica has periodically operated charter flightsMargarita Islanc
Venezuela; Havana, Cuba; Punta Cana, Dominicani#ie@nd Montego Bay, Jamaica.

AeroRepublica has been granted the authorizatidly tegular services to Panama City from Bogotali,Medelln , Cartager
and San Andrés, Colombia. As a result, AerolRépé has added daily flights to Panama City fromg8ta, Medellin, Cali ar
Cartagena. In March 2007, AeroRepublica was graateHorization to operate a second frequency fragoBato Panama City,
addition to routes from Panama City to Caracas €¢aela), Panama to San Jo§bdgta Rica), Cali to Santa Marta and Ca
Barranquilla.

In addition to code-sharing with Copa, AeroRepiileveraging Copa’'technology and relationships to increase inteonal
traffic with other international carriers. Colombias open-skies agreements with the Andean Rasmunidad Anding nations @
Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru. While Venezuela is mmkr part of this agreement, it has preservedaadndl open skies agreement \
Colombia.

Airline Operations
Passenger Operations

Passenger revenue accounted for approximately @36dlion in 2004, $466.1 million in 2005 and $6B8million, representin
91.2%, 92.2% and 93.3%, respectively, of Cegatal revenues, all earned from internationatesulLeisure traffic, which makes
close to half of Copa’total traffic, tends to coincide with holidayshsol vacations and cultural events and peakslinahd Augus
and again in December and January. Despite thes®sal variations, Copa'overall traffic pattern is relatively stable dimethe
constant influx of business travelers. Approximat#8% of Copa passengers regard Panama City asdéngination or originatic



point, and most of the remaining passengers pasggh Panama City in transit to other points onroute network.

29




Table of Contents

AeroRepublicas business is more concentrated on passengeraendiach in 2006 accounted for approximately 95.@04s
total revenues. The majority of AeroRepublEaustomers are leisure travelers and traveleitingdriends and family, and traffic
heaviest during the vacation months of July, August the holiday season in December.

Cargo Operations

In addition to our passenger service, we makeieffiause of extra capacity in the belly of our eiftby carrying cargo. Copa’
cargo business generated revenues of approxim&g®y?2 million in 2004, $31.0 million in 2005 and 323 million in 200€
representing 7.0%, 6.1% and 4.9%, respectivel\Ca@ba’s operating revenues. We sold our remainirdjcdéed Boeing 7320C
Freighter aircraft in April 2002. We primarily movaur cargo in the belly of our aircraft, however walso wetease and chart
freighter capacity when necessary to meet our cangtomersheeds. In 2006, our cargo business consisted abxippately 87.19
in freight; 10.9% in courier; and 1.9% in mail seev Of these subategories of service, courier traffic has showa st growtt
and we expect that in the future it will constitatéarger share of our cargo business.

Pricing and Revenue Management
Copa

Copa has designed its fare structure to balandedts factors and yields in a way that it beliewalb maximize profits on it
flights. Copa also maintains revenue managemeritipsland procedures that are intended to maxirtot& revenues, whi
remaining generally competitive with those of owajan competitors.

Copa charges slightly more for tickets on higtlermand routes, tickets purchased on short notick ather itinerarie
suggesting a passenger would be willing to payeanpum. This represents strong value to Cspmisiness customers, who can ¢
on competitive rates when flying with Copa. The temof seats Copa offers at each fare level in emaltket results from
continual process of analysis and forecasting. Basking history, seasonality, the effects of cotitipg and current booking tren
are used to forecast demand. Current fares and lkdge of upcoming events at destinations that affikct traffic volumes a
included in Copas forecasting model to arrive at optimal seat allions for its fares on specific routes. Copa wsesmbination ¢
approaches, taking into account yields, flight Idadtors and effects on load factors of continutraffic, depending on tt
characteristics of the markets served, to arrive strategy for achieving the best possible revgraneavailable seat mile, balanc
the average fare charged against the corresporadffagt on our load factors. In 2005, Copa replaitedRevenue Managemt
software with Airmax, a more sophisticated revemamagement system designed by Sabre.

AeroRepublica

Various improvements have been made to AeroRemiblievenue management, pricing capabilities andesystsince il
acquisition in 2005. We are currently implementihg Airmax revenue management system in AeroBligggiand expect completi
to be in the third quarter of 2007.

Relationship with Continental Airlines

In recent years, many airlines have sought to foranketing alliances with other carriers. Such atliss generally provide 1
codesharing, frequent flyer reciprocity, coordinatedheduling of flights of each alliance member to pémonvenient connectio
and other joint marketing activities. Such arrangeta permit an airline to market flights operatgdother alliance members as
own. This increases the destinations, connectinddraquencies offered by the airline, which prevah opportunity for the airline
increase traffic on flight segments which conneith\those of the alliance partners.
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In May 1998, Continental entered into an alliangeeament, as well as related services, frequeat fharticipation, tradema
and other agreements with Copa. These agreemergsnitially signed for a period of ten years. lowember 2005, Continental ¢
Copa amended and restated these agreements tit0Lg§hContinentas continued ownership of our shares is not a cimmdto the
ongoing effectiveness of these agreements. We btarged to involve AeroRepublica in some aspect€opas alliance witl
Continental, beginning with AeroRepublisaparticipation in the OnePass frequent flyer lgygrogram. Our alliance wi
Continental currently enjoys antitrust immunity time United States which allows us to coordinateipg, scheduling and joi
marketing initiatives. In an effort to maximize thenefit from the relationship, Continental and &eyork together on the followil
initiatives:

Product Positioning Since the start of the alliance with Continentabp@ has introduced a new image to align itself |
tangibly with the U.S. carrier. Copa’s color scherwgo, aircraft interior and staff uniforms arenfar to Continentak. Witt
initiatives such as the introduction of Copa’s bestk class produ@lase Ejecutiveand a smoke-free cabin, the Copa “in-flight”
product was modeled on Continental’s. Furtherm@apa’s business class passengers enjoy accessitinélual’'s Presidend’ Cluk
business lounges, and Copa jointly operates a@oded President’s Club lounge with Continental@umen International Airport.

Copa has also fully adopted Continental’s OnePa&sgiént flyer program and rolled out alm@nded joint product in much
Latin America which has enabled it to develop brémalty among its travelers. The toanding of the OnePass loyalty progr:
has helped it by leveraging the brand recognitit Continental already enjoyed across Latin Anaesied enabling the two airlir
to compete more effectively against regional coibget such as Grupo TACA and the oneworld alliarefgresented by Americ
Airlines and LAN Airlines.

Continental is currently sponsoring Cop@roposed association with the Sky Team glob&lrede network, which also incluc
Delta, Northwest, Aeromexico, Air France, Alitalif]l M, Korean Air, AeroFlot and CSA Czech and wilban include Chin
Southern. In February 2007, Copa and SkyTeam sigrfedmal adherence agreement. Copa is currenttiking with all Sky Tear
members in order to join as an Associate Membahbysecond half of 2007.

Code-sharingWe currently place the Copa designator code oniamial operated flights from Panama to Continéstaiic
principal gateways in the U.S., Houston and Newhrladdition, Continental flights carrying the Copade operate to over 120 ot
Continental destinations. Continengalflights from Guatemala City and Managua City touston, and from Guatemala City
Newark also carry Coy's code. In May 2001, the U.S. DOT awarded Copérast immunity for our codeshare agreement, allowi
Copa to deepen the alliance through, among otlmgshcoordinating schedules and pricing.

Aircraft Maintenance & Flight SafetyContinental and Copa have been cooperating clotelyntegrate both airlines’
maintenance programs. Continental and Copa’s nrante programs for the Boeing 7R@éxt Generation are identical. We st
Continentals Sceptre inventory management software which all@wpa to pool spare parts with the larger airlind we rely o
Continental to provide engineering support for rtexiance projects. We have also been able to takantaje of Continenta’
purchasing power and negotiate more competitivesridr spare parts and third-party maintenance work

Sales & Revenue Managemente two airlines have implemented alm@anding of our city ticket offices, or CTOs, thghou
Latin America, and as a result both now enjoy gneatcess to this important direct sales channéitletincremental cost. Joi
corporate and travel agency incentive programsrapéace. We believe that we benefit from Contia#stexperience in distributit
costs and channel strategy studies, and managesenivhole is gaining an intangible benefit from tingh level of cooperation wi
Continental.

Information TechnologyBy leveraging Continentad’ expertise and experience, we have implementedraleimportar
information technology systems, such as the Scegyseem for maintenance and the “SHARES®mputer reservation system.

November 2000, we transitioned from the SABRE nest@mn and airport che-in system to “SHARES'n an effort to maintai
commonality with Continental.

Fleet ModernizationAll of Copa’s Boeing aircraft share nearly identicanfigurations to Continental’s configurations.
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Sales, Marketing and Distribution
Copa

Sales and Distribution Approximately 72% of sales during 2006 were througivel agents and other airlines w
approximately 28% were direct sales via our CT@#,aenters, airport counters or website. Travelrdg receive base commissic
not including baclkend incentive payments, ranging from 0% to 10% ddjmg on the country. The weighted average ratehes:
commissions during 2006 was 4.3%. In recent ydmse commissions have decreased significantly st markets as more efficie
back-end incentive programs have been implementeginard selected travel agencies that exceeddhkss targets.

Travel agents obtain airline travel information asslie airline tickets through global distributigystems, or GDSs, that ene
them to make reservations on flights from a largeber of airlines. GDSs are also used by travehisg® make hotel and car rel
reservations. Copa participates actively in all anapternational GDSs, including SABRE, AmadeusJiléa and Worldspan. |
return for access to these systems, Copa paysattams fees that are generally based on the nunfrservations booked throt
each system.

Copa has a sales and marketing network consistingl a@lomestic and international ticket offices,lirting airport and cit
ticket offices. Copa has 30 CTOs co-branded witht@ental and 24 CTOs daranded with AeroRepublica. During the year el
December 31, 2006, approximately 16% and 5% afatss were booked through its ticket counters aficcenter, respectively.

E-tickets, a key component of our sales efforts thhothe Internet and call centers, was launchetieaehd of 2002 and,
December 2003, E-Ticketing for direct sales, nevenue passengers (company business, elite rawaael and promotional trave
as well as interline tickets had been implementét several airlines. Eekets for travel agencies was implemented ingheon:
quarter of 2004.

The call center that operates Capegservations and sales services handles cailts fanama as well as most other cour
Copa flies to. Such centralization has resulted gignificant increase in telephone sales asitiefitly allowed for improvements
service levels such as 24-hour-a-day, 7-days-a-weskce.

Copa encourages the use of direct Internet booKiygiss customers because it is Capaiost efficient distribution chann
During mid 2002, Copa signed a contract with Amad@suuse their booking engine to facilitate ticketchases on www.copaair.c
and launched the system on January 6, 2003. Theot@sach booking via the website is roughly 25% tost of a regular tray
agency booking. In 2004, Copa purchased a new hgakingine in order to further reduce distributiasts; 4% of its 2006 sal
were made via the website. Copa’s goal is to chamoee of its total sales through the website.

Advertising and Promotional ActivitieQur advertising and promotional activities inclutie use of television, print, radio ¢
billboards, as well as targeted public relationrggén the cities where we fly. We believe that tdoeporate traveler is an import
part of our business, and we particularly promate service to these customers by conveying thelrily, convenience ai
consistency of our service and offering vahdtded services such as convention and confereael trrangements, as well as
Business Rewards loyalty program for our frequempaorate travelers. We also promote package deam@ the destinations whi
we fly through combined efforts with selected hetahd travel agencies.

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica successfully implemented the OneRagsient flyer program in March 2006. AeroRbfica also implementse
e-ticket in January 2006 andtieket interline with Copa and Amadeus during tleeand quarter of 2006, complementing its
center, 26 city ticket offices and 12 airport titkdfices. We believe &eketing will improve passenger convenience andlice
commission costs. In February 2007, AeroRepubliaa tarought into Copa’s SHARES reservations andlecheplatform providing
significant benefits in terms of costs and funcaiity.
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Competition

We face intense competition throughout our routsvaek. Overall airline industry profit margins div and industry earnin
are volatile. Airlines compete in the areas of ipd¢ scheduling (frequency and flight times), time performance, frequent fly
programs and other services. Copa competes withngber of other airlines that currently serve thetes on which we opera
including Grupo TACA, American Airlines Inc., Mexina and Avianca. Some of our competitors, suchrasrizan Airlines, hay
larger customer bases and greater brand recognitithe markets we serve outside Panama, and séroaracompetitors hay
significantly greater financial and marketing resms than we have. Airlines based in other cowniriay also receive subsidies,
incentives or other state aid from their respectijyernments, which are not provided by the Pan@@nagovernment. Tt
commencement of, or increase in, service on theesowe serve by existing or new carriers could tieglgt impact our operatir
results. Likewise, competitorservice on routes that we are targeting for exjpengiay make those expansion plans less attre
We must constantly react to changes in prices andcgs offered by our competitors to remain coritipet

Traditional hub-andpoke carriers in the United States and Europe l@avecent years faced substantial and incre
competitive pressure from low-cost carriers offgriiscounted fares. The low-cost carrieperations are typically characterizec
point-to-point route networks focusing on the higthdemand city pairs, high aircraft utilizationngle class service and fewer in-
flight amenities. As evidenced by the operationsGol in Brazil and several new loeest carriers which have recently launc
service or planning to start service in Mexico, agothers, the “low-cost carriebusiness model appears to be gaining accepta
the Latin American aviation industry, and we magefaew and substantial competition from low-costiess in the future.

The main source of competition to Copa, and ouarade with Continental, come from the multinatiofGiupo TACA an
American Airlines, the U.S. airline with the larjgésatin American route network. Colombian carrievidnca is also a significe
competitor.

Grupo TACA's strategy has been to develop three hubs at S&n Josta Rica, San Salvador, El Salvador and Liteay
which serve more than 35 cities in 20 countries eochpete with Copa’ hub at Tocumen International Airport. Grupo TA
primarily operates a fleet of Airbus A320 familyaaft and they have announced their intent to thd&very of a significant numb
of new Airbus aircraft between now and Decembei92@Ue have routes to several of the Central Amararad Caribbean countr
where Grupo TACA has established service, includifanagua, Nicaragua, San Jose, Costa Rica, Guatendl the Dominice
Republic.

American Airlines also offers significant compaetiti American attracts strong brand recognitiondgtmut the Americas anc
able to attract brand loyalty through its “AAdvaged frequent flyer program. American Airlines competieough its hubs at Miar
and San Juan, Puerto Rico. American Airlines wimiading member of the oneworld global marketirigate.

LAN Airlines is another oneworld member that offeservice to more than 50 destinations, primarilya&tin America. LAM
Airlines is comprised of LAN Chile, LAN Peru, LANdaador, LAN Argentina, LAN Cargo and LAN Expresshi& we do nc
compete directly with LAN Airlines on many of ouurtent routes, LAN Airlines has grown rapidly owbe past several years i
may become a significant competitor in the future.

Copa has significant presence in destinations wttegelocal airline is less viable and competitigach as the Dominici
Republic (Santo Domingo and Santiago de los CatoalleEcuador (Quito and Guayaquil) and Venezuetadcas and Maracaibo).

Copa has also established itself as a significkaytep on traffic to and from Colombia, with stronmarket share on routes to
from Barranquilla, Bogota, Cali, Cartagena, Mededind San Andres. AeroRdpita competes more directly with Avianca and ¢
Colombian carriers in the Colombian domestic markeianca emerged from U.S. bankruptcy protectafiter being purchased
Brazil's Synergy Group. The new owners of Aviancavén announced their intention to increase Aviamaaarket share a
transform Bogotdnto a major international aviation hub which, iicsessful, will compete directly with our hub atclier
International Airport. Avianca recently announcedleget renovation project which includes the Boeif)y and either Boeing
Airbus narrow body aircraft.
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We cannot predict whether Avianca will become mooepetitive under its new management, or if thearéased operatio
from Bogota will prove successful. The other Coldgnbcarriers against which AeroRdgiga competes, Aires, Aerolineas
Antioquia and the statewned airline Satena, collectively accounted fopragimately 19% of the domestic Colombian marke
2006. Airlines that seek to compete in the Colomkaa transportation market face substantial besrie entry, as the Colombi
government requires an airline to operate at ldastircraft and comply with extensive filing aodrtification requirements before
becomes eligible to receive domestic route riglmscertain Colombian routes between major citiesaddition, the number of :
carriers offering service on any route is currendigulated by the Colombian Aviation Authority.

With respect to our cargo operations, we will condé to face competition from all of the major a@iffht companies, mc
notably DHL, which has a cargo hub operation atufioen International Airport.

Aircraft
Copa

As of May 31, 2007, Copa operated a fleet congjstih30 aircraft, including 20 Boeing 7300 Next Generation aircraft, fc
Boeing 737800 Next Generation aircraft and six Embraer 190rait. Copa currently has firm orders to purchtese additionz
Boeing 737Next Generation aircraft and nine Embraer 190s.aCapo has options for an additional 14 Embraes 2@ purcha:
rights and options for an additional eight Boeil3y-Next Generation aircraft.

The current composition of the Copa fleet as of lay2007 is more fully described below:

Average
Term
of Lease Average
Number of Aircraft Remaining Age Seating
Total Owned Leased (Years) (Years) Capacity
Boeing 73-700 20 14 6 3.8 4.¢ 124
Boeing 73-800 4 3 1 5.5 3.C 15k
Embraer 19( 6 6 — — 1.C 94
Total 30 23 7 4.C 3.¢ —

We expect our Copa fleet to continue to centetherBoeing 737-700 model, although we expect toicoatto add Boeing 737-
800s to our fleet to cover higfemand routes and Embraer 190s to serve underseradabts as well as fly additional frequen
where we believe excess demand exists. The taldevlakescribes the expected size of our Copa fietiteaend of each year set fc
below, assuming delivery of all aircraft for whiale currently have firm orders but not taking intwaunt any aircraft for which v
have purchase rights and options:

Aircraft Type 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

737-700 21 22 22 22 22
737-800(1) 7 8 8 10 12
Embraer 19( 15 15 15 15 15
Total Fleet 43 45 45 47 49

(1) We have the flexibility to choose between Bueing 737-700 or the Boeing 737-800 aircraftrfuost of the 737200 aircraf
deliveries scheduled after 20(
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The Boeing 737-700 and Boeing 737-800 aircraftently in our Copa fleet are fuefficient and suit our operations well
the following reasons:

«  They have simplified maintenance procedu
«  They require just one type of standardized traifiargour crews
«  They have one of the lowest operating costs i ttass.

Our focus on profitable operations means that wegieally review our fleet composition. As a reswdur fleet compositic
changes over time when we conclude that adding dyipes of aircraft will help us achieve this goghe introduction of any ne
type of aircraft to our fleet is only done if, afieareful consideration, we determine that suctep will improve our profitability. |
line with this philosophy, after conducting a catefostbenefit analysis, we decided to add the Embraerdi@faft because |
combination of smaller size and highly efficieneogting characteristics made it the ideal aird@fierve new migized markets at
to increase frequency to existing destinations. Ehebraer 190 incorporates advanced design featsueb, as integrated avioni
fly-by-wire flight controls, and efficient CF340 engines made by General Electric. The Embra80Bas a range of approximal
2,000 nautical miles enabling it to fly to a widenge of destinations from short-haul to certain iomaehaul destinations. We he
configured Copa’s Embraer aircraft with a busingass section similar to the business class seat@have on our Boeing 73Vex1
Generation aircratft.

Through several special purpose vehicles, we ctiyréiave beneficial ownership of 23 of our aircraficluding six Embrat
190s. In addition, we lease six of our Boeing 780s7and one of our Boeing 737-800s under lamgy operating lease agreem
that have an average remaining term of 48 montbasing some of our aircraft provides us with fldiipto change our flet
composition if we consider it to be in our besenaists to do so. We make monthly rental paymentegsof which are based
floating rates, but are not required to make teatidm payments at the end of the lease. Currentlydo not have purchase option
any of our lease agreements. Under our operategglagreements, we are required in some casesdritaimanaintenance resel
accounts and in other cases to make supplememtbpayments at the end of the lease that are eadmliwith reference to t
aircrafts’ maintenance schedule. In either case, we mustr#teraircraft in the agreed upon condition atehd of the lease ter
Title to the aircraft remains with the lessor. We eesponsible for the maintenance, servicing,rarste, repair and overhaul of
aircraft during the term of the lease.

To better serve the growing number of businesstess, we introduced business clagdgse Ejecutivg in November of 199
Our business class service features twelve luxeagssin the Boeing 737-700s with a iB8h pitch, upgraded meal service, spe
check-in desks, bonus mileage for full-fare busingass passengers and access to VIP lounges. @@img3737800s are current
configured with 14 business class seats. In 20@8,pl&n to reconfigure our Boeing 7800 aircraft by adding two additior
business class seats and three additional econeaty, sncreasing the total number of seats fromt@3%0. Our Embraer 190s hi
10 business class seats in a three abreast caatfguand 38-inch pitch.

Each of our Boeing 737-Next Generation aircrafiasvered by two CFM International Model CFM 38-engines. Each of ¢
Embraer 190 aircraft is powered by two CF®tengines made by General Electric. We currerdiyetfour spare engines for sen
replacements and for periodic rotation throughftaet.

AeroRepublica

AeroRepublica’s operates a fleet of three leased81B, four leased MD-82s, two leased N8Bs and four owned Embraer :
with an average age in excess of 13.1 years asagf3d, 2007. All of AeroRepublica'fleet is configured as a single class, witt
MD fleet having an average capacity of 157 seatstha Embraer 190 fleet having a capacity of 1GsseAeroRepidlica has firn
commitments to accept delivery of four Embraer &8@raft through the end of 2007 and options tochase up to eight additiol
Embraer 190 aircraft through 2011.
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Maintenance
Copa

The maintenance performed on our Copa aircraftbgadivided into two general categories: line andvigemaintenance. Lit
maintenance consists of routine, scheduled maintEnahecks on our aircraft, including pre-flightjlgd and overnight checks, “A-
checks” and any diagnostics and routine repairsstMb Copa’s line maintenance is performed by Cemain highly experienct
technicians at our base in Panama. Some line nmainte is also carried out at the foreign statign€bpa employees or thingharty
contractors. Heavy maintenance consists of morepminspections and overhauls, including “C-chegtkad servicing of tr
aircraft that cannot be accomplished during an mgét visit. Maintenance checks are performed afinel@ by the aircra
manufacturer. These checks are based on the nuwhtberurs or calendar months flown. We have contwéth certified outsid
maintenance providers, principally with Panama Apeze Engineering, a subsidiary of Singapore Tdobgies Aerospace, which
certified as an authorized repair station by thé\Rhd the AAC, for heavy aircraft maintenance sgrsi Copa also has an exclu:
long-term contract with GE Engines whereby theyl wédrform maintenance on all of its CF&& engines. There were two he
maintenance events in 2006. When possible, Copapts to schedule heavy maintenance during itsrlolemand season in Ap
May, October and November.

Copa employs over 200 maintenance professionaikjdimg engineers, supervisors, technicians anchargcs, who perfor
maintenance in accordance with maintenance progthatsare established by the manufacturer and apgrand certified
international aviation authorities. Every mechasitrained in factory procedures and goes througtown rigorous irhouse trainin
program. Every mechanic is licensed by the AAC approximately 22 of our mechanics are also licergethe FAA. Copa safet
and maintenance procedures are reviewed and pealtydaudited by the aircraft manufacturer, the AARe FAA, IATA and, to
lesser extent, every foreign country to which liesst Copa$ maintenance facility at Tocumen InternationabAit has been certifi
by the FAA as an approved repair station, and gael the FAA inspects its facilities to renew tletiication. Copas aircraft ar
initially covered by warranties that have a ternfafr years, resulting in lower maintenance experheaing the period of covera
All of Copa’s mechanics are trained to perform linaintenance on both the Boeing 737-Next GeneratiwhEmbraer 190s aircraft.

AeroRepublica

All line maintenance for AeroRepublica’s MD-80s aBthbraer 190 is performed by AeroRepublica’house maintenan
staff, while C-checks on the MD-80s are performed BAA certified thirdparty aviation maintenance companies. Al
AeroRepublicad maintenance and safety procedures are performeatding to Boeing standards (certified by the FAAinC
certified by the Aeronautica Civil of Colombia aB¥Qi, the institute that issues ISO quality cectfies. All of AeroRepublica’
maintenance personnel are licensed by the Aera#aQivil of Colombia.

Safety

We place a high priority on providing safe andaiele air service. Copa has uniform safety standamdssafetyrelated trainin
programs that cover all of its operations. In maitr, Copa periodically evaluates the skills, eigece and safety records of its pi
in order to maintain strict control over the qualdf its pilot crews. All of Copa pilots participate in training programs, som
which are sponsored by aircraft manufacturers,ahdre required to undergo recurrent training tmees per year. We have a -
time program of Flight Data Analysis (FOQA) wherdaire flight data from every Copa flight is analyzied safety or technic
anomalies. During 2006, Copa completed a Line Qs Safety Audit under contract with Universitiy Texas researchers. Cc
also recently successfully completed our secondd®perational Safety Audit (IOSA).

In the last ten years, Copa has had no accidenteiglents involving major injury to passengersveror aircraft. Just prior

our acquisition of AeroRefilica, one of its planes slid off of a runway inastident without serious injuries to passengergdver
the aircraft was severely damaged and declarethbldss by its insurers.
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The FAA periodically audits the aviation regulat@ythorities of other countries. As a result ofitirevestigation, each count
is given an International Aviation Safety Assesstnen IASA, rating. In May 2001, PanansalASA rating was downgraded fr
Category 1 to Category 2 due to alleged deficienaiethe Panamanian government’s air safety stasdand AACS capability ti
provide regulatory oversight. As a result of thismhgrade, we were prevented from adding flightadw destinations in the Unit
States and from certifying new aircraft for flightsthe United States, and Continental was predefrtam placing its code on ¢
flights. On April 14, 2004, the FAA upgraded theSA rating for Panama from “Category 2" to “Categdry which indicates
strong level of confidence in the safety regulatddrthe AAC. The return to Category 1 allowed Coatital to reestablish placing
code on our flights and allowed us to add new deStinations to our network.

In order to recover Category 1 status, the Panamagdvernment passed a new law regulating aviatiod;the AAC issue
new regulations compliant with standards of theedmational Civil Aviation Organization, or ICAO. PAinspectors and ICA
advisors were hired to help with training; and gfowernment approved a budget of $14 million for A#6C to comply with variou
regulations of ICAO.

Airport Facilities

We believe that our hub at Panama Gitffocumen International Airport (PTY) is an excefldase of operations for f
following reasons:

. Panama consistently temperate climate is ideal for airmperations. For example, in recent years Tocumas
closed and unavailable for flight operations fdotl of less than two hours per year on ave

e Tocumen is the only airport in Central America witho operational runways. Also unlike some othagiora
airports, we are currently not constrained by & lat available gates/parking positions at Tocunmemj there i
ample room to expand Tocume

. From Panama’s central location, our Boeing 73¥tNeeneration can efficiently serve lohgul destinations
South American cities such as Santiago, Chile; Madeo, Uruguay; Buenos Aires, Argentina; Rio deeda
Brazil; and ‘o Paulo, Brazil as well as sh-haul destinations in Central and South Amer

. Travelers can generally make connections eakilpugh Tocumen because of its manageable size andnis$
policies accommodating -transit passenget

Tocumen International Airport is operated by arejpehdent corporate entity established by the govent, where stakehold:
have a say in the operation and development ofaitjgort. A Copa executive, as a representativehef Ranamanian Airlir
Association, holds a seat on the board of thisogirpperator. The law that created this entity gisavided for a significant portion
revenues generated at Tocumen to be used for agppansion and improvements. We do not have amydlb written agreemer
with the airport management that govern access faeding rights or allocation of terminal gatese \Wely upon our good worki
relationship with the airpod’management and the Panamanian government teeghatirve have access to the airport resourc
need at prices that are reasonable.

We worked closely with the airpost‘management and consulted with the IATA infrastmes group to provide plans ¢
guidance for Phase | of an airport expansion thatiged eight new gate positions with jet bridgas,new remote parking positiol
expanded retail areas and improved the bagbagdling facilities. The government authorized #1ilion to cover the costs of tt
expansion. Work on Phase | was completed in thid tuarter of 2006. A plan phase Il of the expamsibthe terminal will add 10
12 additional jet bridge gates. Copa is activelgtipipating in the design definition of this exp#ng and the project is scheduled
completion in the second half of 2009.

We provide all of our own ground services and hiaigdbf passengers and cargo at Tocumen Interndtiin@ort. In addition
we provide services to several of the principakign airlines that operate at Tocumen. At mosthef fioreign airports where \
operate, foreign airport services companies prowltief our support services other than sales, muservices and some mil
maintenance.
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We lease a variety of facilities at Tocumen, inaghgdour maintenance hangar and our operationsitfasilin the airpol
terminal. From our System Operations Control Cefdeated within our corporate headquarters buildiwg dispatch, track a
direct our aircraft throughout the hemisphere aspond to operational contingencies as necessarygafferally cooperate with 1
airport authority to modify the lease terms as ssagy to account for capital improvements and esiparplans. Currently, our el
passengers have access to a Presgl@itib at the airport, which is jointly operatedwContinental and was opened in March 2
The Presiden$ Club will be expanded to approximately one andltiraes its current size, utilizing space madeikmde during th
recent expansion of the terminal.

Bogota’s El Dorado Airport is AeroRepublica’s maiperating terminal. It is also Colombsarnain international and dome:
terminal, with two operational runways. El Doradashrecently completed a privatization process inclwhmprovements a
expected to the passenger and cargo terminals Rigiblica currently leases a variety of facilities at¥®rado, including countel
maintenance and administrative and dispatch areas.

Fuel

Fuel costs are extremely volatile, as they areemulip many global economic, geopolitical, weatlegryironmental and oth
factors that we can neither control nor accurapebdict. Due to its inherent volatility, aircrafidl has historically been our m
unpredictable unit cost. Concurrent with the waldtonomic recovery, demand for oil has surgedea@ailty in fastgrowing Ching
This increase in demand coupled with limited refineapacity and instability in o#xporting countries has led to a rapid increa
prices. When combined with the relative weaknesthefU.S. dollar, theurrency in which oil is traded, these factors heaesed
record high price for oil in nominal dollar terms.

Aircraft Fuel Data

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Copa
Average price per gallon of jet fuel into

plane (excluding hedge) (in U.S.

dollars) $ 0.8¢€ $ 1.01 $ 1.32 $ 1.81 $ 2.1C
Gallons consumed (in thousant 44,78¢ 48,44+ 50,83 58,92« 70,77(
Available seat miles (in millions 2,847 3,22¢ 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.57 1.5C 1.4C 1.34 1.3¢
AeroRe|lblica (1)
Average price per gallon of jet fuel in

plane (excluding hedge) (in U.S.

dollars) — — — $ 2.12 $ 2.2¢
Gallons consumed (in thousant — — — 17,881 28,32:
Available seat miles (in millions — — — 95( 1,62
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth — — — 1.8¢ 1.74

(1) Since April 22, 2005

Since 2002, aircraft fuel prices have been risiigring 2006, Copa paid an average price, inclugiage charges, of $2.10 |
gallon of jet fuel, a 12.2% increase from 2005 maf $1.87 per gallon.

We believe that fuel prices are likely to increa@séhe future and may do so in the near future2086, we hedged 19% of (
requirements through the use of jet fuel swap eotdr We have hedged approximately 27% of Copaticipated fuel needs
2007 and approximately 6% of Copa’s projected fulsumption from January 1, 2008 to June 30, 28GBough AeroRepllica
does not currently have a fuel price hedging pokeg may implement one in the future. We will cant to evaluate various hedg
strategies, and we may enter into additional hegigigreements in the future. Any prolonged incraasthe price of jet fuel wi
likely materially and negatively affect our busiagBnancial condition and results of operation.

AeroRepulica is supplied by two fuel providers. The prioe fuel is fixed by the Colombian government omanthly basi
based on international fuel indices.
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Insurance

We maintain passenger liability insurance in an amaonsistent with industry practice, and we iesaur aircraft again
losses and damages on an “all riskasis. We have obtained all insurance coveragereetjoy the terms of our leasing and finan
agreements. We believe our insurance coveragerisistent with airline industry standards and appate to protect us fro
material loss in light of the activities we condudb assurance can be given, however, that the minoéunsurance we carry will |
sufficient to protect us from material losses. WWaénegotiated lower premiums on our Copa insurgatieies by leveraging tl
purchasing power of our alliance partner, Contiabrur Copa operations are insured under Contfisnjpint insurance polic
with Northwest Airlines. We maintain separate irswre policies for our AeroRepublica operations.

Environmental

Our operations are covered by various local, natioand international environmental regulationseSéh regulations cowv
among other things, emissions into the atmospliksppsal of solid waste and aqueous effluentsradtrooise and other activiti
that result from the operation of aircraft. Ourceaft comply with all environmental standards apglile to their operations
described in this annual report. We have hiredreselting firm to conduct an environmental audibaf hanger and support facilit
at the Tocumen International Airport to determinleaty if any, measures we need to implement in omleaatisfy the Panaman
effluent standards and the General Environmental &athose facilities. A base line study of oudwedfits has been completed.
plan to implement all measures required for conmgkaonce the audit is finalized, notwithstanding dpse of the grace period
forth in the regulations. Additionally, the Panana@mnCivil Aviation Code (RAC) contains certain eroiimental provisions that ¢
similar to those set forth in the General EnvirontaéLaw regarding effluents, although such prarisi do not contain compliar
grace periods. In the event the AAC determines dhatfacilities do not currently meet the RAC staru$, we could be subject t
fine. The measures that will be implemented purst@the environmental audit that is underway aiflo satisfy the requirements
the RAC. We have installed a water treatment plargerve part of our facilities and seek to finalthe audit and have any ot
remediation measures that may be required in dperéiy the end of 2007. While we do not believet tb@ampliance with the:
regulations will expose us to material expenditur@smpliance with these or other environmental lagpns, whether new
existing, that may be applicable to us in the faitoould increase our costs. In addition, failuredmply with these regulations co
adversely affect us in a variety of ways, includattyerse effects on our reputation.

Regulation
Panama

Panamanian law requires airlines providing comnaérservices in Panama to hold an Operation Ceatd#icand an A
Transportation License/Certificate issued by theCAAThe Air Transportation Certificate specifies thaites, equipment ust
capacity, and the frequency of flights. This cééife must be updated every time Copa acquiresaienaft, or when routes a
frequencies to a particular destination are modifie

Panamanian law also requires that the aircraftaipdrby Copa be registered with the PanamaniarohdtAviation Registr:
kept by the AAC, and that the Panamanian Nationa&tfon authority certify the airworthiness of eaaincraft in Copas fleet. Thi:
requirement does not apply to AeroRepublica’s aftawhich are registered in Colombia. Copa’s afitcnaust be recertified ever
year.

The government of the Republic of Panama does an n equity interest in our company. Bilaterakaments signed by t
government of Panama have protected our operatpwsition and route network, allowing us to havéanama a significant hub
transport intraregion traffic within and betweere tAmericas and the Caribbean. All internationak$aare filed and technica
subject to the approval of the Panamanian goverhnkéistorically, we have been able to modify tickeices on a daily basis
respond to market conditions.
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We cooperated with the government of Panama tonegite countrys Category 1 status after it was downgraded togoaye:
in early May 2001 by the FAA, a status that is imiaot both to the operations of Copa as an aiding the general perception
Panama as a country, particularly in view of thet ihat a major initiative is in place to boostriem in Panama. The countsy’
Category 1 status was restored April 2004. In meetie requirements for Category 1 status, the lBan&n government approv
$14 million for the AAC to comply with various relgtions of the ICAO, and AAC personnel have recéitining on Embra
airworthiness certification so they will continuehie qualified to evaluate our pilots and aircraft.

Our status as a private carrier means that we@resguired under Panamanian law to serve anycpéatiroute and are free
withdraw service from any of the routes we currngstirve as we see fit, subject to bilateral agreesn&Ve are also free to deternr
the frequency of service we offer across our rotsvork without any minimum frequencies imposedh® Panamanian authorities.

The most significant restriction on our company asgd by the Panamanian Aviation Act, as amendednaémgreted to date,
that Panamanian nationals must exercise “effectiwetrol” over the operations of the airline and musintain ‘substantic
ownership."These phrases are not defined in the Aviation setifiand it is unclear how a Panamanian court diintierpret then
The share ownership requirements and transfeliaisiis contained in our Articles of Incorporaticas well as the structure of «
capital stock described under the caption “Desionipof Capital Stock,’are designed to ensure compliance with these oWwipeasic
control restrictions created by the Aviation Acthifé we believe that our ownership structure cosgphlvith the ownership a
control restrictions of the Aviation Act as integped by a recent decree by the Executive Branchcammot assure you tha
Panamanian court would share our interpretatiaih@fAviation Act or the decree or that any suckriptetations would remain va
for the entire time you hold our Class A shares.

Although the Panamanian government does not clyreave the authority to dictate the terms of cemvice, the government
responsible for negotiating the bilateral agreemenmith other nations that allow us to fly to othesuntries. Several of the
agreements require Copa to remain “effectively mileid” and “substantially ownedly Panamanian nationals in order for us tc
the rights conferred by the agreements. Such repgints are analogous to the Panamanian aviatioddawribed above that requi
Panamanian control of our business.

During 1997, several Central American countriegl(iding Panama) and the United States signed an-sijes agreeme
allowing carriers from each country to initiate \dee in any other. There is no bilateral agreentsitveen Panama and eithe
Salvador or Costa Rica, the nations in which Grup&A has its principal hubs. Panama only has recity agreements with the
countries at present.

Antitrust regulation, enforcement

In 1996, the Republic of Panama enacted antitresfislation, which regulates industry concentratiand vertice
anticompetitive practices and prohibits horizontallusion. The Consumer Protection and Free Tradéhakity is in charge «
enforcement and may impose fines only after a coempeourt renders an adverse judgment. The lawmisvides for direct actic
by any affected market participant or consumerepmhdently or though class actions. The law doépmwide for the granting
antitrust immunity, as is the case in the Unitedt&t. In February 2006, the antitrust legislatiossvamended to increase
maximum fines that may be assessed for violatiorL{000,000 foper seviolations and $250,000 for relative violationseottitrus
law.

Noise regulations effects

Panama has adopted Annex 16 of the ICAO regulatodsthe noise abatement provisions of ICAO, thhoBgok XIV of the
Panamanian Civil Aviation Regulations (RAC). Thasjcles 227229 of Book XIV of the RAC require aircraft registd in Panan
to comply with at least Stage 2 noise requiremeants, all aircraft registered for the first time kvihe Panamanian Civil Aviatii
Authority after January 1, 2003, to comply with a3 noise restrictions. Currently, all the airglsuwe operate or have on ol
meet the most stringent noise requirements estedoliby both ICAO and the AAC.
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Colombia

The Colombian aviation market is heavily regulateyl the Colombian Civil Aviation Administrationlnidad Especia
Administrativa de Aercautica Civil, or Aeronautica Civil.Colombia is a Category 1 country under the FAMSA program. Witt
respect to domestic aviation, airlines must pregestibility studies to secure specific route rigl#nd no airline may serve the ¢
pairs with the most traffic unless that airline hatsleast five aircraft with their airworthinessrtificates in force. In additior
Aeronautica Civil sets minimum and maximum fares dach route and a maximum number of competingnaslfor each rout
based on the size of the city pairs served. AiglimeColombia must also add a surcharge for fuehsir ticket prices. In additiol
since November 2006, airlines have to charge anirastnative fee (“Tarifa administrativa®or each ticket sold through airlin
direct channels. Passengers in Colombia are alsieedrby law to compensation in cases of delaysxness of four hours, over-
bookings and cancellations. Currently, the San AsdrBogota,Cali, Cartagena and Barranquilla airports are unpiévate
management arrangements. Furthermore, the govetnmasnstated its intention of privatizing otherpaits in order to financ
necessary expansion projects and increase thésefficof operations, which may lead to increasdarnding fees and facility rente
at those airports.

AeroRepiblica may not have as much productive cooperatigh the Colombian government over the negotiatibmonte
rights with other countries as we may enjoy in Pa&aColombia has opeskies agreements with Aruba, Venezuela and the &r
Pact (Comunidad Anding nations of Bolivia, Ecuador and Peru. AeroRgma has been recently granted the use of 28 b8
available route rights for service by Colombianrieas between Colombia and Panama and, as a réggan scheduled servi
between the two countries in late 2005. There areently 12 route rights available to the Unitedt8$ from Colombia.

U.S.

Operations to the United States by ndrs. airlines, such as Copa, are subject to T@le#the U.S. Code, under which 1
DOT, the FAA and the TSA exercise regulatory autfiorThe U.S. Department of Justice also has juctsmh over airline
competition matters under the federal antitrusslaw

Authorizations and License$he DOT has jurisdiction over international aviatiwith respect to the United States and rel
route authorities, subject to review by the Prasidd the United States. The DOT also has jurigalictvith respect to unfair practic
and methods of competition by airlines and relatedsumer protection matters. We are authorizedheyROT to engage |
scheduled and charter air transportation servioeljding the transportation of persons, propecgrgo) and mail, or combinatio
thereof, between points in Panama and points ittiieed States and beyond (via intermediate pomtgher countries). We hold tl
necessary authorizations from the DOT in the forimacdforeign air carrier permit, an exemption auttyoand statements
authorization to conduct our current operationarid from the United States. The exemption authevitg granted by the DOT
February 1998. This exemption authority was duexggire in February 2000. However, the authority aam in effect by operation
law under the terms of the Administrative Procediice pending final DOT action on the application filed to renew the authorit
on January 3, 2000. There can be no assurancthéhBIOT will grant the application. Our foreign aarrier permit has no expiratit
date.

Our operations to the United States are also suljeegulation by the FAA with respect to safetgttars, including aircra
maintenance and operations, equipment, aircrafenajround facilities, dispatch, communications;spenel, training, weath:
observation, air traffic control and other mattaeffecting air safety. The FAA requires each fore&n carrier serving the Unite
States to obtain operational specifications purstarPart 129 of its regulations and to meet opemat criteria associated wi
operating specified equipment on approved inteonatiroutes. We believe that we are in compliancallimaterial respects with ¢
requirements necessary to maintain in good stanalimgperations specifications issued by the FARe FAA can amend, suspel
revoke or terminate those specifications, or capend temporarily or revoke permanently our authdfriwe fail to comply with the
regulations, and can assess civil penalties fan §aiture. A modification, suspension or revocatafrany of our DOT authorizatior
or FAA operating specifications could have a matailverse effect on our business. The FAA alsaeots safety audits and has
power to impose fines and other sanctions for timte of airline safety regulations. We have nauimed any material fines relat
to operations.
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Security.On November 19, 2001, the U.S. Congress passedharf@resident signed into law, the Aviation andrBportatio
Security Act, also referred to as the Aviation S@glAct. This law federalized substantially allpgsts of civil aviation security a
created the TSA to which the security responsiédipreviously held by the FAA were transitionetheTTSA is an agency of t
Department of Homeland Security. The Aviation Se#guict requires, among other things, the implermaéioh of certain securi
measures by airlines and airports, such as tharesgent that all passenger bags be screened fdosixgs. Funding for airline al
airport security required under the Aviation Setyufict is provided in part by a $2.50 to $4.50 pegment passenger security fee
flights departing from the U.S., subject to a $£0 pundtrip cap; however, airlines are responditnieosts incurred to meet secu
requirements beyond those provided by the TSA. dlemo assurance this fee will not be raised infthure as the TSA' cost
exceed the revenue it receives from these feesciitrtent administration has proposed to raisefdesto $5.50, which is subject
approval by the U.S. Congress. Implementation efréguirements of the Aviation Security Act hasuliesl in increased costs
airlines and their passengers. Since the everBgpfember 11, 2001, the U.S. Congress has manaiatiethe TSA has implemen
numerous security procedures and requirementshthat imposed and will continue to impose burdensidimes, passengers ¢
shippers.

Noise RestrictiondJnder the Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990 ANCA, and related FAA regulations, aircraft tHigt
to the United States must comply with certain Stagmise restrictions, which are currently the nsishgent FAA operating noi
requirements. All of our Copa aircraft meet theg®td requirement.

FAA regulations also require compliance with thaffic Alert and Collision Avoidance System, apprdwarborne windshe
warning system and aging aircraft regulations. flagt meets these requirements.

Proposed Laws and Regulation&dditional U.S. laws and regulations have been psed from time to time that col
significantly increase the cost of airline operatidy imposing additional requirements or restitsi on airlines. There can be
assurance that laws and regulations currently edasot enacted in the future will not adversely efffeur ability to maintain ol
current level of operating results.

Other Jurisdictions
We are also subject to regulation by the aviategutatory bodies which set standards and enfortenah aviation legislatic
in each of the jurisdictions to which we fly. Thesgulators may have the power to set fares, eafertvironmental and saf
standards, levy fines, restrict operations withieirt respective jurisdictions or any other powessogiated with aviation regulatic
We cannot predict how these various regulatory émdiill perform in the future and the evolving stards enforced by any of th
could have a material adverse effect on our opeTati
C. Organizational Structure

The following is an organizational chart showingo@d-oldings and its principal subsidiaries.

Copa Holdings, 5.A.

(Panatna)
00 2% o9 8 100%, 100
Compafiia Panamefia Crral Financial
de Awviacion, 5.4, AceroRepiblica 3. A, Leasing, Ltd, OPAC, 5A,
(Copa) (Colombia) (British Virgin (Patatma)
(Panatna) [slands)

* Includes ownership by us held through wh-owned holding companies organized in the BritistgWi Islands
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Copa is our principal airline operating subsidiéimat operates out of our hub in Panama and proyidssenger service
North, South and Central America and the CaribbéamoRejlblica S.A. is our operating subsidiary that is @ity engaged it
domestic air travel within Colombia. Oval Finandiaasing, Ltd. controls the special purpose vebitiat have a beneficial inter:
in the majority of our aircraft. OPAC, S.A. owndtktformer corporate headquarters building locate®anama City which was sc
to a third party during the fourth quarter of 2008AC, S.A. is currently in the process of beingsdived.

D. Property, Plants and Equipment
Headquarters

In 2005, we moved into a newly built headquartardding located six miles away from Tocumen Inteimaal Airport. We
have leased five floors consisting of approximafiedd,000 square feet of the building from Desarbilomobiliario del Este, S.A., €
entity controlled by the same group of investoet ttontrols CIASA, under a 1ykar lease at a rate of $106,000 per month dunia
first three years, $110,000 per month from year yelar 6, $113,000 from year 7 to year 9 and $006p&r month in year 10, whi
we believe to be a market rate. During the fourtlarter of 2006, we sold to a third party our presidieadquarters building
Panama City.

Other property

At Tocumen International Airport, we lease a maiatgce hangar, operations offices in the terminalinter space, parkir
spaces and other operational properties from thieyéhat manages the airport. We pay approximadl90,000 per month for th
leased property. Around Panama City, we also leas®us office spaces, parking spaces and othgrepties from a variety ¢
lessors, for which we pay approximately $6,000rpenth in the aggregate.

In each of our destination cities, we also leascsmt the airport for chedhk; reservations and airport ticket office salasl
we lease space for CTOs in more than 34 of thamssci

AeroRepublica

AeroRepiblica leases most of its airport and city tickeficals. Owned properties include one city ticketicef a warehous
close to the airport and one floor in a high-risédding in downtown Bogota.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospest
A. Operating Results

You should read the following discussion in confiamcwith our consolidated financial statements dne related notes and tl
other financial information included elsewhere fiistannual report.

We are a leading Latin American provider of airlipassenger and cargo service through our two pahodperating
subsidiaries, Copa and AeroRéfiGa. Copa operates from its strategically locapessition in the Republic of Panama, ¢
AeroRepulica provides service primarily within Colombiarmaplemented by international flights from variouies in Colombia t
Panama’s Tocumen International Airport. We currenjberate a fleet of 43 aircraft, 24 Boeing 78&xt Generation aircraft, te
Embraer 190 aircraft and nine MD-80 aircraft. Werently have firm orders for ten Boeing 78lExt Generation and 13 Embr:
190s, and purchase rights and options for up eidtiitional Boeing 737-Next Generation and 22 addél Embraer 190s.
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Copa currently offers approximately 108 daily salled flights among 36 destinations in 21 countife§North, Central ar
South America and the Caribbean from its Panamgalib. Copa provides passengers with access tadltp more than 120 ott
destinations through codeshare arrangements wittii@mtal pursuant to which each airline placeséme and flight designati
code on the othes’flights. Through its Panama City hub, Copa i€ dblconsolidate passenger traffic from multiplénpoto serv
each destination effectively.

Copa operates a modern fleet of 24 Boeing M8%t Generation aircraft and six Embraer 190 aftoséth an average age
approximately 3.9 years as of May 31, 2007. To nitsegrowing capacity requirements, Copa has fimmmitments to acce
delivery of 19 additional aircraft through 2012 dras purchase rights and options that, if exercisedld allow it to accept delive
of up to 22 additional aircraft through 2013. Capfirm orders are for ten additional Boeing #8&xt Generation aircraft and n
additional Embraer 190s, and its purchase rights aptions are for up to eight Boeing 7B&xt Generation aircraft and up to
Embraer 190s.

Copa started its strategic alliance with Contineimal998. Since then, it has conducted joint manige and codesharing
arrangements, and participated in the award-wind@ngPass frequent flyer loyalty program globallyl @m a cobranded basis
Latin America. We believe that Copa’s beanding and joint marketing activities with Comtitial have enhanced its brand in L
America, and that the relationship with Continertiab afforded it cosklated benefits, such as improving purchasing pan
negotiations with aircraft vendors and insurersp&® alliance and related services agreements witli@onal are in effect un
2015.

During the second quarter of 2005, we purchasedRepublica, a Colombian air carrier that was theosdlargest domest
carrier in Colombia in terms of number of passesgarried in 2006, providing predominantly poirdgtmint service among 12 citi
in Colombia and to Panama City. AeroRepublica aulyeoperates a fleet of four Embraer 190 and mitiz-80s. As part of its fle
modernization and expansion plan, AeroR#jga has firm commitments to accept delivery afrf&mbraer 190 aircraft through
end of 2007 and options to purchase up to eightiaddl Embraer 190 aircraft through 2011.

Fuel is our single largest operating expense asdy gesult, our results of operations are likelycomtinue to be materia
affected by the cost of fuel as compared with pperiods. Prices for jet fuel have risen signifitarin 2006 and remained
historically high levels. Copa’fuel cost increased from $1.32 per gallon in 22081.87 per gallon in 2005 and $2.10 per galh
2006. To date, we have managed to offset someeofnitreases in fuel prices with higher load factéugl surcharges and fi
increases. In addition, we entered into hedgingamgents with respect to approximately 19% of Cofizél estimated needs for 2(
and have hedged approximately 27% of Cepaojected fuel needs for 2007 and approximatébycd the estimated needs for
first six months of 2008. We will continue to evale various hedging strategies, and we may enter additional hedgir
agreements in the future.

Our 2005 acquisition of AeroRepublica has affe¢ctexicomparability of our recent results of operaso

On April 22, 2005 we acquired an initial 85.6% aguiwnership interest in AeroRejplica which was followed by subsequ
acquisitions increasing our total ownership intenesderoRepblica to 99.8% as of May 31, 2007. The total pusehprice we pa
for our investment in AeroReplica, including acquisition costs, was $23.4 roilli According to the Colombian Civil Aviati
Administration, Unidad Especial Administrativa de Aeronautica Ciyiln 2006 AeroRepublica was the secdadest domest
carrier in Colombia in terms of number of passesgarried, providing service among 12 cities indbabia and to Panama City w
a point-to-point route network.

We began to consolidate AeroRepuUblgcagsults of operations in our consolidated finanstatements beginning April :
2005. We report AeroRepublicabperations as a separate segment in our finasteig@ments and the related notes. See Note
our audited financial statements included elsewlrerthis annual report for segment data for Aeraiddéipa for the year end
December 31, 2006. As a result of this acquisitind our consolidation of AeroRepublisaesults as of April 22, 2005, our finan
information prior to and after the acquisition @& ©omparable.
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Regional Economic Environment

Our historical financial results have been, andexpect them to continue to be, materially affedigdthe general level
economic activity and growth of per capita dispdsabcome in North, South and Central America dre €aribbean (drivers of ¢
passenger revenue) and the volume of trade betegeniries in the region (the principal driver of @argo revenue).

According to data fronThe Preliminary Overview of the Economies of La@merica and the Caribbeapan annual Unite
Nations publication prepared by the Economic Dgwelent Division, the economy of Latin America (ingilng the Caribbean) gre
by approximately 5.3% in 2006 and 4.5% in 2005,|evttie regiors per capita gross domestic product is estimatddhve risen k
approximately 3.8% in 2006. According to data frtm International Monetary Fund, in the sw@gions we serve gross dome
product rose in 2006 (in real terms) by approxityafe8% in the Mercosur countries, 7.3% in the Amdeegion, 5.7% in Cent
America, 4.1% in North America and 5.2% in the 6hean, with each region continuing to build on gaimade during 2005
approximately 4.2% in the Mercosur countries, 6.i8%he Andean region, 3.8% in Central America, 3.BNorth America an
5.9% in the Caribbean. As is often the case, tgmnal economic performance was closely tied toetiggments in the internatior
economy. World economic activity increased in 20@8ulting in estimated global GDP growth of appmmately 5.4% (versus 4.9
in 2005). In recent years, the Panamanian econamsyclosely tracked the Latin American economy aghale, and in 2006 tl
Panamanian economy grew in real terms by approrimn&. 1% (versus 6.9% in 2005), according to thierlmational Monetal
Fund’s estimates. Inflation in Panama rose approxima&&fo in 2006 (versus 2.9% in 2005). Additionathe Colombian econon
has experienced relatively stable growth. Accordimghe International Monetary Fund estimates, Glmdombian gross domes
product grew by approximately 4.9% in 2004, 5.39%2005 and 6.8% in 2006, with inflation (as indichtey the consumer pri
index) rising by approximately 5.9% in 2004, 5.092D05 and 4.3% in 2006.

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from passengeanspartation which represents approximately 94% wf @venues, wi
approximately 6% derived from cargo and other reresn

We recognize passenger revenue when transporiatimovided and when unused tickets expire. Passemgenues reflect t
capacity of our aircraft on the routes we fly, Idadtor and yield. Our capacity is measured in seahavailable seat miles (ASh
which represents the number of seats availableusraicraft multiplied by the number of miles theats are flown. Our usage
measured in terms of revenue passenger miles (RRMigh is the number of revenue passengers matpliy the miles the
passengers fly. Load factor, or the percentageuofcapacity that is actually used by paying custsmis calculated by dividir
RPMs by ASMs. Yield is the average amount that pagsenger pays to fly one mile. We use a combimatiapproaches, taki
into account yields, flight load factors and effeon load factors of connecting traffic, dependdngthe characteristics of the marl
served, to arrive at a strategy for achieving thet lpossible revenue per available seat mile, bimgrthe average fare charg
against the corresponding effect on our load factor

We recognize cargo revenue when transportatiomagigied. Our other revenue consists primarily ofess baggage charcg
ticket change fees and charter flights.

Overall demand for our passenger and cargo serischighly dependent on the regional economic @mment in which w
operate, including the GDP of the countries we esewd the disposable income of the residents afetltountries. We believe tl
approximately 50% of our passengers travel at ligagart for business reasons, and the growth tediegional trade greatly affe
that portion of our business. The remaining 50%wfpassengers are tourists or travelers visitiegds and family.
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The following table sets forth our capacity, loadtbr and yields for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2004 2005 2006
Copa Segmer
Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior 3,639.¢ 4,408.¢ 5,239.:
Load factor 70.(% 73.4% 77.%
Yield (in cents) 14.31 14.41 15.4¢
AeroRe|lblica Segmer(1)
Capacity (in available seat miles, in millior — 950.t 1,627..
Load factor — 62.(% 57.%
Yield (in cents)(2 — 16.5: 17.7¢

(1) Since April 22, 2005

(2) AeroRepublica has not historically distindwed between revenue passengers andrenmgnue passengers. While we
implementing systems at AeroRdgiia to record that information, revenue passemgfermation and other statistics deri
from revenue passenger data for the year endednibee31, 2005 has been derived from estimatesvikabelieve to k
materially accurate

Seasonality

Generally, our revenues from and profitability afr dlights peak during the northern hemisphgreimmer season in July i
August and again during the December and Janudigalycseason. Given our high proportion of fixedtso this seasonality is like
to cause our results of operations to vary fronrigudo quarter.

Operating Expenses

The main components of our operating expenses iaceafa fuel, salaries and benefits, passengerigag; commission:
aircraft maintenance, reservations and sales anchfiirent. A common measure of per unit costthaairline industry is cost [
available seat mile (CASM), which is generally defi as operating expenses divided by ASMs.

Aircraft fuel. The price we pay for aircraft fuel varies signifitig from country to country primarily due to locxes. Whil
we purchase aircraft fuel at all the airports toickhwe fly, we attempt to negotiate fueling contsawith companies that havi
multinational presence in order to benefit fromwok purchases. During 2006, as a result of theitotaf its hub, Copa purchas
approximately 50% of its aircraft fuel in Panamdyene it was able to obtain better prices due taiwel discounts. Copa has ¢
eleven suppliers of aircraft fuel across its nekwvdn some cases we tanker fuel in order to mingngar cost by fueling in airpo
where fuel prices are lowest. Our aircraft fuel enxges are variable and fluctuate based on globptioes. From 2002 to 2006, |
average price of West Texas Intermediate crudeaolenchmark widely used for crude oil prices tsameasured in barrels
quoted in U.S. dollars, increased by 153% from $2er barrel to $66.28 per barrel. Historically kave not hedged a signific
portion of our fuel costs. We entered into hedgiggeements with respect to approximately 19% offoeirneeds for 2006, 27%
2007 and approximately 6% of our projected fueldseéor the first six months of 2008. During 200&heTCompany beg:
accounting for these derivatives as cash flow hedgefinancial reporting purposes. They are reedrdt fair value as a compon
of prepayments and other current assets or othiegrduiabilities in the accompanying ConsolidaBalance Sheets with the offse
“Accumulated other comprehensive losaét of hedge ineffectiveness, and recognized asngpaonent of fuel expense when
underlying fuel being hedged is used. Hedge in&ffecess included in “Other non-operating incomgénse)”in the Consolidate
Statement of Income in 2006 was ($0.7) million. Qoss related to fuel hedging instruments includtechircraft fuel in ou
Consolidated Statement of Income was ($3.1) miliior2006. We may enter into additional hedging egrents in the futur
Although AeroRepublica does not currently have dgiveg policy, we may implement one in the future.
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Aircraft Fuel Data

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Copa Segmer
Average price per gallon of jet fuel into

plane (excluding hedge) (in U.S.

dollars) $ 0.8¢€ $ 1.01 $ 1.32 $ 1.81 $ 2.1C
Gallons consumed (in thousant 44,78¢ 48,44+ 50,83 58,92« 70,77(
Available seat miles (in millions 2,847 3,22¢ 3,63¢ 4,40¢ 5,23¢
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth 1.57 1.5C 1.4C 1.34 1.3¢
AeroRe|lblica (1)
Average price per gallon of jet fuel in

plane (excluding hedge) (in U.S.

dollars) — — — $ 2.12 $ 2.2¢
Gallons consumed (in thousant — — — 17,881 28,32:
Available seat miles (in millions — — — 95( 1,62
Gallons per ASM (in hundredth — — — 1.8¢ 1.74

(1) Since April 22, 2005

Salaries and benefit§alaries and benefits expenses have historicathg@sed at the rate of inflation and by the growtthe
number of our employees. In some cases, we haustadjsalaries of our employees to corresponddog#s in the cost of living
the countries where these employees work. We dinngase salaries based on seniority.

Passenger servicing expens€sir passenger servicing expenses consist of expdosdability insurance, baggage handl
catering, inflight entertainment and other costs related toraft and airport services. These expenses areaneirectly related t
the number of passengers we carry or the numbiégbfs we operate.

CommissionsOur commission expenses consist primarily of payséor ticket sales made by travel agents and casion:
paid to credit card companies. Travel agents reckase commissions, not including ba&eid incentive programs, ranging from
to 9% depending on the country. The weighted aerate for these commissions during 2006 was 5B3ting the last few yea
we have reduced our commission expense per avasaalt mile as a result of an industrgle trend of paying lower commission:
travel agencies and by increasing the proportioaurfsales made through direct channels. We estpictrend to continue as mi
of our customers become accustomed to purchasinggh call centers and through the internet. Winitgeasing direct sales
increase the commissions we pay to credit card eoiep, we expect that the savings from the corredipg reduction in trav
agency commissions will more than offset this iase= In recent years, base commissions paid teltemyents have decrea
significantly. At the same time, we have encouragexlel agencies to move from standard base cononsgo incentiv
compensation based on sales volume and fare types.

Maintenance, material and repair expens@sir maintenance, material and repair expensesstarfsaircraft repair and charg
related to light and heavy maintenance of our aftcincluding maintenance materials. Maintenarnoe @pair expenses, includ
overhaul of aircraft components, are charged toaijmg expenses as incurred. With an average agalpf3.9 years as of May &
2007, our Copa fleet requires a low level of maiatece compared to the older fleets of some of ompetitors. We also curren
incur lower maintenance expenses on our Boeing=amidraer aircraft because a significant number ofaineraft parts remain unc
multi-year warranties. As the age of our fleet increasebwhen our warranties expire, our maintenanceresgs will increase. V
only conduct line maintenance internally and outseuheavy maintenance to independent third partytractors. In 2003, v
negotiated with GE Engine Services a maintenansé per hour program for the repair and maintenariceur CFM56 engine
which power our Boeing 737 Next Generation fleair &gine maintenance costs are also aided byetdese| elevation of our ht
and the use of winglets which allow us to operh&edngines on our Boeing 7300s with lower thrust, thus putting less strairtio
engines.

Line maintenance for AeroRepublica’s MD-80s and Eambfleet is performed by AeroRepublica’shiouse maintenance sti
Heavy maintenance for the MD-80s is performed byAFegrtified thirdparty aviation maintenance companies. The averggeo
AeroRepublica’s fleet as of May 31, 2007 was 13%ary.

Aircraft rent. Our aircraft rental expenses are generally fixedHgyterms of our operating lease agreements. @iyresix of
Copa’ operating leases have fixed rates which areulmést to fluctuations in interest rates and theeaéh is tied to LIBOR. All ¢
AeroRepublicas operating leases have fixed rates which areutgést to fluctuations in interest rates. Our aftrent expense al
includes rental payments related to our wet-leasfrfgeighter aircraft to supplement our cargo epiens.
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Reservations and sales expend@sr reservations and sales expenses arise prinfaoitly payments to global distributi
systems, such as Amadeus and Sabre, that listight éfferings on reservation systems around tloeldv These reservation syste
tend to raise their rates periodically, but we expkat if we are successful in encouraging outarusrs to purchase tickets throi
our direct sales channels, these costs will deeraasa percentage of our operating costs. A podfoour reservations and se
expense is also comprised of our licensing paynfenthie SHARES reservation and chenknanagement software we use, whic
not expected to change significantly from periogésiod.

Flight operationsandlanding fees and other rentadse generally directly related to the number aftits we operate.

Other include publicity and promotion expenses, expemstgted to our cargo operations, technology relatéthtives ani
miscellaneous other expenses.

Taxes

We are subject to income tax in Panama based oprtheiple of territoriality. Beginning in 2004, wadopted an altern:
method of calculating tax in Panama. Based on Wkrti@1 of Executive Decree 170 of 1993, as amendet®96, income fc
international transportation companies is calcdldtased on a territoriality method that determigpess revenues earned in Pan
by applying the percentage of miles flown withire tRanamanian territory against total revenues. ttide method, loss carry-
forwards cannot be applied to offset tax liabiliBrior to 2004, our Panamanian taxable income wtated using revenues fr
passengers originating in or destined for Pananiahatigpically resulted in losses for purposes afidaanian corporate income 1
Dividends from our Panamanian subsidiaries, inclgdCopa, are separately subject to a ten percenf tuch dividends can |
shown to be derived from Panamanian income thahbBbeen otherwise taxed.

We are also subject to local tax regulations irhezfcthe jurisdictions where we operate, the greajority of which are relate
to the taxation of our income. In some of the cdastto which we fly, we do not pay any income sbecause we do not gene
income under the laws of those countries eitheanbge they do not have income tax or due to treatiegher arrangements th
countries have with Panama. In the remaining c@sitwe pay income tax at a rate ranging from 26%35% of our incomr
attributable to those countries. Different courgalculate our income in different ways, but taey typically derived from our sa
in the applicable country multiplied by our net igiar or by a presumed net margin set by the relevaxtlegislation. Th
determination of our taxable income in several ¢toes is based on a combination of revenues sourcedch particular country a
the allocation of expenses to that particular cgurithe methodology for multinational transportaticompany sourcing of rever
and expense is not always specifically prescrilvethé relevant tax regulations, and therefore Ifesu to interpretation by bc
ourselves and the respective tax authorities. Aafditly, in some countries, the applicability ofrtaén regulations governing non-
income taxes and the determination of our filirgfiss are also subject to interpretation. We caastinate the amount, if any, of
potential tax liabilities that might result if thelocations, interpretations and filing positiong wse in preparing our income
returns were challenged by the tax authorities é or more countries. It is possible that we magobee subject to tax
jurisdictions in which, for prior years, we had m&en subject to tax and that, in the future, wg berome subject to increased te
in the countries to which we fly.

Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a biateigreement between Panama and the United Stateare exempt fro
the U.S. source transportation income tax derivechfthe international operation of aircraft.

AeroRepublica’s taxes are based on Colombian indaméegislation which calculates tax based onhilgher of the “ordinary”
and “presumptive” income. “Ordinary” income is defd as the compars/’ operating results under Colombian GAAP,
“presumptive” income is defined as 6% of net assatter Colombian GAAP.

We paid taxes totaling approximately $4.3 millior2i004, $7.4 million in 2005 and $11.3 million iGd5.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires our ragament to ado
accounting policies and make estimates and judgmientievelop amounts reported in our consolidatean€tial statements a
related notes. We strive to maintain a procesgv@w the application of our accounting policiesl 4o evaluate the appropriater
of the estimates required for the preparation afamnsolidated financial statements. We believé dba estimates and judgments
reasonable; however, actual results and the tiringecognition of such amounts could differ fronosk estimates. In additic
estimates routinely require adjustments based angihg circumstances and the receipt of new oebgttormation.
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Critical accounting policies and estimates arergfias those that are reflective of significangjudnts and uncertainties ¢
potentially result in materially different resultsxder different assumptions and conditions. Forisgsusdsion of these and ot
accounting policies, see Note 1 to our annual dateted financial statements.

Revenue recognitiorRPassenger revenue is recognized witansportation is provided rather than when a tigkesold. Th
amount of passenger ticket sales not yet recogragedvenue is reflected in the “Air traffic liabil' line on our consolidated balatr
sheet. Fares for tickets that have expired andéommre than one year old are recognized as passengnue upon expiration.

Cargo and mail services revenue are recognized wiemprovide the shipping services and thereby cetapthe earnir
process. Other revenue is primarily comprised afees baggage charges, commissions earned on taidt$or flights on othe
airlines and charter flights and is recognized winansportation or service is provided.

Frequent flyer programWe participate in Continental’s frequent flyer praign “OnePass,through which our passeng
receive all the benefits and privileges offeredthg OnePass program. Continental is responsibleh®radministration of tt
OnePass program. Under the terms of our frequgat Bigreement with Continental, OnePass membegvee©nePass freque
flyer mileage credits for travel on Copa and Aerpétdica, and we pay Continental a per mile rate fmhemileage credit granted
Continental, at which point we have no further gation. The amounts due to Continental under tipiseament are expensed by u
the mileage credits are earned.

Goodwill and indefinite-lived purchased intangilalesetsWe review goodwill and purchased intangible asaatis indefinite
lives, all of which relate to our acquisition of W&epudlica, for impairment annually and whenever eveoischanges i
circumstances indicate the carrying value of aetasgy not be recoverable in accordance with Setérof Financial Accountir
Standard No. 14Z500dwill and Other Intangible Asset$SFAS No. 142”). The provisions of SFAS No. 142uae that a twestef
impairment test be performed on goodwill. In thestfistep, we compare the fair value of the AeroRépd reporting unit to it
carrying value. If the fair value of the AeroRéfia reporting unit exceeds the carrying valueitefnet assets, goodwill is r
impaired and we are not required to perform furtiesting. If the carrying value of the net assétdhe AeroReplilica reporting un
exceeds its fair value, then we must perform tloese step of the impairment test in order to deieenthe implied fair value of tl
AeroRepublica reporting ung’goodwill. If the carrying value of the goodwilkaeeds its implied fair value, then we recorc
impairment loss equal to the difference. SFAS N2 &lso requires that the fair value of the purebamtangible assets w
indefinite lives be estimated and compared to #reying value. We recognize an impairment loss witenestimated fair value
the intangible asset is less than the carryingevalletermining the fair value of a reporting unitam indefinitelived purchase
intangible asset is judgmental in nature and ine®hthe use of significant estimates and assumptibhese estimates &
assumptions include revenue growth rates and dpgratargins used to calculate projected future ¢ksbs, riskadjusted discou
rates, future economic and market conditions, aidrchination of appropriate market comparables.ba&e our fair value estima
on assumptions we believe to be reasonable buatkainpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actualre results may differ fro
those estimates.
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Maintenance and repair costMaintenance and repair costs for owned and ledggd £quipment, including the overhaul
aircraft components, are charged to operating eqweras incurred. Engine overhaul costs covered dwepby-thehoul
arrangements are paid and expensed as incurratiedrasis of hours flown per the contract. Undertdrms of our power-by-the-
hour agreements, we pay a set dollar amount peinerwur flown on a monthly basis and the thpatty vendor assumes
obligation to repair the engines at no additiomtdo us, subject to certain specified exclusions.

Additionally, although our aircraft lease agreemsesypecifically provide that we, as lessee, areamsiple for maintenance
the leased aircraft, we do, under certain of ousting lease agreements, pay maintenance resenasctaft and engine lessors 1
are to be applied towards the cost of future maartee events. These reserves are calculated basegerformance measure, s
as flight hours, and are specifically to be usetetmburse thirdparty providers that furnish services in connectigth maintenanc
of our leased aircraft. If there are sufficientdsnon deposit to pay the invoices submitted, theypaid. However, if amounts
deposit are insufficient to cover the invoices, mast cover the shortfall because, as noted aboegeare legally responsible -
maintaining the lease aircraft. Under four of ouistng aircraft lease agreements, if there areegx@amounts on deposit at
expiration of the lease, the lessor is entitledetain any excess amounts. The maintenance regeaigsinder our lease agreem:
do not transfer either the obligation to maintdie &ircraft or the cost risk associated with thénteaance activities to the airct
lessor. In addition, we maintain the right to selaay thirdparty maintenance providers. Therefore, we rechesd amounts
prepaid maintenance within Other Assets on ournoa&lasheet and then recognize maintenance expense thk underlyin
maintenance is performed, in accordance with ount@aance accounting policy. Any excess amountsiredl by the lessor upon
expiration of the lease, which are not expectethdomaterial, would be recognized as additionalraftaental expense wher
becomes probable that we would not benefit fronfh®xcess, mostly at expiration of the lease.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardar@adssued Interpretation No. 48\c¢counting for Uncertainty in Incon
Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 10%IN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty imcome taxe
recognized in financial statements. FIN 48 requtresimpact of a tax position to be recognizedhia financial statements if tt
position is more likely than not of being sustaingebn examination by the taxing authority. FIN 48eifective for fiscal yea
beginning after December 15, 2006. The cumulatifece of applying the provisions of FIN 48, if anwill be reported as
adjustment to the opening balance of retained egsnin 2007. We are currently evaluating the regnéents of FIN 48 and its eff
on our consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 16t Value Measurements(“SFAS 157"). SFAS 157 defines fair valt
establishes a framewaork for measuring fair valuganerally accepted accounting principles, and eapalisclosures about fair va
measurements. The provisions of this standard applyther accounting pronouncements that requirepemmit fair valu
measurements. SFAS 157 becomes effective for $halfyears beginning after November 15, 2007. Ugmoption, the provisions
SFAS 157 are to be applied prospectively with @diexceptions. The Company is currently evaluatimgpotential impact, if an
that the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on the otidated financial position or results of operaton

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 15%he Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Final Liabilities ”. The
standard allows entities to voluntarily choosescified election dates, to measure many finamsséts and financial liabilities
well as certain non-financial instruments thatsinailar to financial instruments) at fair valuedttfair value option”).The election i
made on an instrument-bgstrument basis and is irrevocable. If the faitueaoption is elected for an instrument, the State
specifies that all subsequent changes in fair vidu¢hat instrument shall be reported in earnir®SAS 159 becomes effective
the fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007e Company is currently evaluating the potentigpact, if any, that tr
adoption of SFAS 159 will have on the consoliddtedncial position or results of operations.
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Results of Operation

The following table shows each of the line item®um income statements for the periods indicated psrcentage of our to
operating revenues for that period:

Year Ended December 31

2004 2005 2006
Operating revenues:
Passenger reven 91.2% 92.6% 93.%%
Cargo, mail and othe 8.8% 7.4% 6.1%
Total 100.% 100.(% 100.(%
Operating expense
Aircraft fuel (15.6% (24.5% (25.6%
Salaries and benefi (12.9% (11.5% (10.9)%
Passenger servicir (9.89% (8.9% (7.€)%
Commissions (7.9% (7.9% (6.9%
Reservation and sal (5.5)% (4.9% (4.5%
Maintenance, materials and reps (4.9% (5.9% (5.9%
Depreciatior (4.89% (3.9% (2.9%
Flight operation: (4.5% (4.1)% (4.0%
Aircraft rentals (3.6% (4.5)% (4.5%
Landing fees and other rent: (3.0% (2.9% (2.9%
Other (7.9% (5.9% (5.9%
Total (79.9% (82.1)% (80.5%
Operating incom: 20.€% 17.%% 19.5%
Non-operating income (expense
Interest expens (4.1)% (3.6% (3.9%
Interest capitalize 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
Interest incomt 0.4% 0.6% 0.€%
Other, ne 1.5% 0.1% 0.C%
Total (2.00% (2.7% (2.9%
Income/(loss) before income tax 18.€% 15.2% 17.2%
Income taxe: (1.4% (1.€)% (1.9%
Net income 17.1% 13.6% 15.7%

(1) Includes results from our AeroRublica segment for the period from April 22, 2003tecember 31, 200!
Year 2006 Compared to Year 2005

Our consolidated net income in 2006 totaled $1881Bon, a 61.3% increase over net income of $88illion in 2005. We ha
consolidated operating income of $166.1 million2B06, a 52.1% increase over operating income 0B 1Million in 2005. Ol
consolidated operating margin in 2006 was 19.5%inerease of 1.6 percentage points over an opegratiargin of 17.9% in 200
primarily as a result of overall operating experngesving slower than operating revenue.

Operating revenue

Our consolidated revenue totaled $851.2 millio20@6, a 39.9% increase over operating revenue @8.86nillion in 2005 du
to increases in our Copa segmentassenger and cargo revenues, and the full ffeat ef the consolidation of operating reve
from our AeroRepublica segment, acquired on Ail 2005.

Copa segment operating revenue

Copas’ operating revenue totaled $676.2 million in 20083.7% increase over operating revenue of $508lidn in 2005 du
to increases in both passenger and cargo revenues.

Passenger revenuePassenger revenue totaled $631.1 million in 200635a4% increase over passenger revent
$466.1 million in 2005. This increase resulted ity from the addition of capacity (ASMs increasby 18.8% in 2006
compared to 2005) that resulted from an increasgepartures and, to a lesser extent, longer avestage length. Revenues ¢
increased due to our higher overall load factoadléactor increased from 73.4% in 2005 to 77.8%066) during the period and
simultaneous increase in passenger yield, whioh logs7.5% to 15.49 cents in 20(
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Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other totaled $45.0 million in 20@613.7% increase over cargo, mail and oth
$39.6 million in 2005. This increase was primatfig result of higher cargo revenue resulting franirerease in belly space capa
available, and to a lesser extent higher otheraijmgy revenue from excess baggage fees.

AeroRepublica segment operating revenue

AeroRepublicas operating revenue totaled $175.9 million in 2086, increase of $72.9 million over operating re\em
$103.0 million registered during 2005 primarilyrasult of the full year effect of the consolidatiohits results since it was acqui
on April 22, 2005.

Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $688lion in 2006, a 37.2% increase over operatingemses of $499.4 millic
in 2005 that was primarily attributable to the gtbwf our operations, higher fuel costs, and thieykar effect of the consolidation
AeroRepublica.

In 2006, our operating expenses per available redatexcluding aircraft fuel was 6.81 cents, a 4.@ffrease over operati
expenses per available seat mile excluding airéuait of 6.53 cents in 2005. Aircraft fuel per dahie seat mile was 3.17 cent:
2006, compared to 2.79 cents in 2005. In 2006 tatat operating expenses per available seat mike %@8 cents, a 7.1% incre
over operating expenses per available seat me3@f cents in 2005.

An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $217.7 million in 2006, a 8% increase over aircraft fuel of $149.3 million2805. Thi:
increase was primarily a result of higher fuel spstigher fuel consumption, and the full year dffet the consolidation
AeroRepublica.

Salaries and benefitsSalaries and benefits totaled $91.4 million in 208631.1% increase over salaries and benef
$69.7 million in 2005. This increase was primardyresult of an overall increase in headcount ardftili year effect of th
consolidation of AeroRepublica.

Passenger servicingPassenger servicing totaled $64.4 million in 208627.2% increase over passenger servicir
$50.6 million in 2005. This increase was primardyresult of an increase in Copa’s capacity, anemse in Copa’s ohearc
passengers, and the full year effect of the codatitin of AeroRepublica.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $57.8 million in 2006, a 28.R#rease over commissions of $45.1 million in 200Bis
increase was primarily a result of higher passemgenue and the full year effect of the consolatabf AeroRepublica.

Maintenance, materials and repaifslaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $50liomiin 2006, a 54.0% increase o
maintenance, materials and repairs of $32.5 mililor2005. This increase was primarily a result abren overhaul events
AeroRepublica and the full year effect of the cditkstion of AeroRepublica.

The remaining operating expenses totaled $203Ifomih 2006, an increase of $51.5 million in 2006.
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Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per avail@aemsile is as follows:

Year Ended December 31, Percent
2005 2006 Change
(in cents)
Operating Expenses per ASM
Salaries and benefi 1.3 1.4% 7.2%
Passenger servicir 1.0z 1.0z 0.€%
Commissions 0.81 0.77 (4.9%
Reservation and sal 0.57 0.5¢ 1.3%
Maintenance, materials and reps 0.4¢ 0.52 8.2%
Depreciatior 0.44 0.4t 3.8%
Flight operation: 0.5C 0.54 9.2%
Aircraft rentals 0.5C 0.4¢€ (9.2%
Landing fees and other rent: 0.34 0.3t 4.£%
Other 0.62 0.64 1.€%
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 6.62 6.7¢ 2.4%
Aircraft fuel 2.52 2.9¢ 17.1%
Total operating expenses per AS 9.1: 9.7: 6.5%

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $154.3 million in 2006, a 2% increase over aircraft fuel of $110.9 million2005. Thi:
increase was primarily a result of a 16.7% increadbe allin average price per gallon of jet fuel ($2.14 008 compared to $1.
in 2005) and the consumption of 20.1% more fuel tua 17.7% increase in departures and an incrieaaeerage stage leng
Aircraft fuel per available seat mile increasedapproximately 16.9% due to the increase in avefagjecost per gallon.

Salaries and benefitsSalaries and benefits totaled $74.9 million in 208627.4% increase over salaries and benef
$58.8 million in 2005. This increase was mainlyeault of an overall increase in operating headctmstupport increased capau
deployed during the year as well as during 200ateiased profit sharing expenses and the effed¢teottock compensation progr
that was implemented pursuant to the Compamyitial public offering. Salaries and benefits pevailable seat mile increased
7.2%.

Passenger servicingPassenger servicing totaled $54.2 million in 2086,19.9% increase over passenger servicir
$45.2 million in 2005. This increase was primaglyesult of Copa’s 18.8% increase in capacity antherease of 21.0% in doearc
passengers. Passenger servicing per availablendeancreased by 0.9%.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $40.4 million in 2006, a 13.B#rease over commissions of $35.6 million in 200Bis
increase was primarily a result of higher passemgeenue partially offset by lower average commissiate. Commissions f
available seat mile decreased by 4.4%.

Reservations and saleReservations and sales totaled $30.5 million in62@020.4% increase over reservations and sa
$25.3 million in 2005. This increase was primaiyresult of a 25.2% increase in charges relategldbal distribution systen
resulting from a 21.0% increase in board passengers and a 3.6% increase in average Raservations and sales expense
available seat mile increased by 1.3%.

Maintenance, materials and repaislaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $27lomiin 2006, a 28.6% increase o
maintenance, materials and repairs of $21.3 millioA005. This increase was primarily a result afrenflight hours and additior
materials and repairs related to the Boeing 73788&. Maintenance, materials and repair per abkglaeat mile increased by 8.3%.

Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $23.7 million in 2006, a $milion increase over depreciation of $19.2 million2005, as
result of higher depreciation attributable to ocqusition of two new Embraer 190 aircraft in 2068e new Embraer 190 aircraft
2006 and two new Boeing 737-700 aircraft in 2008pi2ciation per available seat mile increased 8%63.

Aircraft rentals.Aircraft rentals totaled $23.8 million in 2006, ®% increase over aircraft rentals of $22.1 millior2005. Thi:

increase was a result of the full year effect 0b tadditional leased Boeing 73ext Generation aircraft in February 2005
May 2005. Aircraft rentals per available seat ndiéereased by 9.2%.
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Flight operationsandlanding fees and other rental€ombined, flight operations and landing fees artkiotentals increas
from $36.8 million in 2005 to $46.9 million in 200Brimarily as a result of Copa’s 18.8% increasedpacity.

Other. Other expenses totaled $33.4 million in 2006, d@%lincrease over other expenses of $27.5 millior20A5. Thi:
increase was primarily a result of an increasenef@ass frequent flyer miles earned by customeiaglthie period, as well as higl
implementation fees related to the internal costrelquirements of the Sarbar@sley Act. Other expenses per available seat
increased by 1.9%.

AeroRepublica segment operating expenses

AeroRepublicas operating expenses totaled $176.3 million in 2006 increase of $79.5 million over operating rexemn
$96.8 million reported during 2005 primarily asuk®f the full year effect of the consolidation itd results since it was acquirec
April 22, 2005.

Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating expenses totaled0$adlion in 2006, a 20.5% increase over raperating expenses
$16.6 million in 2005, attributable primarily todfier interest expense.

Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating expense totaled $11.1 million in 2006.6.1% decrease over noperating expense of $13.2 million in 2C
attributable primarily to higher interest incomaladrigher other non-operating income partially dftsg higher interest expense.

Interest expensénterest expense totaled $26.9 million in 20068%% increase over interest expense of $19.4 millic005
primarily resulting from the full year effect ofdéHinancing related to aircraft purchased in 2@@5well as the effect of the financ
related to aircraft purchased in 2006. The aveedfgrtive interest rates on our debt also incredsed@4 basis points from 4.5(
during 2005 to 5.24% during 2006. At peris@nd, approximately 57% of our outstanding dels fixeed at an average effective i
of 4.66%.

Interest capitalizedinterest capitalized totaled $1.7 million in 20@657.1% increase over interest capitalized of #iilllon in
2005, resulting from higher average debt balanieing to pre-delivery payments on aircraft.

Interest incomelnterest income totaled $6.9 million in 2006, a 084 increase over interest income of $3.4 millinr2D05
This increase was mainly a result of our higheragye cash balance over the year and higher intexiest during the period.

Other, netOther, net income totaled $7.2 million in 2006,5a5million increase over other, net income of $tilfion in 2005
This increase was primarily the result of lower sienurring expense related to our initial publiteahg in 2005.

Year 2005 Compared to Year 2004

Our consolidated net income 2005 totaled $83.0anilla 21.0% increase over net income of $68.Ganilin 2004. We he
consolidated operating income of $109.2 million2i@05, a 32.6% increase over operating income of3p@@lion in 2004. OL
consolidated operating margin in 2005 was 17.9%e@ease of 2.7 percentage points over an openatargin of 20.6% in 200
primarily as a result of higher fuel prices and consolidation of AeroRepublica’s results fromatsjuisition on April 22, 2005.

Operating revenue
Our consolidated revenue totaled $608.6 millio2®5, a 52.2% increase over operating revenue @3.83million in 2004 du

to increases in our Copa segmerassenger and cargo revenues, and the consmliadt$103.0 million in operating revenues fi
our AeroRepublica segment.
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Copa segment operating revenue

Copas’ operating revenue totaled $505.7 million in 20026.5% increase over operating revenue of $388l®n in 2004 du
to increases in both passenger and cargo revenues.

Passenger revenuePassenger revenue totaled $466.1 million in 200527a8% increase over passenger revent
$364.6 million in 2004. This increase resulted ity from the addition of capacity (ASMs increasbyd 21.1% in 2005
compared to 2004) that resulted from an increaskepartures and, to a lesser extent, longer avestage length and the additior
larger aircraft. Revenues also increased due tdigiver overall load factor (load factor increa$emn 70.0% in 2004 to 73.4%
2005) during the period and the simultaneous irseréa passenger yield, which rose by 0.7% to 1defits in 2005.

Cargo, mail and otherCargo, mail and other totaled $39.6 million in 208512.4% increase over cargo, mail and oth
$35.2 million in 2004. This increase was primatfig result of higher cargo revenue resulting franirerease in belly space capa
available, and to a lesser extent higher otheraijmgy revenue from excess baggage fees.

AeroRepublica segment operating revenue

Since April 22, 2005, the date on which we begansobdating AeroRepublica’s results, AeroRbfia generated operati
revenues of $103.0 million.

Operating expenses

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $488lién in 2005, a 57.3% increase over operatingemses of $317.5 millic
in 2004 that was primarily attributable to the gtbvef our operations, higher fuel costs, and thesotidation of $96.8 million i
operating expenses from our AeroRepublica segment.

In 2005, our operating expenses per available mdatexcluding aircraft fuel was 6.53 cents, a 6.@@trease over operat
expenses per available seat mile excluding airéuait of 7.01 cents in 2004. Aircraft fuel per dahie seat mile was 2.79 cent:
2005, compared to 1.72 cents in 2004. In 2005, tatat operating expenses per available seat mike %82 cents, a 6.8% incre
over operating expenses per available seat mie7@f cents in 2004.

An overview of the major variances on a consoliddtasis follows:

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $149.3 million in 2005, a 1386 increase over aircraft fuel of $62.5 million2004. Thi:
increase was primarily a result of higher fuel spshigher fuel consumption, and the consolidatidn $88.4 million ir
AeroRepublica’s aircraft fuel expenses.

Salaries and benefitsSalaries and benefits totaled $69.7 million in 208534.9% increase over salaries and benef
$51.7 million in 2004. This increase was primaalyesult of an overall increase in headcount aadcctinsolidation of $11.0 millic
in AeroRepublica salaries and benefits expenses.

Passenger servicingPassenger servicing totaled $50.6 million in 208529.1% increase over passenger servicir
$39.2 million in 2004. This increase was primardyresult of an increase in Copa’s capacity, anemse in Copa’s ohearc
passengers, and the consolidation of $5.5 miliibA@roRepublica passenger servicing expenses.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $45.1 million in 2005, a 55.itrease over commissions of $29.1 million in 20TKis
increase was primarily a result of higher passemgeenue and the consolidation of $9.5 million ierdRepiblica commissio
expenses.

The remaining operating expenses totaled $184lomih 2005, an increase of $49.7 million in 2004 which $32.4 milliol
corresponded to the consolidation of AeroRepublica.
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Copa segment operating expenses

The breakdown of operating expenses per avail@aemsile is as follows:

Year Ended December 31, Percent
2004 2005 Change
(in cents)
Operating Expenses per ASM
Salaries and benefi 1.4z 1.3¢ (6.2)%
Passenger servicir 1.0¢ 1.0z (4.9%
Commission: 0.8C 0.81 1.C%
Reservation and sal 0.61 0.57 (5.6)%
Maintenance, materials and reps 0.54 0.4¢ (10.8%
Depreciatior 0.5z 0.44 (17.6©%
Flight operation: 0.4¢ 0.5C 1.C%
Aircraft rentals 0.4C 0.5C 26.2%
Landing fees and other rent: 0.3: 0.34 0.€%
Other 0.81 0.62 (22.4)%
Total operating expenses per ASM before aircradt 7.01 6.62 (5.5%
Aircraft fuel 1.72 2.52 46.2%
Total operating expenses per AS 8.72 9.1: 4.7%

Aircraft fuel. Aircraft fuel totaled $110.9 million in 2005, a 3% increase over aircraft fuel of $62.5 million 2004. Thit
increase was primarily a result of a 54.0% incraasthe average price per gallon of jet fuel ($1i842005 compared to $1.19
2004) and the consumption of 15.9% more fuel dua 10.8% increase in departures and an increaseeirage stage length. Th
increases were partially offset by our newer, mtuel-efficient aircraft. Aircraft fuel per available geanile increased [
approximately 46.3% due to the increase in avefiagjecost per gallon.

Salaries and benefitsSalaries and benefits totaled $58.8 million in 208513.7% increase over salaries and benef
$51.7 million in 2004. This increase was primaalyesult of an overall increase of 12.5% in headtati period end in 2005 ver:
the same period end in 2004, mainly to cover irsirdaperations. Salaries and benefits per avaitgaemile decreased by 6.2%.

Passenger servicingPassenger servicing totaled $45.2 million in 208515.2% increase over passenger servicir
$39.2 million in 2004. This increase was primaglyesult of Copa’s 21.1% increase in capacity antherease of 20.2% in doearc
passengers. Passenger servicing per availablenieadecreased by 4.9% as a result of fixed caositsgospread over a higher num
of available seat miles.

CommissionsCommissions totaled $35.6 million in 2005, a 22.B#rease over commissions of $29.1 million in 20TKis
increase was primarily a result of higher passengernue. Commissions per available seat mile &sar@ by 1.0%.

Reservations and saleReservations and sales totaled $25.3 million in52@014.4% increase over reservations and sa
$22.1 million in 2004. This increase was primaiyresult of a 31.3% increase in charges relategldbal distribution systen
resulting from a 20.1% increase in board passengers and a 9.5% increase in average Reservations and sales expense
available seat mile decreased by 5.6%.

Maintenance, materials and repairsaintenance, materials and repairs totaled $21lBmiin 2005, a 8.1% increase o
maintenance, materials and repairs of $19.7 millilo2004. This decrease was a result of lower cudrhelated costs and lov
average maintenance costs due to the replacemémt older Boeing 73200s. Maintenance, materials and repair per avaeilsds
mile decreased by 10.8% primarily as a result efltlwer cost associated with the newer Boeing 78xtKseneration fleet.
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Depreciation.Depreciation totaled $19.2 million in 2005, a ngifiie decrease over depreciation of $19.3 millim2004, as tt
higher depreciation attributable to our acquisitogdriwo new Embraer 190 aircraft in 2005 was péytiaffset by lower depreciatic
expenses related to non-aircraft related assefwebiation per available seat mile decreased h§oa7.

Aircraft rentals. Aircraft rentals totaled $22.1 million in 2005, 8.6% increase over aircraft rentals of $14.4 millin 2004
This increase was a result of three additionalddaBoeing 73MNext Generation aircraft in December 2004, Febr2®g5 an
May 2005. Aircraft rentals per available seat niilereased by 26.3% as a result of the higher aecleage rate of the three airc
received.

Flight operationsandlanding fees and other rental€ombined, flight operations and landing fees arkiotentals increas
from $30.1 million in 2004 to $36.8 million in 200primarily as a result of Copa’s 21.1% increasedpacity.

Other.Other expenses totaled $27.5 million in 2005, &Bd&crease over other expenses of $29.3 milli@D0#. This increa:
was primarily a result of a 17.0% increase in OssHeequent flyer miles earned by customers duttiegperiod, as well as ott
miscellaneous administrative expenses such as a@tlicenses and legal expenses. Other expensesvgiable seat mile decrea
by 22.4% as result of administrative expenses grgwlower than capacity.

AeroRepublica segment operating expenses

Since April 22, 2005, the date on which we begamsotidating AeroRepublica’s results, AeroRbli¢a generated operati
expenses of $96.8 million.

Non-operating income (expense)

Our consolidated non-operating expenses totaled6$télion in 2005, a 106.0% increase over roperating expenses
$8.0 million in 2004 that was primarily attributabto the consolidation of $3.3 million in noperating expenses from
AeroRepublica segment and higher expenses relatedrtinitial public offering in 2005.

Copa segment non-operating income (expense)

Non-operating expense totaled $13.2 million in 208%4.5% increase over noperating expense of $8.0 million in 20
attributable primarily to higher interest expensetially offset by higher interest income and lowérer non-operating income.

Interest expensénterest expense totaled $19.4 million in 20057 8% increase over interest expense of $16.5 millicc004
primarily resulting from higher interest rates. Ténerage effective interest rates on our debt ials@ased by 29 basis points fr
4.21% during 2004 to 4.50% during 2005. At persoénd, approximately 65% of our outstanding debs fieed at an avera
effective rate of 4.46%.

Interest capitalizedinterest capitalized totaled $1.1 million in 20@513.1% increase over interest capitalized of #iillon in
2004, resulting from higher average interest ratedebt relating to pre-delivery payments on aftcra

Interest incomelnterest income totaled $3.4 million in 2005, a 234 increase over interest income of $1.4 millior2D04
This increase was mainly a result of our higheraye cash balance over the year and higher intexiest during the period.

Other, netOther, net income totaled $1.7 million in 2005,1a4%6 decrease over other, net income of $6.1 miiti2004. Thi
decrease was primarily the result of approxima®dy’ million in expenses related to our initial paleffering in 2005.
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

In recent years, we have been able to meet ourimgrapital requirements through cash from our agens. Our capit
expenditures, which consist primarily of aircraftrphases, are funded through a combination of ash ¢rom operations and long-
term financing. From time to time, we finance pedikry payments related to our aircraft with mexiterm financing in the form
commercial banks loans and/or bonds privately plasith commercial banks. Our accounts receivabldatember 31, 20(
increased by $15.6 million compared with Decemtler2B05, primarily as a result of the growth in igtimg revenues.

Our cash, cash equivalents and shem investments at December 31, 2006 increasebBBy9 million to $197.4 million. £
December 31, 2006 we had available credit lineditaf $34.5 million under which there were no amswutstanding.

Operating Activities

We rely primarily on cash flows from operationspimvide working capital for current and future ogg@ns. Cash flows fro
operating activities totaled $193.5 million in 20.15.4 million in 2005 and $98.6 million in 200/he increase in operating c:
flows over these periods was primarily due to treagh of our business.

Investing Activities

During 2006, capital expenditures were $252.0 omlliwhich consisted primarily of expenditures retato our purchase of fi
Embraer 190 aircraft and two Boeing 7300 aircraft, as well as to expenditures relateddwance payments on aircraft purcl
contracts. During 2005, capital expenditures wdrE2$ million, which consisted primarily of expenates related to our purchase
two Embraer 190 aircraft, as well as to expendgustated to advance payments on aircraft purcbaseacts. During 2004, capi
expenditures were $82.1 million, which consisteémarily of expenditures related to our purchasettoke Boeing 73 Nexi
Generation aircraft, as well as to expendituresteel to advance payments on aircraft purchaseamistr

Financing Activities

Financing activities during 2006 consisted primacdf financing for Embraer 190 aircraft, two Boeid§7-700 aircraft an
aircraft pre-delivery payments for $254.6 millid2{.5 million of the proceeds of which were usedetdeem privatelylaced bonc
used for pre-delivery payments related to thoserafi), the repayment of $27.5 million in privatgdlaced bonds, the repaymen
$77.2 million in long-term debt and $8.3 milliondividends declared and paid.

Financing activities during 2005 consisted of $6&idion, primarily to the financing of two Embra&®0 aircraft, $27.5 millic
related to the financing of aircraft pre-delivegyments through privately-placed bonds, the repaymoe$46.9 million in longerm
debt and $10.1 million in dividends declared anidl pa

Financing activities during 2004 consisted primardf financing for three Boeing 73¥ext Generation aircraft f
$101.2 million ($35.7 million of the proceeds of iaih were used to redeem privately-placed bonds tmepredelivery paymen
related to those aircraft), the financing for aftipre-delivery payments with $6.4 million of paielyplaced bonds, the repaym
of $32.1 million in long-term debt and $10.0 milliin dividends declared and paid.

We have generally been able to arrange medium-ieancing for predelivery payments through loans with commercialks

through a private issuance of bonds. Although wiebe that financing on similar terms should beikade for our future aircra
pre-delivery payments, we may not be able to sesuech financing on terms attractive to us.
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We have financed the acquisition of seventeen BpéBvNext Generation aircraft and three spare enginesigfn syndicate
loans provided by international financial instituts with the support of partial guarantees issyethé Exporthimport Bank of th
United States, or Ex-Im, with repayment profilesl@years. The Exn guarantees support 85% of the net purchase pridear
secured with a first priority mortgage on the aftin favor of a security trustee on behalf of lBx-The documentation for each I¢
follows standard market forms for this type of fieang, including standard events of default. Ourlixsupported financing
amortize on a quarterly basis, are denominatedoltard and originally bear interest at a floatirsger linked to LIBOR. Our Ex-
Imguarantee facilities typically offer an option fi@ the applicable interest rate. We have exertid@s option with respect
$325.4 million as of December 31, 2006 at an avemgighted interest rate of 4.66%. The remainin@.@4nillion bears interest
an average weighted interest of LIBOR plus 0.03%DAcember 31, 2006, the total amount outstandidguour Ex-Imsupporte:
financings totaled $365.4 million.

We effectively extend the maturity of our Boeingcaaft financing to 15 years through the use ofSirétched Overe
Amortization and Repayment,” or SOAR, structure chhprovides serial drawewns calculated to result in a 100% loan accrett
a recourse balloon at the maturity of the IExguaranteed loan. The SOAR portions of our faegirequire us to maintain cert
financial covenants, including an EBITDAR to fixetiarge ratio, a long-term obligations to tangib& worth ratio, a longerm
obligations to EBITDAR ratio, a minimum net worthcaa minimum unrestricted cash balance. To comgitly the first ratio, oL
EBITDA plus aircraft rent expense, or EBITDAR, fibre prior year must be at least 2.5 times our figkdrge expenses (includ
interest, commission, fees, discounts and othamnfia payments) for that year. To comply with theosd ratio, our longermr
obligations shall be no more than five times oungthle net worth. Third, our lonterm obligations must be no more than 6 ti
EBITDAR. Fourth, our tangible net worth must belestst $50 million. Fifth, our cash, cash equivadestd shorterm investmel
balance should be at least $50 million. As of Deoen3l, 2006, we complied with all required coveésaWe also pay
commitment fee on the unutilized portion of our S®Wans.

We also typically finance approximately 10% of therchase price of our Boeing aircraft through comuiaé loans whic
totaled $17.6 million as of December 31, 2006. Urtle commercial loan agreements for aircraft nein 2002, we are requir
to comply with four specific financial covenantselfirst covenant requires our EBITDAR for the pryear to be at least 1.9 tin
our finance charge expenses (including interesfnaission, fees, discounts and other finance payshdat the first year of tt
agreement and 2.0 times our finance charge expdosdbe remainder of the agreement. The seconerawt limits our n
borrowings to 92% of our capitalization during first two years, 90% during the next two years 858 during the last six years
the agreement. The third covenant requires ouritibnget worth to be at least $30 million for thestf two years, $70 million for ti
next three years and $120 million for the last fgears of the agreement. The last covenant requsds maintain a minimum
$30 million in available cash (including cash e@liénts and committed credit facilities) for thesfifive years and $50 million for t
last five years of the agreement. As of Decembe8@6 we complied with all required covenants.

Our Embraer aircraft purchases are not eligibleEmim guaranteed financing. During 2005, we securesdr@or term loa
facility in the amount of $134 million for the pimase of six (6) Embraer 190 aircraft. The loansehaterm of twelve years. Duri
2005, we utilized $43.8 million of this facility drihe remaining $90.1 million was drawn during 2006

During 2006, we secured a senior and junior teram ltacility in the amount of $239.6 million for tipairchase of ten Embr:
190 aircraft. The loans have a term of twelve yeBiging 2006, we utilized $23.8 million of thiscility and the remainder of t
facility will be drawn during 2007. This loan agmreent we are required to comply with certain finahciovenants. The first coven
requires our EBITDAR for the prior year to be aade2.5 times our fixed charge expenses (includiterest, commission, fe:
discounts and other finance payments) for that.y&he second covenant requires a total liabilityspbperating leases mir
operating cash to tangible net worth ratio of léemn 5.5. The third covenant requires our tangitde worth to be at least $1
million. The last covenant requires us to maintaiminimum of $75 million in available cash, castuigglents and shoterm
investments. As of December 31, 2006 we compligd @all required covenants.

During 2006, we secured a medium term loan fadifitthe amount of $34.3 million for the financingpre-delivery paymen
of two Boeing 737800 aircraft having delivery months of August anaovBmber 2007. We have granted, for the beneftefiank,
first priority security interest in the rights,léitand interest over the two Boeing 7800 aircraft. Interest on the loans is paid
quarterly basis with the principal balance to bgaid upon delivery of the aircraft.

During 2006, we arranged a $22 million facilitydonsolidate and refinance AeroRepublicakisting debt with more favoral
conditions.
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Capital resourcesWe finance our aircraft through long term debt apdrating lease financings. Although we expecitrtarfce
future aircraft deliveries with a combination ofrdliar debt arrangements and financing leases, we noa be able to secure s
financing on attractive terms. To the extent wencarsecure financing, we may be required to modifiy aircraft acquisition plans
incur higher than anticipated financing costs. \Weet to meet our operating obligations as theytexcdue through available ci
and internally generated funds, supplemented asssacy by short-term credit lines.

We have placed firm orders with The Boeing Compfanyen Boeing 73MNext Generation aircraft and we have purchases
and options for an additional eight Boeing 78&xt Generation aircraft. We have also placed forders with Embraer for :
Embraer 190 aircraft and we have options to purstzsadditional 22 Embraer 190 aircraft. The scleethr delivery of our firn
orders is as follows: 11 in 2007, six in 2008, timo02009, two in 2011 and two in 2012 . We meet pte-delivery depos
requirements for our Boeing 737-Next Generatiorcraft by paying cash, or by using meditenm borrowing facilities and/
vendor financing for deposits required 24 to 6 rhergrior to delivery. Preelivery deposits for our Embraer 190 aircraft r@guirec
18, 12 and 6 months prior to delivery. We fund ¢éhdsposits with our own cash.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licensess.

We believe that the Copa brand has strong valudraticates superior service and value in the LAtmerican travel industr
We have registered the trademarks “Copa” and “Chipines” with the trademark office in Panama and have fileguests fc
registration in other countries, including the \@ditStates. We license certain brands, logos amnl taess under the traderr
license agreement with Continental related to ditaree. We will have the right to continue to usér current logos on our aircr
for up to five years after the end of the alliamgeeement term. AeroRepublisdias registered its name as a trademark in Coé
for the next ten years, and plans to registerdidemark in Panama, Ecuador, Venezuela and Peru.

We operate a number of software products undemsdieg from our vendors, including our booking engmeg automated pricir
system from SMG Technologies, our SABRE revenue agament software and our Cargo Management systamderUou
agreements with Boeing, we also use a large amufuBbeing’s proprietary information to maintain our aircrafhe loss of the:
software systems or technical support informatiomf Boeing could negatively affect our business.

D. Trend Information

We seek to expand our Copa Airlines operation liragfrequencies and new routes with the additibsesen new aircraft
our fleet in 2007, including two Boeing87 Next Generation and five Embraer 190 aircidw routes for 2007 include Guadalaj
Mexico; Punta Cana, Dominican Republic; Cordobageftina and Washington, D.C. For the remainder Gff72 we expect
continue to concentrate on keeping our operatisgsdow and pursuing ways to make our operationerafficient.

We intend to continue developing initiatives to noye the operations at AeroRdgiga. As part of our plan to modern
AeroRepublicas fleet, we currently expect to take delivery ofifcEmbraer aircraft in late 2007. We seek to malehé
improvements at AeroRepublica, including a contéthdecus on ortime performance, a renovation of aircraft intesjofurthe
integration of Copa’s and AeroRepublica’s netwdniotigh codesharing agreements and improvementesathefficiency.

We expect jet fuel prices will continue to be high2007 and expect to continue evaluating fuel ieglgprograms to he
protect us against short-term movements in cruderices.

We expect our operating capacity to increase 19200V, primarily as a result of the addition of exewnew aircraft to Copg’
fleet, and to a lesser extent due to the additfokenoRepublica’s seven new aircraft.

E. Off-balance sheet arrangements
None of our operating lease obligations are redi@ain our balance sheet and we have no othdratdfice sheet arrangeme

We are responsible for all maintenance, insurandeother costs associated with operating theseaftirtbowever, we have not me
any residual value or other guarantees to our tesso
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F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

Our non-cancelable contractual obligations at Ddzmm31, 2006 included the following:

At December 31, 2006
Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(in thousands of dollar:

Aircraft and engine purchase

commitments 518,69: 312,57- 206,11 0 0
Aircraft operating lease 172,47. 35,34¢ 67,26¢ 37,30" 32,55¢
Other operating leas: 40,38( 5,317 11,16¢ 9,111 14,78
Shor-term debt and lor-term debt(1 756,38 125,42. 140,74. 132,53. 357,68
Total 1,487,92 478,65¢ 425,28t 178,95( 405,03(

(1) Includes actual interest and estimated interedidating-rate debt based on December 31, 2006 r

Most contract leases include renewal options. Biooraft related leases have renewable terms ofyeag and their respect
amounts included in the table below have been astidhthrough 2011, but we cannot estimate amouititsrespect to those lea:
for later years. Our leases do not include residakle guarantees.

The Company has a Prepaid Pension Asset, but d¢esirtteat contribution payments to the plan, whiethect expected futu
services, will be $0.8 million for 2007.

Item 6. Directors, senior management and employees
A. Directors and Senior Management

We are managed by our board of directors whichexiily consists of eleven members who serve two-§g@ars and may be re-
elected. The number of directors elected each géiarnates between six directors and five directtdessrs. Pedro Heilbrc
Osvaldo Heilbron, Ricardo A. Arias, Mark Erwin ambberto Artavia were each re-elected for tygar terms at our anni
shareholders’ meeting held in May 2006. At an extitmary shareholdergneeting held in December 2006, Mr. Alfredo A
Loredo was elected as an independent director ltbdféice until the 2008 annual shareholdargeting. Also at the December 2!
meeting, Mr. Joseph Fidanque IIl was elected aseztdr to hold office until the 2007 annual shanlelers’ meeting. Mr. Fidanqt
filled the vacancy left by George Mason who res@goe July 18, 2006. At our 2007 annual shareholdeeeting held on May
2007, Mr. José Castafieda Velez was re-elected asdapendent director until the 2009 annual shddee meeting. Also at tr
May 9, 2007 meeting, Messrs. Stanley Motta, JaimiasA Alberto C. Motta Jr., and Joseph Fidanqueeweelected as directc
until the 2009 annual shareholders’ meeting. Oarteln does not have a mandatory retirement ageufiodirectors.

The following table sets forth the name, age arsltipm of each member of our board of directorefablay 31, 2007. A brie
biographical description of each member of our Badrdirectors follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Officer and Directi 49
Stanley Motte Chairman and Directc 61
Osvaldo Heilbror Director 80
Jaime Arias Director 71
Ricardo Alberto Arias Director 67
Alberto C. Motta, Jr Director 60
Mark Erwin Director 51
Joseph Fidanque | Director 40
Jose Casfieda Vele: Director 63
Roberto Artavia Lorie Director 47
Alfredo Arias Loredc Director 60

Mr. Pedro Heilbron . See “—Executive Officers.”
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Mr. Stanley Motta has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesih®86 and a director of Copa Holdings, since i
established in 1998. Since 1990, he has serveteaPresident of Motta Internacional, S.A. an indéional importer of alcohc
cosmetics, jewelry and other consumer goods. Mittdvis the brother of our director, Alberto C. Moflr. He serves on the board
directors of Motta Internacional, S.A., Grupo Fio@no Continental, S.A., ASSA Comparfide Seguros, S.A., Televisora Nacic
S.A., Inversiones Bahia, Ltd. and GBM Corporatidin. Motta is a graduate of Tulane University.

Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit@86 and a director of Copa Holdings, since &
established in 1998. Mr. Heilbron is the fatheiMot Pedro Heilbron, our chief executive officer. Berves on the boards of direc
of CIASA, Desarrollo Costa Del Este, S.A., Hariffenama, S.A., Televisora Nacional, S.A., Petrolgelta, S.A., and SSA Pana
Inc.

Mr. Jaime Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesih®83 and a director of Copa Holdings, since if
established in 1998. He is a founding partner din@a, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias holds a B.A. froma¥e University, a J.D. fro
Tulane University and legal studies at the Uniugref Paris, Sorbonne. He serves as an advisdrgd’tesident of the Republic
Panama and serves on the boards of directors efiifefa Nacional, S.A., ASSA Compafie Seguros, S.A. , Empresa Gener
Inversiones, S.A., Petroleos Delta, S.A., Bac maéonal Bank, Inc., Direct Vision, S.A. and Prom&dA.

Mr. Ricardo Arias has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesih@85 and a director of Copa Holdings, since i
established in 1998. He is a founding partner dirn@a, Arias & Lopez. Mr. Arias currently serves Banama ambassador to t
United Nations. Mr. Arias holds a B.A. in interratal relations from Georgetown University, an LLf&am the University of Puer
Rico and an LL.M. from Yale Law School. He servestbe boards of directors of Banco General, S.Al Bmpresa General
Inversiones, S.A., which is the holding companyt thans Banco General S.A., and Empresa Generatttéléds, S.A. Mr. Arias i
also listed as a principal or alternate directorsefieral subsidiary companies of Banco General, 80 Empresa General
Inversiones, S.A.,

Mr. Alberto Motta, Jr. has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesit@83 and a director of Copa Holdings, since &
established in 1998. He is a Vice President of isieees Bald, Ltd. Mr. Motta attended the University of HartWwi He is the brothi
of Mr. Stanley Motta. He also serves on the boafddirectors of Motta Internacional, S.A., Invensgs Costa del Este, S.A., AS
Comparfia de Seguros, S.A., Petroleos Delta, S.A., Produttdedanos, S.A., Financiera Automotriz, S.A.,eli&ora Nacione
S.A., Hotel Miramar Inter-Continental and IndustrRanama Boston, S.A.

Mr. Mark Erwin has been one of the directors of Copa Airlines @uwgpa Holdings since 2004. He is the Senior
President-Asia/Pacific and Corporate Development of ContiakAirlines and the President and Chief Executifgc@r and serve
on the board of directors of Continental Micronesie., the wholly owned western Pacific subsidiafyContinental Airlines, In
Mr. Erwin held the position of Senior Vice PresitiehAirport Services of Continental Airlines, Intom 1995 through 2002.

Mr. Joseph Fidanque 1l has been one of the directors of Copa Airlinesesi®@06. He is President of Fidanque Hermai
Hijos, S.A., Mobilphone de Panama, S.A. and Stant&at, Ltd. He serves on the boards of directorfsloltiholding Corporation—
Panama, Fundacion Filanpiéa Fidanque, Colon Import and Export and Sky fhetdgies Network. Mr. Fidanque holds a B.S
Economics from Tufts University.

Mr. Roberto Artavia Loria is one of the independent directors of Copa Holglide is the former Chief Executive Officel
INCAE Business School where he now serves as Aciademad Business Consultant, Chairman of AsociablanViva de Costa Ric
and Protector of Viva Trust. Mr. Artavia Loria ifsa an advisor to the Interamerican DevelopmentkBand to the governments
nine countries in Latin America, and a strategivisal to Purdy Motor, S.A., Grupo Nacion and FUNDEMr. Artavia Lorie
serves on the board of directors of INCAE Busirgskool, Foundation for Management Education in 2é#tmerica, Asociacid
MarViva de Costa Rica, Viva Trust, Global Foundatfor Management Development, Compafiervecera de Nicaragua, SUM
Alliance OBS de Costa Rica and OBS Americas.
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Mr. José Castafieda Veleds one of the independent directors of Copa Holslinge is currently director of MMG Ba
Corporation. Previously, Mr. Castafieda Velez was dhief executive officer of Banco Latinoamericad® Exportaciones, S.A-
BLADEX and has held managerial and officer levesiions at Banco Ride la Plata, Citibank, N.A., Banco de Credito Bletu an
Crocker National Bank. He is a graduate of the ¥rsity of Lima.

Mr. Alfredo Arias Loredo is one of the independent directors of Copa Holglinde is the former Executive Presiden
Cerveceria Nacional, S.A. Mr. Arias Loredo is Chan of the Board of Trustees of ANCON (Asociaciflacional para
Conservacia de la Naturaleza). Mr. Arias received a B.S. iacklanical Engineering and an M.S. in Industrial Kgament, bot
from Georgia Institute of Technology.

The following table sets forth the name, age anditppm of each of our executive officers as of My 2007. A brie
biographical description of each of our executiffecers follows the table.

Name Position Age
Pedro Heilbror Chief Executive Office 49
Victor Vial Chief Financial Office 41
Lawrence Gans Senior Vice-President of Operatior 63
Jorge Isaac Gaia Vice-President, Commerci 47
Daniel Gunr Vice-President of Plannin 39
Jaime Aguirre Vice President of Maintenan 44
Vidalia de Casad Vice President of Passenger Servi 50
Alexander Gianaree Senior Director of Human Resourc 54
Roberto Junguito Pomk Chief Executive Officer of AeroRwblica 37

Mr. Pedro Heilbron has been our Chief Executive Officer for 19 yedds. received an M.B.A. from George Washing
University and a B.A. from Holy Cross. Mr. Heilbras the son of Mr. Osvaldo Heilbron, a member of board of director.
Mr. Heilbron is a Member of the Board of GovernofsATA.

Mr. Victor Vial has been our Chief Financial Officer since 200@n#r1995 until 2000, Mr. Vial served as our Directd
Planning. Prior to his service at Copa, Mr. Vialswa Senior Financial Analyst for HBOme Warner. Mr. Vial holds a B.B.A.
International Business from George Washington Usitg

Captain Lawrence Gansehas been our Senior Videresident of Operations and Chief Operating Offgiace 2000. Capte
Ganse has 40 years of experience in the airlinasitng, including management positions at TWA, Nashkt Airlines, and, mo
recently, Grupo TACA in El Salvador. Captain Ganseeived a B.B.A. in Aviation Administration frorhd University of Miami an
an M.B.A. in Management Science from Californiat&tdniversity at Hayward.

Mr. Jorge Isaac Garciahas been our Vice-President, Commercial since 1P@9has also served as our Vieesident ¢
Maintenance and as our Assistant to the PresidRidr to joining Copa, he was a Project DirectoiPatroleos Delta. Mr. Gare
received a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from Véster Polytechnic Institute and an M.B.A. from BosCollege.

Mr. Daniel Gunn has been our Viceresident of Planning and Alliances since 2002jditeed Copa in 1999 and has serve
our Director of Alliances and Senior Director ofaRhing and Alliances. Prior to joining Copa, hergpéve years with Americe
Airlines holding positions in Finance, Real Estatel Alliances. Mr. Gunn received a B.A. in Busin&sEconomics from Wheatc
College and an M.B.A. with an emphasis in Finanue laternational Business from the University ofi#®rn California.

Mr. Jaime Aguirre has been our Vice President of Maintenance sin@2.2Brior to that, he served as our Directc
Engineering and Quality Assurance. Before joiningp& Mr. Aguirre was the Technical Services Direcsb Avianca, S./
Mr. Aguirre received a B.S. in Mechanical Enginagrfrom Los Andes University, a Master of Enginegrivith an emphasis
Engineering Management from Javeriana UniversityaiM.B.A. from the University of Louisville.
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Ms. Vidalia de Casadohas been our Viceresident of Passenger Services since 1995. Stedj@opa in 1989 and servec
our Passenger Services Manager from 1989 to 1984 t8 joining Copa, she spent seven years as HuResource and Serv
Director with Air Panama Internacional, S.A. Ms.@asado received a B.S. in Business from Univedsigdina and an M.B.A. fro
the University of Louisville.

Mr. Alexander Gianareas has been our Senior Director of Human Resourcas s2001. Prior to joining Copa, he was
Director of Organizational Effectiveness for thenBaa Canal Commission. Mr. Gianareas received aiB.Slectrical Engineerir
from Cornell University and an M.B.A. from Nova Sbeastern.

Mr. Roberto Junguito Pombo joined our company on November 8, 2005 as the (wetutive Officer of our AeroReplica
operating subsidiary. Mr. Junguito previously spemb years with Avianca, holding positions as thiee/President of Plannir
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Restructuring i€df. Avianca declared bankruptcy in March 2003. Bimguito received a B.S.
Industrial Engineering at the Universidad de Logids, an M.A. in International Studies from the jpbskEl. Lauder Institute of tl
University of Pennsylvania and an M.B.A. with angrasis on finance from the Wharton School of thévéhsity of Pennsylvania.

The business address for all of our senior managemsec/o Copa Airlines, Avenida Principal y Aveaidle la Rotond
Urbanizacion Costa del Este, Complejo Business,Famke Norte, Parque Lefevre Panama City, Panama.

B. Compensation

In 2006, we paid an aggregate of approximately 3t8lion in cash compensation to our executiveceifs. During 2006, w
also set aside $3.0 million for payment to senianagement related to covenants not to competeusiin the future. We have 1
set aside any other funds for future payments éz@tive officers.

Members of our board of directors that are notceffs of either Copa or Continental receive $25,080year plus expens
incurred to attend our board of directors meetihgsaddition, members of committees of the boardlicéctors receive $1,000 |
committee meeting, with the chairman of the audinmittee receiving $2,000 per meeting of the aaedinmittee. All of th
members of our board of directors and their spotsasive benefits to travel on Copa flights as well

Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan

The Compensation Committee of our board of directmpproved a one time non vested stock bonus fbaiceexecutiv
officers and eliminated the existing Long Term Rétm Plan in 2005. Non vested stock delivered urtidie award program may
sourced from treasury stock, or authorizedissued shares. In March 2006, in accordance with glogram, the Compensat
Committee of our board of directors granted 935,680ricted stock awards. Senior management wenategt 847,625 non ves
stock awards, which vest over five years in yeanistallments equal to 15% of the awarded stock acheof the first thre
anniversaries of the grant date, 25% on the foarthiversary and 30% on the fifth anniversary. Mamgg officers and k¢
employees, not on our senior management team, gvarged 88,025 non vested stock awards which weghe second anniversi
of the grant date. The related compensation ctstiged against income for this plan was $3.3 nniliilo2006.

The Compensation Committee plans to make additiegalty based awards under the plan from time rwe tiincluding
additional non vested stock and stock option awaitsle the Compensation Committee will retain diion to vary the exact teri
of future awards, we anticipate that future empéoy®n vested stock and stock option awards grgmtesuant to the plan w
generally vest over a three year period and thekgiptions will carry a ten year term

During first quarter of 2007, the Compensation Catiaa approved two new plans to our named execufffieers. These ne

plans granted 15,969 shares of non vested stocl8&0@3 options, which will vested over three yedise Company estimates
2007 compensation cost for these plans is $0.6omill
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C. Board Practices

Our board of directors currently meets quarterlgtdiionally, informal meetings with Continental dreld on an ongoing bas
and are supported by quarterly formal meetingsotAdliance Steering Committeeythich directs and reports on the progress ¢
Copa and Continental Alliance. Our board of dirests focused on providing our overall strategicediion and as a result
responsible for establishing our general businetisips and for appointing our executive officer&laupervising their management.

Currently, our board of directors is comprised lefzen members. The number of directors elected geahalternates betwe
six directors and five directors. Messrs. Pedroltien, Osvaldo Heilbron, Ricardo Arias, Mark Erwiemd Roberto Artavia we
each re-elected to two-year terms at our annuakbbélers’meeting held on May 12, 2006. In December 2006, Alfredo Arias
Loredo was elected as an independent Director kb difice until the 2008 annual shareholdemseting. Also, in December 2C
Mr. Joseph Fidanque Il was elected as a Directdraid office until the 2007 annual shareholdengeting. Mr. Fidanque filled tl
vacancy left by George Mason who resigned on J8Jy2D06. Messrs. Stanley Motta, Jaime Arias, Alb&®t Motta Jr., Jose
Fidanque and José Castafieda were re-elected tgeavderms at our annual shareholdenseting held on May 9, 2007. Our cha
does not have a mandatory retirement age for oactdirs.

Pursuant to contractual arrangements with us aAG&] Continental is entitled to designate one af divectors and CIASA
entitled to designate seven of our directors.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee is responsible for overseeimg integrity of our financial statements, the effeames.
of our internal financial control and risk managemnsystems, the effectiveness of our internal afutiiction, the independent at
process including recommending the appointmentesatliating the performance of the independent aydinhd the compliance w
legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Cortemithas implemented procedures for receiving, metgi and addressil
complaints regarding accounting, internal contrad aauditing matters, including the submission ohfiential, anonymot
complaints from employees regarding questionabé®w@ating or auditing matters. The charter of oudiAommittee requires tr
all its members shall be independent directors utite applicable rules of the New York Stock ExamnMessrs. José Castafa
Alfredo Arias Loredo and Roberto Artavia are therent members of our Audit Committee, and Mr. JGsé&tada is the chairmi
of the audit committee as well as our audit conesitinancial expert.

Compensation Committee.Our Compensation Committee is responsible for thection process of the Chief Execu
Officer and the evaluation of all executive offis¢mcluding the CEQO), recommending the level ahpensation and any associ:
bonus. The charter of our Compensation Committgaires that all its members shall be rexecutive directors, of which at le
one member will be an independent director underapplicable rules of the New York Stock Exchangessrs. Stanley Moti
Jaime Arias and José Castdai are the members of our Compensation Commatek Mr. Stanley Motta is the Chairman of
Compensation Committee.

Nominating and Corporate Governance CommitteeOur Nominating and Corporate Governance Committeesponsib!
for developing and recommending criteria for sétechew directors, overseeing evaluations of thartbaf directors, its membe
and committees of the board of directors and hagdither matters that are specifically delegateithéocompensation committee
the board of directors from time to time. Our chartiocuments require that there be at least onepamtent member of t
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee uhél first shareholde’ meeting to elect directors after such time as
Class A shares are entitled to full voting righMessrs. Ricardo Arias, Osvaldo Heilbron and RobArtavia are the members of «
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, MindRicardo Arias is the Chairman of the Nominatingd Corporat
Governance Committee.

Independent Directors Committee.Our Independent Directors Committee is created iy Articles of Incorporation at
consists of any directors that the board of dinectietermines from time to time meet the indepecgerquirements of the NY!
and the Securities Act. Our Articles of Incorpavatiprovide that there will be three independeneédors at all times, subject
certain exceptions. Under our Articles of Incorgimna, the Independent Directors Committee must @ygr
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. any transactions in excess of $5 million betweeandour controlling shareholde

» the designation of certain primary share issuartbas will not be included in the calculation of tppercentag
ownership pertaining to the Class B shares for gagp of determining whether the Class A shares Idhiog
converted to voting shares under our Articles abhporation, an

. the issuance of additional Class B shares ors@lashares to ensure Copa Airlim&ompliance with aviation lay
and regulations

The Independent Directors Committee shall also leyeother powers expressly delegated by the Bofabdrectors. Under tt
Articles of Incorporation, these powers can only dlenged by the Board of Directors acting as a &hgbon the writte
recommendation of the Independent Directors CoremitThe Independent Directors Committee will onkyetregularly until th
first shareholdersmeeting at which the Class A shareholders will iled to vote for the election of directors arfteewards at ar
time that Class C shares are outstanding. All datisof the Independent Directors Committee shalhiade by a majority of t
members of the committee. See “Iltem 10B. MemorandadhArticles of Association—Description of Capitbck.”

D. Employees

We believe that our growth potential and the acsesnt of our resulteriented corporate goals are directly linked to aiility
to attract, motivate and maintain the best protesds available in the airline business. In oraehelp retain our employees,
encourage open communication channels betweenmplogees and management. Our CEO meets quartettyaNiof our Cop
employees in Panama in town hall-style meetingsndguwvhich he explains the compasyperformance and encourages feed
from attendees. A similar presentation is made lmys@nior executives at each of our foreign stati@ur compensation strate
reinforces our determination to retain talented higtly motivated employees and is designed tanalg interests of our employ:
with our shareholders through profit-sharing.

Our profitsharing program at Copa reflects our belief that employees will remain dedicated to our succedbdf have
stake in that success. We identify key performadrdeers within each employeg'control as part of our annual objectives plai
“Path to SuccessTypically, we pay bonuses in February based orpediormance during the preceding calendar yearntember
of management, 75% of the bonus amount is basedioperformance as a whole and 25% is based oactievement of individu
goals. Bonuses for non-management employees isl loesthe company’s performance, and is typicalgutiple of the employee’
weekly salary. For 2006, the non-management empkyeceived up to seven weekalary, depending on their position. The b
payments are at the discretion of our compensat@nmittee. We typically make accruals each monthtlie expected annt
bonuses which are reconciled to actual paymenteatdispersal in February.

We maintain generally good relations with our uném nondnion employees and have not experienced work amgpfor th
past twenty years. Approximately 75% of Capamployees are located in Panama, while the rémgatb% are distributed ama
our stations. Copa’s employees can be categorgzéallaws:

December 31

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Pilots 192 22C 224 23t 29¢
Flight attendant 33C 34¢ 372 44¢ 514
Mechanics 202 20¢ 18¢ 20C 15t
Customer service agents, reservation

agents, ramp and oth 1,29¢ 1,38 1,47(C 1,62¢ 1,861
Management and cleric 42¢ 48( 49¢ 587 67E
Total employee 2,45¢ 2,64( 2,754 3,09¢ 3,50¢

We provide training for all of our employees indhgl technical training for our pilots, dispatchefigght attendants and ott
technical staff. In addition, we provide recurrentstomer service training to frontline staff, asllwas leadership training f
managers. In 2005, we leased a Level B flight sataulfor B737Next Generation training that will serve 80% of nitial training
transition and upgrade training and 100% of ouumant training needs relating to that aircraft. fe planning to upgrade t
simulator to provide 100% of our initial training/e have also entered into an agreement to leabghé $imulator for EMB19C
training, which should be available for use in Raaat the beginning of 2008.
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Approximately 60% of Copa’ employees are unionized. There are currently finens covering our Copa employees
Panama: the pilots’ union (SIPAC); the flight attants’ union (SIPANAB); the mechanicshion (SINTECMAP); the traffit
attendantsunion (UTRACOPA); and a generalized union, SIELA®jch represents ground personnel, messengergrsirigounte
agents and other non-executive administrative.stadpa is scheduled to begin negotiations withpifes’ union in mid2008. Cops
entered into new collective bargaining agreemeritk its general union and its flight attendantsiion on October 26, 2005 a
April 3, 2006, respectively. After extensive negtitns which did not lead to a mutually satisfagtoesolution, Copa and tl
mechanics’ union entered into a governmmatadated arbitration and a collective bargainingagent was agreed to on March
2006 as a result of such arbitration proceedingviBusly, we have not had to resort to arbitratiomesolve negotiations with o
unions. Collective bargaining agreements in Pansypaally extend for four years. We also have agreets with our Cop
employees in S#iPaulo, Brazil and Mexico. We have traditionabperienced good relations with our unions, and emegally agre:
to terms in line with the economic environment efifeg Panama, our company and the airline indugényerally. Approximatel
19% of Copa’s employees work part-time.

AeroRepublica’s pilots and flight attendants angresented by two separate unions. The pilots’ ymaociacid Colombiane
de Aviadores CiviledACDAC), represents AeroRepublica’'s 126 pilots ar@pilots. The flight attendants’ uniomsociacid
Colombiana de Auxiliares de VuglaCAV), represents all of AeroReplblical78 flight attendants. Contracts with both uniaese
signed or affirmed in May 2005 with customary irages in wages and benefits that provide for arsalaty increases of two perct
in addition to adjustments to reflect inflation.eragreement with the pilotahion will be in effect until June 2007, and theemgmen
with the flight attendantsunion will be in effect until March 2008. In genkrur relationships with the labor unions represay
AeroRepublica’s employees are believed to be geagféected by the agreements reached this year.

E. Share Ownership

The members of our board of directors and our ekexwfficers as a group own 2.5% of our Class Arel. Seeltem 7A.
Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions.”

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transations
A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth information relatitgythe beneficial ownership of our Class A sha®ef June 13, 2007 by ec
person known to us to beneficially own 5% or mdrewr common shares and all our directors and ef§@s a group. Class A sha
are limited voting shares entitled only to vote dartain specified circunstances. See “ltem 10B. ithafthl Information —
Memorandum and Articles of Association — Descriptaf Capital Stock.”

Class A Shares
Beneficially Owned
Shares (%) )
CIASA @ — —
Continenta®) 4,375,00! 14.1%
Executive officers and directors as a group (1$es) 771,72¢ 2.5%
Others 25,820,66 83.4%
Total 30,967,39 10(%

(1) Based on a total of 30,967,394 Class A sharesds
(2) CIASA owns 100% of the Class B shares of Copa higisli representing 29.2% of our total capital st

(3) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SecuritiesEExchange Commission, dated July 5, 2006, in lvBiontinental reporte
that it had sole voting and dispositive power o4&75,000 of Class A share
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CIASA currently owns 100% of the Class B share€opa Holdings, representing all of the voting powkour capital stocl
CIASA is controlled by a group of Panamanian ingestepresenting several prominent families in Ranarhis group of investc
has historically acted together in a variety ofibaess activities both in Panama and elsewhere fim llanerica, including bankin
insurance, real estate, telecommunications, intemea trade and commerce and wholesale. MembetheoMotta, Heilbron ar
Arias families and their affiliates beneficially avapproximately 90% of CIASA’ shares. Our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Pe
Heilbron, and several of our directors, includingddrs. Stanley Motta and Alberto C. Motta Jr., ®svaldo Heilbron, Mr. Jain
Arias and Mr. Ricardo Alberto Arias as a group hlo&heficial ownership of approximately 78% of CIASAhares. This owners|
includes 33.4% of the shares of CIASA acquired Bsits. Stanley Motta and Alberto C. Motta Jr., ®svaldo Heilbron, Mr. Jain
Arias, Mr. Ricardo Alberto Arias, Mr. Pedro Heillorand other CIASA shareholders in June 2005 froenctimtrolling shareholde
of Copa’s principal Latin American competitor itransaction valued at approximately $60,000,000.

The holders of more than 78% of the issued andtanding stock of CIASA have entered into a shamérsl agreemer
providing that the parties to the agreement wiltevall of their shares in CIASA together as a graupall matters concerni
CIASA’s holdings of Class B shares. Additionallyhet shareholders’ agreement restricts transfers I&S& shares to non-
Panamanian nationals. Messrs. Stanley Motta andri@ilC. Motta Jr. together exercise effective aardf CIASA.

One of our directors, Mr. Erwin, is an officer obinental and may be deemed to share beneficinemhip with Continent
of our Class A shares held by Continental, but Bwin disclaims such beneficial ownership.

The address of CIASA is Corporacién de Inversiohésas, S.A., c/o Compaiia Panamefa de Avia@AA., Boulevard Cos
del Este, Avenida Principal y Avenida de la Rotgndebanizacié Costa del Este, Complejo Business Park, TorrdeN&arqu
Lefevre, Panama City, Panama. The address of Gnttihis Continental Airlines, Inc., 1600 Smithe&tr, Houston, Texas 77002.

B. Related Party Transactions
Shareholders’ Agreement
Copa Holdings is a party to the amended and rektstiareholdersagreement with CIASA and Continental entered im

connection with our initial public offering. The @amded and restated shareholders’ agreement prdeidesnong other things:

. a right of each of CIASA and Continental to destgna certain number of directors to our board oféators for s
long as they hold a certain amount of our commogkstOf the 11 members of our board, CIASA inigidilad thi
right to designate six directors and Continentélailtty had the right to designate two directorsthathe remainin
three directors being “independentiider the rules of the New York Stock Exchange.t@ental has the right
designate one of our directors and CIASA has thiat tio designate seven of our direct

. certain limitations on transfers of our common ktbg CIASA or Continental

e subject to certain exceptions, a right of firsteoffn favor of CIASA to purchase any shares of cammon stoc
Continental proposes to sell to any third partyd

. the ability of Continental to “tag-alondteir shares of our common stock to certain sdlesmmon stock by CIAS
to nonPanamanians or, in the case of certain sales ags@astock by CIASA to Panamanians, to receivetiahail
registration rights with respect to the shares theyld otherwise have been able to ¢
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Continental has entered into a logg-agreement with CIASA which restricts its saleofmmon stock, without the prior writt
consent of CIASA and subject to certain other ekoep, until June 29, 2008.

A material uncured breach of the Shareholdagreement by CIASA or Copa Holdings will triggeghits of Continental in tt
Alliance Agreement, Services Agreement and FregEbmr Agreement to terminate those agreementesayitbed below.

Registration Rights Agreement

Copa Holdings is party to an amended and restaigidtration rights agreement with CIASA and Contiaé pursuant to whic
CIASA and Continental were entitled to certain dathand piggyback rights with respect to the regigin and sale of our comm
stock held by them. The registration rights agregnmtially permitted each of CIASA and Continehnta make up to two demar
on us to register certain shares of common stotk tyethem. Continental has used one of its two al&inrights in connection wi
the 2006 follow-on offering. Since the 2006 foll@n- offering, Continental no longer has the rightegister any of our class
shares that it holds except in the event that ClA&duces its investment in us to a level below ti@@ontinentals ownership in u
One half of the registration expenses incurredoimnection with the first demand registration regegsfter the date hereof, wh
expenses exclude underwriting discounts and conwnisswill be paid ratably by each security holgarticipating in such offerir
in proportion to the number of their shares thatiacluded in the offering, and the balance of sexgmenses will be paid by the Ci
Holdings for such demand registrations. Thereaftiisuch expenses will be paid ratably by eachisgycholder participating in su
offering in proportion to the number of their stetkat are included in the offering. Continentdkesd into a lockip agreement wi
the underwriters which restrict its sale of our coom stock until the first anniversary of the 2008dw-on offering.

A material uncured breach of the Registration Righjfreement by CIASA or Copa Holdings will triggéghts of Continent:
in the Alliance Agreement, Services Agreement aredj&ent Flyer Agreement to terminate those agretenandescribed below.

Commercial Agreements with Continental

Our alliance relationship with Continental is gawed by several interrelated agreements between &up&ontinental. Each
the agreements as amended and restated will expliyaipon three yearstiritten notice by one of the airlines to the othehjch may
not be given before May 2012. Other events of teatibn are set forth in the descriptions of theanajliancerelated agreements
forth below.

Alliance AgreementUnder our alliance agreement with Continental, battlines agree to continue their codeshe
relationship with extensions as they feel are gppate and to work to maintain our antitrust imntyniith the DOT. In order |
support the codesharing relationship, the allilagreement also contains provisions mandating ameed frequent flyer relationst
between the airlines, setting minimum levels ofliyaf service for the airlines and encouraginggeration in marketing and otl
operational initiatives. Continental and Copa ahibited by the alliance agreement from enterintg commercial agreements w
certain classes of competing airlines, and theeagemit requires both parties to include each otteepracticable, in their commerc
relationships with other airlines. Other than bpieation as described above, the agreement istatstinable by an airline in cas
of, among other things, uncured material breactetheo alliance agreement by the other airline, lbaptcy of the other airlin
termination of the services agreement for breacthbyother airline, termination of the frequeneflyparticipation agreement withi
entering into a successor agreement by the othimeaitermination by Continental upon the materiaremedied breach of 1
shareholders agreement or the registration righteeanent by CIASA or Copa Holdings, termination ®gpa upon the mater
unremedied breach of the shareholders agreemehtaegistration rights agreement by Continentattain competitive activitie
certain changes of control of either of the pardied certain significant operational service fakiby the other airline.
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Services Agreementinder the services agreement, both airlines agrpeovide to each other certain services over these o
the agreement at the providing carmeiricremental cost, subject to certain limitatioBervices covered under the agreement in
consolidating purchasing power for equipment puselBaand insurance coverage, sharing managemennatfon systems, poolil
maintenance programs and inventory management, i@iming and employee exchanges, sharing thefibere other purchas
contracts for goods and services, telecommunicatéond other services. Other than by expirationessribed above, the agreen
is also terminable by an airline in cases of, amotiger things, uncured material breaches of tHarmé agreement by the ot
airline, bankruptcy of the other airline, termimattiof the services agreement for breach by theraiténe, termination of tr
frequent flyer participation agreement without eimig into a successor agreement by the other ajriermination by Continen
upon the material unremedied breach of the shadetmhgreement or the registration rights agreeime@ASA or Copa Holding
termination by Copa upon the material unremediezhdin of the shareholders agreement or the registreghts agreement |
Continental, certain changes of control of eitHehe parties and certain significant operatioral/&e failures by the other airline.

Frequent Flyer Participation Agreementinder the frequent flyer participation agreemeng participate in Continental’
OnePass frequent flyer global program and on breaded basis in Latin America. Customers in ttogyram receive credit for flyir
on segments operated by us, which can be redeaemaavérd travel on our flights and those of othatiper airlines. The agreem
also governs joint marketing agreements under tbgram, settlement procedures between the airlimelsrevenueharing unde
bank card affinity relationships. Further, if therices Agreement is terminated or expires, thepmraation structure of the frequ
flyer program will be revised to be comparable tioeo of Continenta$ frequent flyer relationships. We also have thatrunder th
agreement to participate on similar terms in anycessor program operated by Continental. Other Hyaexpiration as describ
above, the agreement is also terminable by amaiil cases of, among other things, uncured méatergaches of the allian
agreement by the other airline, bankruptcy of ttieoairline, termination of the services agreenfenbreach by the other airlir
termination of the frequent flyer participation agment without entering into a successor agreelnetite other airline, terminati
by Continental upon the material unremedied breddhe shareholders agreement or the registratirsragreement by CIASA
Copa Holdings, termination by Copa upon the mdterizemedied of the shareholders agreement oretffistration rights agreemt
by Continental, certain changes of control of eitb&the parties and certain significant operaticservice failures by the ott
airline.

Trademark License Agreemehinder the trademark license agreement, we haveigheto use a logo incorporating a gl
design that is similar to the globe design of Quartital's logo. We also have the right to use Cemtial’s trade dress, aircraft live
and certain other Continental marks under the ageet that allow us to more closely align our ovepabduct with our allianc
partner. The trademark license agreement is cotewnsi with the Alliance Agreement and can also bmiteated for breach. In mc
cases, we will have a period of five years aftemteation to cease to use the marks on our aircvéfh less time provided fi
signage and other uses of the marks or in cases\line agreement is terminated for a breach by us.

Agreements with our controlling shareholders and tleir affiliates

Our directors and controlling shareholders haveynaher commercial interests within Panama anduidinout Latin Americ:
We have commercial relationships with several esthaffiliated parties from which we purchase gomdservices, as descrik
below. In each case we believe our transactionis thiése affiliated parties are at arrfesigth and on terms that we believe re
prevailing market rates.

Banco Continental de Panama, S.A.

We have a strong commercial banking relationshif Bianco Continental de Panama, S.A., which has beatrolled by ot
controlling shareholders. In January 3, 2007 Grgimanciero Continental, S.A., the parent companBarico Continental, agreec
merge the operations of Banco Continental with Ba@®neral to form Panansalargest privately owned bank. Following
execution of the merger the shareholders of Grupari€iero Continental S.A. will own approximatel§98 of the combined entity.

We have obtained financing from Banco Continentadlar short to mediurterm financing arrangements for part of
commercial loan tranche of one of the Company’sdiixjmport Bank facilities. We also maintain generalel of credit and tin
deposit accounts with Banco Continental. Inter@stpents to Banco Continental totaled $1.4 milli$h,6 million and $1.1 millio
in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and we recei$l.5 million, $1.0 million, and $1.1 million iA006, 2005 and 20C
respectively. The debt balance outstanding at Dbeell amounted to $8.5 million and $25.7 milliam 2006 and 200
respectively.
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ASSA Compafiia de Seguros, S.A.

Panamanian law requires us to maintain our insergaticies through a local insurance company. Weet@ntracted wil
ASSA, an insurance company controlled by our cdliigpshareholders, to provide substantially alloofr insurance. ASSA has,
turn, reinsured almost all of the risks under thpekcies with insurance companies around the wdrlie net payment to ASS
after taking into account the reinsurance of thiedes, is approximately $30,000 per year.

Petréleos Delta, S.A.

During 2005, we entered into a contract with Fety$ Delta, S.A. to supply our jet fuel needs. Phiee agreed to under tl
contract is based on the two week average of tBe Gulf Coast Waterborne Mean index plus localdagertain thirdsarty handlini
charges and a handling charge to Delta. The cdnlras a one year term that automatically renewsofa year period unle
terminated by one of the parties. While our cofiitrglshareholders do not hold a controlling equitierest in Petrd@os Delta, S.A
one of our executive officers, Jorge Garcia, presip served as a Project Director at PetréleosaD@&tA. Payments to Pekeds
Delta totaled $77.9 million in 2006 and $26.5 moiflifrom August to December of 2005.

Desarollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A.

During January 2006, we moved into our recently stmcted new headquarters located six miles awayn fifocume
International Airport. We lease five floors consigt of approximately 104,000 square feet of theldigy from Desaroll
Inmobiliario del Este, S.A., an entity controlled the same group of investors that controls CIAB#der a 10rear lease at a rate
$106,000 per month during the first three yeard, 0100 per month from year 4 to year 6, $113,000nfiyear 7 to year 9 a
$116,000 per month in year 10, which we believee@ market rate.

Galindo, Arias & Lopez

Most of our legal work is carried out by the lawnfi Galindo, Arias & Lopez. Messrs. Jaime Arias &idardo Alberto Arias
partners of Galindo, Arias & Lopez, are indirecasgholders of CIASA and serve on our board of dinec

Other Transactions

We also purchase most of the alcohol and someeobttiier beverages served on our aircraft from Matiernacional, S.A. ar
Global Brands, S.A., both of which are controlleddur controlling shareholders. We do not have fomgnal contracts for the
purchases, but pay wholesale prices based on fiste periodically submitted by those importers. \Waid approximate
$0.5 million in 2006 and $0.4 million in 2005 and02 to these entities.

Since February 2003 our telecommunications senlieee been provided by Ziad Holding, formerly Teleier, Inc. Some «
the controlling shareholders of CIASA have a cdiitrg interest in Ziad Holding. Payments to Ziad ltiag totaled $0.4 millior
$0.4 million and $0.4 million in 2006, 2005 and 20@espectively.

The advertising agency that we use in Panama, RoBéhz Publicidad (RDP), is owned by the brothetaw of our chie
executive officer. Gross invoices for all servigesformed through RDP totaled $1.5 million, $1.9liomi and $1.8 million in 200!
2005 and 2004.

We have received services from Call Center Corporaa call center that operates Capegservations and sales services

handles calls from Panama as well as to most athantries to which Copa flies. One of our directdeseph Fidanque I, is one
the owners of this call center. Payments to Cafit@eCorporation totaled $2.4 million in 2006.
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C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.
Item 8. Financial Information
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Infomation
See “Item 3. Key Information—Selected Financial@atnd “Item 18. Financial Statements.”
Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we areygartarious legal actions, which we believe ar@dantal to the operation
our business. While legal proceedings are inhegramtcertain, we believe that the outcome of thecgedings to which we &
currently a party are not likely to have a mateddVerse effect on our financial position, resolft®perations and cash flows. 1
Antitrust Administrative Agency (Comisimde Libre Competencia y Asuntos del ConsumidoCIOICAC), together with a group
travel agencies, has filed an antitrust lawsuitirgaCopa, Continental, American Airlines, Grupo @A and Delta Airlines in tr
Panamanian Commercial Tribunal alleging monopaligtiactices in reducing travel agentmmissions. The outcome of t
lawsuit is still uncertain and may take severalrge®e believe that in the worst scenario theradicould be required to pay uj
$20 million. In addition, ACES, a nodefunct Colombian airline, filed an antitrust lawtsagainst Copa, Avianca and SAM, allec
monopolistic practices in relation to their coslearing agreements. This case is currently in tkeodery period and could te
several years to be resolved. If Copa, Avianca@n8AM were found at fault and in breach of anstrlegislation, they could |
potentially liable for up to $11 million.

Dividends and Dividend Policy

The payment of dividends on our shares is subgethe discretion of our board of directors. Undan&mnanian law, we m
pay dividends only out of retained earnings anditahgurplus. So long as we do not default in oayments under our lo
agreements, there are no covenants or other tésiscon our ability to declare and pay dividen@sir Articles of Incorporatic
provide that all dividends declared by our boardioéctors will be paid equally with respect to @flithe Class A and Class B sha
See “Item 10B. Additional Information —MemorandumdaArticles of Association—Description of Capitab8k—Dividends.”

Our board of directors has adopted a dividend padlieat provides for the payment of approximately?6l@f our annu:
consolidated net income to shareholders as a didide be declared at our annual shareholdeegting and paid shortly thereaf
Our board of directors may, in its sole discretmm for any reason, amend or discontinue the didgmlicy. Our board of directc
may change the level of dividends provided for his tdividend policy or entirely discontinue the pagnt of dividends. Futu
dividends with respect to shares of our commonkstdcany, will depend on, among other things, oesults of operations, ce
requirements, financial condition, contractual niedbns, business opportunities, provisions of leale law and other factors tl
our board of directors may deem relevant.

On May 9, 2007, our board of directors declaredamual dividend of $0.31 per share payable Jun@d®/ to shareholders
record as of May 31, 2007 which will represent maggregate dividend payment of $13.6 million. OayM 1, 2006, our board
directors declared an annual dividend of $0.19gbare payable June 15, 2006 to shareholders ofdresoof May 31, 2006 whi
will represent in an aggregate dividend paymer&8 million. In addition, we paid an extraordinaliyidend of $10 million to ot
shareholders in December 2004 and another extreoyddividend of $10 million in June 2005. Priorthe December 2004 divide
payment, we had not paid a dividend since the faonaf Copa Holdings in 1998.

B. Significant Changes

None
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Item 9. The Offer and Listing
A. Offer and Listing Details
Our Class A shares have been listed on the New Btokk Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol “CR&ice December 1

2005. The following table sets forth, for the pdsadndicated, the high and low closing sale prioeshe Class A shares on the NY
for the periods indicated.

Low High
2005
Annual 1) 21.9¢ 27.4(
2006
Annual 20.31 49.0¢
First quartel 20.31 27.1(
Second quarte 20.9¢ 24.2¢
Third quartel 21.5¢ 35.2%
Fourth quarte 33.1¢ 49.0¢
Last Six Months
January 200 46.7(C 56.5(
February 200° 53.47 66.47
March 2007 49.5( 59.0(
April 2007 50.5¢ 63.2:
May 2007 59.0¢ 70.9¢
June 200° 59.3: 71.0C

(1) Period beginning December 14, 2005 through Dece®be?005
B. Plan of Distribution

Not applicable.
C. Markets

Our Class A shares have been listed on the NYSEruthd symbol “CPA’since December 14, 2005. Our Class B shares &
listed on any exchange and are not publicly tratféd.are subject to the NYSE corporate governarstiedj standards. The NY!
requires that corporations with shares listed enetkchange comply with certain corporate governataedards. As a foreign priv.
issuer, we are only required to comply with cerfdMSE rules relating to audit committees and pedagrtifications to the NYS|
The NYSE also requires that we provide a summarthefsignificant differences between our corpogeernance practices
those that would apply to a U.S. domestic issuee. Wlieve the following to be the significant difaces between our corpot
governance practices and those that would typiegdply to a U.S. domestic issuer under the NYSa@te governance rules.

In addition, companies that are registered in Panara required to disclose whether or not they dpmifih certain corpora
governance guidelines and principles that are rewended by the National Securities Commissi@oinision Nacional de Valores
or CNV). Statements below referring to Panamaniavegnance standards reflect these voluntary guieglset by the CNV ratt
than legal requirements or standard national prestiOur Class A shares are registered with the ,Gid we comply with t
CNV'’s disclosure requirements.

NYSE Standards Our Corporate Governance Practice

Director Independence Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthsrahe
Majority of board of directors must be independ in every five directors should be an independergador. The
§303A.01 criteria for determining independence under theaRemnian

corporate governance standards differs from the Bl¥fes. In
Panama, a director would be considered indeperadeloing as th
director does not directly or indirectly own 5%rore of the
issued and outstanding voting shares of the compsmpt
involved in the daily management of the companyianbt a
spouse or related to the second degree by bloothoiage to the
persons named abo\
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NYSE Standards

Executive Session:

Nor-management directors must meet regularly in
executive sessions without management. Independent
directors should meet alone in an executive sesi
least once a yea8303A.03

Nominating/corporate governance committe
Nominating/corporate governance committe:
independent directors is required. The committee
must have a charter specifying the purpose, duties
and evaluation procedures of the committee.
8303A.04

Compensation committee.

Compensation committee of independent directors is
required, which must approve executive officer
compensation. The committee must have a charter
specifying the purpose, duties and evaluation
procedures of the committe§303A.05

Equity compensation plan:
Equity compensation plans require sharehol
approval, subject to limited exemptiol

Code of Ethics.

Corporate governance guidelines and a code of
business conduct and ethics is required, with
disclosure of any waiver for directors or executive
officers. 8303A.10

Our Corporate Governance Practice

Our Articles of Incorporation require us to havesthindependent
directors as defined under the NYSE ru

There are no mandatory requirements under Panamiaweathat ¢
company should hold, and we currently do not hsldh
executive sessions.

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthegnd
registered companies have a nominating committegosed of
three members of the board of directors, at leastad which
should be an independent director, plus the chie€etive officer
and the chief financial officer. In Panama, the arigy of public
corporations do not have a nominating or corpagateernance
committee. Our Articles of Incorporation requiratfive maintain
a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committele atiteast
one independent director until the first sharehddeeeting to
elect directors after such time as the Class Aeshare entitled to
full voting rights.

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthagritie
compensation of executives and directors be oversg¢he
nominating committee but do not otherwise addresseed for a
compensation committee.

While we maintain a compensation committee thatatps under
a charter as described by the NYSE governance atasd
currently one of the members of that committe@dependent

Under Panamanian law, shareholder approval isetptired for
equity compensation plans.

Panamanian corporate governance standards doquite¢he
adoption of specific guidelines as contemplatedhieyNYSE
standards, although they do require that compatisetose
differences between their practices and a lispet#ied practices
recommended by the CNV.

We have not adopted a set of corporate governandelmes as
contemplated by the NYSE, although we will be reggito
comply with the disclosure requirement of the CI

Panamanian corporate governance standards reconthegnd
registered companies adopt a code of ethics caysrinh topics ¢
its ethical and moral principles, how to addressflicis of
interest, the appropriate use of resources, obigato inform of
acts of corruption and mechanism to enforce theptiamce with
established rules of condu
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D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.
E. Dilution
Not applicable.
F. Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.
Item 10. Additional Information
A. Share Capital
Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

Copa Holdings was formed on May 6, 1998 as a catjmr (sociedad andnimajuly incorporated under the laws of Pane
with an indefinite duration. The Registrant is stgied under Public Document No. 3.989 of May H818f the Notary Numbe
Eight of the Circuit of Panama and recorded inRlablic Registry Office, Microfilm (Mercantile) Seoh, Microjacket 344962, Filr
Roll 59672, Frame 0023.

Objects and Purposes

Copa Holdings is principally engaged in the investimin airlines and aviatiorelated companies and ventures, although
Articles of Incorporation grant us general powa&engage in any other lawful business, whethemoreiated to any of the speci
purposes set forth in the Articles of Incorporation

Description of Capital Stock

The following is a summary of the material termsCopa Holdings capital stock and a brief summary of certain gigant
provisions of Copa Holdir's Articles of Incorporation. This description coints all material information concerning the comn
stock but does not purport to be complete. For toiatl information regarding the common stock, refee is made to the Articl
of Incorporation, a copy of which has been filechasexhibit to the registration statement of whiais prospectus forms a part.

For purposes of this section only, reference tor*oor “the company” shall refer only to Copa Holdings and reference:
“Panamanians” shall refer to those entities or natural personatthre considered Panamanian nationals under theadsaniar
Aviation Act, as it may be amended or interpre

Common Stock
Our authorized capital stock consists of 80 millsimares of common stock without par value, dividlgd Class A share
Class B shares and Class C shares. As of May 8%, 26 had 30,967,394 Class A shares, 12,778,128 @ shares and no Clas

shares issued. Class A and Class B shares hawsathe economic rights and privileges, including rilgat to receive dividend:
except as described in this section.
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Class A Shares

The holders of the Class A shares are not entiladte at our shareholdensieetings, except in connection with the follow
specific matters:

. a transformation of Copa Holdings into another ooage type
. a merger, consolidation or s-off of Copa Holdings

. a change of corporate purpo

e voluntarily delisting Class A shares from the NY

. approving the nomination of Independent Directomsninated by our board of directsrNominating and Corporz
Governance Committee following our next annual galnghareholders meeting; a

. any amendment to the foregoing special voting miowis adversely affecting the rights and privilegéshe Class.
shares

At least 30 days prior to taking any of the actitisted above, we must give notice to the Clas:4 @lass B shareholders of
intention to do so. If requested by shareholdepsesenting at least 5% of our outstanding shahesboard of directors shall call
extraordinary shareholders’ meeting to approve saation. At the extraordinary shareholdemseting, shareholders representil
majority of all of the outstanding shares must appra resolution authorizing the proposed actiam.dtch purpose, every holdel
our shares is entitled to one vote per share. Seghareholders Meetings.”

The Class A shareholders will acquire full votirights, entitled to one vote per Class A share ¢rmaltters upon whic
shareholders are entitled to vote, if in the futowe Class B shares ever represent fewer than IQ@Pe @otal number of shares of |
common stock and the Independent Directors Comenitfeall have determined that such additional votights of Class.
shareholders would not cause a triggering eveetned to below. In such event, the right of thes€lA shareholders to vote on
specific matters described in the preceding papdgwaill no longer be applicable. The 10% threshaddcribed in the first senter
of this paragraph will be calculated without givieffect to any newly issued shares sold with thpreyal of the Independe
Directors Committee.

At such time, if any, as the Class A shareholderime full voting rights, the Board of Directorhadl call an extraordina
shareholdersmeeting to be held within 90 days following theedas of which the Class A shares are entitled te wo all matters
our shareholders’ meetings. At the extraordinaareholdersmeeting, the shareholders shall vote to electlellem members of tl
board of directors in a slate recommended by thaiNating and Governance Committee. The terms dof@fbf the directors th
were serving prior to the extraordinary sharehaldereeting shall terminate upon the election heldhat meeting.

Class B Shares

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to oote per share on all matters for which shareholdersntitled to vote. Class
shares will be automatically converted into Classh@res upon the registration of transfer of su@res to holders which are
Panamanian as described below under “—Restricbaritransfer of Common Stock; Conversion of Classhares.”

Class C Shares

Upon the occurrence and during the continuancetafjgering event described below in "—Aviation Rig Protections,the
Independent Directors Committee of our board oéatrs, or the board of directors as a whole ifliagble, are authorized to iss
Class C shares to the Class B holders pro rateopoption to such Class B holdesvnership of Copa Holdings. The Class C st
will have no economic value and will not be tramafge, but will possess such voting rights as trdependent Directors Commit
shall deem necessary to ensure the effective domitthhe company by Panamanians. The Class C shallelse redeemable by tl
company at such time as the Independent Directonsniittee determines that such a triggering eveat slo longer be in effect. Tl
Class C shares will not be entitled to any divideadany other economic rights.
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Restrictions on Transfer of Common Stock; Convernsiof Class B Share

The Class B shares may only be held by Panamaraadsupon registration of any transfer of a ClashBre to a holder tt
does not certify that it is Panamanian, such (Basbare shall automatically convert into a Classhare. Transferees of Clas
shares will be required to deliver to us writtentifieation of their status as a Panamanian asralition to registering the transfer
them of Class B shares. Class A shareholders willbe required or entitled to provide such cedien. If a Class B shareholt
intends to sell any Class B shares to a persorhdwhot delivered a certification as to Panamanéaionality and immediately aff
giving effect to such proposed transfer the outite; Class B shares would represent less than 10%uiooutstanding stot
(excluding newly issued shares sold with the apgro¥ our Independent Directors Committee), théirgglshareholder must infor
the board of directors at least ten days prioutthdransfer. The Independent Directors Committag determine to refuse to regis
the transfer if the Committee reasonably concludasthe basis of the advice of a reputable exteasadnautical counsel, that si
transfer would be reasonably likely to cause ag#igg event as described below. After the firgireholdersmeeting at which tt
Class A shareholders are entitled to vote for tleetien of our directors, the role of the IndepemdBirectors described in t
preceding sentence shall be exercised by the drtamd of directors acting as a whole.

Also, the board of directors may refuse to registdransfer of stock if the transfer violates amgvsion of the Articles ¢
Incorporation.

Tag-along Rights

Our board of directors may refuse to register aagdfer of shares in which CIASA proposes to siEs€ B shares pursuant i
sale at a price per share that is greater thaawbeage public trading price per share of the CAashares for the preceding 30 day
an unrelated third party that would, after givirfeet to such sale, have the right to elect a nilgjaf the board of directors a
direct our management and policies, unless thegsexb purchaser agrees to make, as promptly asbfgsaipublic offer for tr
purchase of all outstanding Class A shares ancds@ashares at a price per share equal to the peicehare paid for the shares b
sold by CIASA. While our Articles of Incorporatigrovide limited rights to holders of our Class Aasbs to sell their shares at
same price as CIASA in the event that a sale o§lashares by CIASA results in the purchaser Igathia right to elect a major
of our board, there are other change of contrais@ations in which holders of our Class A sharesildvmot have the right
participate, including the sale of interests byagtypthat had previously acquired Class B sham® {€IASA, the sale of interests
another party in conjunction with a sale by CIASKe sale by CIASA of control to more than one paotythe sale of controllir
interests in CIASA itself.

Aviation Rights Protection:

As described in “Regulation—Panamdkie Panamanian Aviation Act, including the relatextrees and regulations, and
bilateral treaties between Panama and other cesnthiat allow us to fly to those countries requhvat Panamanians exerc
“effective control” of Copa and maintain “signifiseownership”of the airline. The Independent Directors Commitiese certai
powers under our Articles of Incorporation to emsthrat certain levels of ownership and control op& Holdings remain in tl
hands of Panamanians upon the occurrence of cériggering events referred to below.

In the event that the Class B shareholders reprdsss than 10% of the total share capital of thmgany (excluding new
issued shares sold with the approval of our InddeenDirectors Committee) and the Independent BoiredcCommittee determin
that it is reasonably likely that Copa’s or Copdditgs’ legal ability to engage in the aviation businestoaxercise its internatior
route rights will be revoked, suspended or matigriahibited in a manner which would materially aadversely affect the compa
in each case as a result of such Ramamanian ownership (each a triggering event)lnidhependent Directors Committee may
either or both of the following actions:
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. authorize the issuance of additional Class B sh@résanamanians at a price determined by the Imiiepe Directors 1
reflect the current market value of such share

. authorize the issuance to Class B shareholdersmuriber of Class C shares as the Independent BiseCommittee, ¢
the board of directors if applicable, deems neggssad with such other terms and conditions esthbti by th
Independent Directors Committee that do not coeé@nomic rights on the Class C sha

Dividends

The payment of dividends on our shares is subfetié discretion of our board of directors. Undan&@manian law, we m
pay dividends only out of retained earnings andtabpurplus. Our Articles of Incorporation provitleat all dividends declared
our board of directors will be paid equally wittspect to all of the Class A and Class B shares.board of directors has adopte
dividend policy that provides for the payment opagximately 10% of our annual consolidated net meao Class A and Class
shareholders. Our board of directors may, in ile sliscretion and for any reason, amend or disnagtithe dividend policy. O
board of directors may change the level of dividepdovided for in this dividend policy or entiretiiscontinue the payment
dividends.

Shareholder Meeting:
Ordinary Meetings

Our Articles of Incorporation require us to hold @mlinary annual meeting of shareholders withinfttet five months of eac
fiscal year. The ordinary annual meeting of shalddrs is the corporate body that elects the bo&directors, approves the ann
financial statements of Copa Holdings and apprares other matter that does not require an extraargishareholdergheeting
Shareholders representing at least 5% of the isaneldoutstanding common stock entitled to vote malymit proposals to |
included in such ordinary shareholders meetingyidem the proposal is submitted at least 45 daigs v the meeting.

Extraordinary Meetings
Extraordinary meetings may be called by the bodrdirectors when deemed appropriate. Ordinary aticherdinary meeting
must be called by the board of directors when rstgukby shareholders representing at least 5%eoHued shares entitled to \
at such meeting. Only matters that have been destrin the notice of an extraordinary meeting maydealt with at thi
extraordinary meeting.
Vote required

Resolutions are passed at shareholders meetingisebgffirmative vote of a majority of those shaesgitled to vote at su
meeting and present or represented at the meeting.

Notice and Location
Notice to convene the ordinary annual meeting draexdinary meeting is given by publication in agast one nation
newspaper in Panama and at least one national apesspvidely read in New York City not less thandzgs in advance of t
meeting. We intend to publish such official notiges national journal recognized by the NYSE.

Shareholders’ meetings are to be held in Pananya Ranama unless otherwise specified by the bdaddtaxctors.
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Quorum

Generally, a quorum for a shareholdenséeting is established by the presence, in persohyoproxy, of shareholde
representing a simple majority of the issued shaligiéble to vote on any actions to be consideresuah meeting. If a quorum is r
present at the first meeting and the original reofmr such meeting so provides, the meeting caimbeediately reconvened on t
same day and, upon the meeting being reconvenadetsiiders present or represented at the reconuweereting are deemed
constitute a quorum regardless of the percentagfeecshares represented.

Proxy Representation

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that, for #mng as the Class A shares do not have full votigbts, each holder, t
owning our Class A shares, grants a general proxthé Chairman of our board of directors or anysperdesignated by o
Chairman to represent them and vote their shardhenbehalf at any shareholdemsketing, provided that due notice was mad
such meeting and that no specific proxy revokingeplacing the general proxy has been received saoh holder prior to th
meeting in accordance with the instructions prodibg the notice.

Other Shareholder Rights

As a general principle, Panamanian law bars theonityajof a corporatiors shareholders from imposing resolutions wi
violate its articles of incorporation or the lawdagrants any shareholder the right to challengthinv30 days, any shareholders’
resolution that is illegal or that violates itsielgs of incorporation or biaws, by requesting the annulment of said resatugiod/ol
the injunction thereof pending judicial decisionindrity shareholders representing at least 5% lofsalied and outstanding sha
have the right to require a judge to call a shddsgre’ meeting and to appoint an independent auditor ogyto examine th
corporate accounting books, the background of timepany’s incorporation or its operation.

Shareholders have no pre-emptive rights on theisénew shares.

Our Articles of Incorporation provide that direcowill be elected in staggered twear terms, which may have the effec
discouraging certain changes of control.

Listing

Our Class A shares are listed on the NYSE undesyh#ol “CPA.”"The Class B shares and Class C shares will nasteel lon
any exchange unless the board of directors detesnrtimat it is in the best interest of the companiist the Class B shares on -
Panama Stock Exchange.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class deshis Mellon Investor Services LLC. Until the baf directors otherwis
provides, the transfer agent for our Class B sharesany Class C shares is Galindo, Arias & Lopéichv maintains the sha
register for each class in Panama. Transfers a§s(Bashares must be accompanied by a certificaticthe transferee that su
transferee is Panamanian.

Summary of Significant Differences between Sharetiets Rights and Other Corporate Governance Matters Und@namanian
Corporation Law and Delaware Corporation Law

Copa Holdings is a Panamanian corporatisagiedad anénim@ The Panamanian corporation law was originallydeied afte
the Delaware General Corporation Law. As such, mathe provisions applicable to Panamanian anciDate corporations a
substantially similar, including (1) a directsrfiduciary duties of care and loyalty to the cogiimn, (2) a lack of limits on tr
number of terms a person may serve on the boardirettors, (3) provisions allowing shareholdersvime by proxy ani
(4) cumulative voting if provided for in the ard of incorporation. The following table highlightee most significant provisior
that materially differ between Panamanian corporataw and Delaware corporation law.
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Panama

Delaware

Directors

Conflict of Interest Transactionslransactions involving a
Panamanian corporation and an interested directoificer are
initially subject to the approval of the board afedtors.

At the next shareholders’ meeting, shareholderstiaén have
the right to disapprove the board of directors’isien and to
decide to take legal actions against the direaprsficers who
voted in favor of the transaction.

Terms. Panamanian law does not set limits on the leafjthe
terms that a director may serve. Staggered terenallmwed bu
not required.

Number. The board of directors must consist of a minimafm
three members, which could be natural personsgat kentities

Authority to take Action. In general, a simple majority of the
board of directors is necessary and sufficienake tany action
on behalf of the board of directo

Conflict of Interest Transactionslransactions involving a
Delaware corporation and an interested directohatf
corporation are generally permitted

(1) the material facts as to the interested dirtelationship
or interest are disclosed and a majority of disegted directors
approve the transaction;

(2) the material facts are disclosed as to theésted director’s
relationship or interest and the stockholders agpthe
transaction; o

(3) the transaction is fair to the corporationhet time it is
authorized by the board of directors, a committiethe board c
directors or the stockholdel

Terms. The Delaware General Corporation Law generally
provides for a one-year term for directors. Howetlee
directorships may be divided into up to three @assith up to
three-year terms, with the years for each clasgiaggn
different years, if permitted by the articles ofanporation, an
initial by-law or a b-law adopted by the shareholde

Number. The board of directors must consist of a mininafm
one membel

Authority to take Action. The articles of incorporation or by-
laws can establish certain actions that requirapproval of
more than a majority of directol

Shareholder Meetings and Voting Rights

Quorum. The quorum for shareholder meetings must beyset b Quorum. For stock corporations, the articles of incorpioraor

the articles of incorporation or the by-laws. I thrticles of
incorporation and the naotice for a given meetingsavide, if
guorum is not met a new meeting can be immediat@led anc
guorum shall consist of those present at such neeting.

Action by Written Consel. Panamanian law does not permit
shareholder action without formally calling a megti
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bylaws may specify the number to constitute a guomobuit in nc
event shall a quorum consist of less than one-tifishares
entitled to vote at a meeting. In the absence cifi su
specifications, a majority of shares entitled ttevshall
constitute a quorun

Action by Written Consel. Unless otherwise provided in the
articles of incorporation, any action required errpitted to be
taken at any annual meeting or special meetingoakkolders
of a corporation may be taken without a meetingheit prior
notice and without a vote, if a consent or consentgriting,
setting forth the action to be so taken, is sigmgthe holders ¢
outstanding shares having not less than the minimumber of
votes that would be necessary to authorize orsakh action s
a meeting at which all shares entitled to votegbernwere
present and note
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Panama

Delaware

Other Shareholder Rights

Shareholder ProposalsShareholders representing 5% of the
issued and outstanding capital of the corporateretthe right
to require a judge to call a general shareholdaegting and to
propose the matters for vote.

Appraisal Right:. Shareholders of Panamanian corporation do
not have the right to demand payment in cash ofuttieially
determined fair value of their shares in connectiith a

merger or consolidation involving the corporatidievertheles:

in a merger, the majority of shareholders couldrapp the tota
or partial distribution of cash, instead of sham#ghe surviving
entity.

Shareholder Derivative ActionAny shareholder, with the
consent of the majority of the shareholders, canasubehalf of
the corporation, the directors of the corporationd breach of
their duties of care and loyalty to the corporatiora violation
of the law, the articles of incorporation or thelaws.

Inspection of Corporate Recor. Shareholders representing at
least 5% of the issued and outstanding sharesafdtporation
have the right to require a judge to appoint arfrahdent
auditor to examine the corporate accounting boibiles,
background of the compa’s incorporation or its operatio
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Shareholder ProposalsDelaware law does not specifically
grant shareholders the right to bring businessrbedn annual
or special meeting. If a Delaware corporation isjsct to the
SEC'’s proxy rules, a shareholder who owns at IB2£00 in
market value, or 1% of the corporation’s securiéastled to
vote, may propose a matter for a vote at an armuspecial
meeting in accordance with those ru

Appraisal Right:. Delaware law affords shareholders in certain
cases the right to demand payment in cash of thieigally-
determined fair value of their shares in connectiith a

merger or consolidation involving their corporatibtowever,

no appraisal rights are available if, among othargs and
subject to certain exceptions, such shares weegllsn a
national securities exchange or designated natinasket

system or such shares were held of record by rhare 2,000
holders.

Shareholder Derivative ActionsSubject to certain requireme
that a shareholder make prior demand on the bdatulextors
or have an excuse not to make such demand, a stdgemay
bring a derivative action on behalf of the corpimato enforce
the rights of the corporation against officersediors and third
parties. An individual may also commence a clagg@asuit on
behalf of himself and other similarbituated stockholders if tt
requirements for maintaining a class action underelaware
General Corporation Law have been met. Subjeatjtitable
principles, a thregear period of limitations generally applies
such shareholder suits against officers and dirs

Inspection of Corporate Recor. A shareholder may inspect or
obtain copies of a corporation’s shareholder list &s other
books and records for any purpose reasonably tetata
person’s interest as a shareholder.
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Panama

Delaware

Anti -takeover Provisions

Panamanian corporations may include in their asicf
incorporation or by-laws classified board and supajority
provisions.

Panamanian corporation law’'s anti-takeover prowisiapply
only to companies that are(1) registered with th&/Gor a
period of six months before the public offering,f&ve over
3,000 shareholders, and(3) have a permanent affitanama
with full time employees and investments in thertoufor
more than $1,000,000.

These provisions are triggered when a buyer malesblc
offer to acquire 5% or more of any class of sharndls a marke
value of at least $5,000,000. In sum, the buyertekver to
the corporation a complete and accurate staterhaniricludes
(1) the name of the company, the number of theeshtdiat the
buyer intends to acquire and the purchase pricth@identity
and background of the person acquiring the sh&)ettié sourc
and amount of the funds or other goods that wilibed to pay
the purchase price;(4) the plans or project theebtigs once it
has acquired the control of the company;(5) the memof
shares of the company that the buyer already haszor
beneficiary of and those owned by any of its doestofficers,
subsidiaries, or partners or the same, and angdcdions made
regarding the shares in the last 60 days;(6) cotstra
agreements, business relations or negotiationsdiega
securities issued by the company in which the bigyarparty;
(7) contract, agreements, business relations artizigpns
between the buyer and any director, officer or beiaey of the
securities; and(8) any other significant informati®his
declaration will be accompanied by, among otharghj a copy
of the buye’s financial statement

If the board of directors believes that the statedees not
contain all required information or that the stageins
inaccurate, the board of directors must send ttersient to the
CNV within 45 days from the buyer’s initial deliyeof the
statement to the CNV. The CNV may then hold a puidiaring
to determine if the information is accurate and ptate and if
the buyer has complied with the legal requirementg CNV
may also start an inquiry into the case, havingpihwer to
decide whether or not the offer may be m:

Regardless of the above, the board of directorgieaauthority
to submit the offer to the consideration of therehalders. The
board should only convene a shareholders’ meetimgnvit
deems the statement delivered by the offeror tcolbeplete and
accurate. If convened, the shareholders’ meetinglditake
place within the next 30 days. At the shareholderséting,
two-thirds of the holders of the issued and outfitemmshares of
each class of shares of the corporation with & tigkote must
approve the offer and the offer is to be executlim60 days
from the shareholders’ approval. If the board desidot to
convene the shareholders’ meeting within 15 dalisviing the
receipt of a complete and accurate statement fhenofferor,
shares may then be purchased. In all cases, tbhgse of
shares can take place only if it is not prohibibgcan
administrative or judicial order or injunctia

Delaware corporations may have a classified bcanger-
majority voting and shareholders’ rights plan.

Unless Delaware corporations specifically electotlise,
Delaware corporations may not enter into a “busines
combination,” including mergers, sales and leasessgets,
issuances of securities and similar transactioith, an
“interested stockholder,” or one that beneficialyns 15% or
more of a corporation’s voting stock, within thresars of such
person becoming an interested shareholder ur

(1) the transaction that will cause the personetmoime an
interested shareholder is approved by the boaditeftors of
the target prior to the transactions;

(2) after the completion of the transaction in vihikie person
becomes an interested shareholder, the interelséedrolder
holds at least 85% of the voting stock of the comion not
including shares owned by persons who are direetodsalso
officers of interested shareholders and shares dwpe
specified employee benefit plans; or

(3) after the person becomes an interested shaehahe
business combination is approved by the boardrettbrs of
the corporation and holders of at least 66.67%efdutstandin
voting stock, excluding shares held by the inteest
shareholder.



The law also establishes some actions or recoofdbg sellers
against the buyer in cases the offer is made itraeantion of
the law.
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Panama Delaware

Previously Acquired Rights

In no event can the vote of the majority sharehsldieprive th No comparable provisions exist under Delaware
shareholders of a corporation of previously-acgliights.

Panamanian jurisprudence and doctrine has estadlisiat the

majority shareholders cannot amend the articlésanfrporatior

and deprive minority shareholders of previouslyta rights

nor impose upon them an agreement that is contoahose

articles of incorporatior

Once a share is issued, the shareholders becoitiecetd the
rights established in the articles of incorporatmal such rights
cannot be taken away, diminished nor extinguishitdoart the
express consent of the shareholders entitled to sgits. If by
amending the articles of incorporation, the rigitsnted to a
class of shareholders is somehow altered or madifig¢heir
disadvantage, those shareholders will need to apphe
amendment unanimous|

C. Material Contracts
Commercial Agreements with Continental Airlines

Our alliance relationship with Continental is gaved by several interrelated agreements. We havededeand restated eact
these agreements and extended them through 2@bhinection with our initial public offering in Dewder 2005.

Alliance Agreement between Continental and Copéngs. Under the alliance agreement, both airlines agremhtinue the
codesharing relationship with extensions as thel/dee appropriate and to work to maintain ourtargt immunity with the DOT. |
order to support the codesharing relationship,atiance agreement also contains provisions mamglati continued frequent fly
relationship between the airlines, setting minimlewels of quality of service for the airlines andceuraging cooperation
marketing and other operational initiatives.

Services Agreement between Continental and CopiadsrUnder the services agreement, both airlines agreeavide to eac
other certain services over the course of the ageee at the providing carrier’incremental cost, subject to certain limitati
Services covered under the agreement include ddasiol purchasing power for equipment purchases imaurance coverag
sharing management information systems, poolinghteaance programs and inventory management, jairing and employe
exchanges, sharing the benefits of other purchaisigacts for goods and services, telecommunicatoisother services.
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Frequent Flyer Participation Agreement between @urttal and Copa AirlinesUnder the frequent flyer participati
agreement, we participate in Continental’s OneResguent flyer global program and on a lm@nded basis in Latin Amerit
Customers in the program receive credit for flygtgsegments operated by us, which can be redeamedérd travel on flights a
those of other partner airlines. The agreement gtserns joint marketing agreements under the progrsettlement procedu
between the airlines and revenue-sharing under barikaffinity relationships.

Trademark License Agreement between ContinentalGomh Airlines.Under the trademark license agreement, Copa hi
right to use a logo incorporating a globe desigt th similar to the globe design of Continergdfgo. Copa also has the right to
Continentals trade dress, aircraft livery and certain othent®ental marks under the agreement that allowousdre closely alig
our overall product with our alliance partner.

Aircraft General Terms Agreement between The Boeingcompany and Copa Airlines

In 1998, Copa entered into an agreement with their@pCompany for the purchase of aircraft, installaof buyer furnishe
equipment provided by Copa, customer support sesvand product assurance. In addition to the &irstgplied, The Boeir
Company will provide maintenance training and ftigiaining programs, as well as operations engingesupport. The agreem:
has been amended several times since then, mesitisein May 2007.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amnautica, S.A. and Copa Airlines

In 2003, Copa entered into a purchase agreemehtBmitpresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A (Embrémrthe purchase
aircraft, customer support services and technighligations.

Purchase Agreement between Empresa Brasileira de Amautica, S.A. and Copa Holdings, S.A.

In February 2006, we entered into a purchase agmeemith Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A iEaer) for th
purchase of aircraft, customer support servicest@ctthical publications.

D. Exchange Controls

There are currently no Panamanian restrictionsheneport or import of capital, including foreigrcbange controls, and
restrictions on the payment of dividends or intenasr are there limitations on the rights of fgrestockholders to hold or vote stc

E. Taxation
United States

The following summary describes the material Unigdtes federal income tax consequences of thershipeand dispositic
of our Class Ashares as of the date hereof. The discussion gbhtlelow is applicable to United States Holdess dafined below
that beneficially own our Class A shares as capisakts for United States federal income tax pepégenerally, property held
investment). This summary does not represent alekbtdescription of the United States federal inediax consequences applic:
to you if you are subject to special treatment urkde United States federal income tax laws, indgdf you are:

. a bank;
. a dealer in securities or currenci
. a financial institution
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. a regulated investment compal
. a real estate investment tru

e aninsurance compan

. a ta>-exempt organizatior

. a person holding our Class A shares as part ofdgihg, integrated or conversion transaction, a traosve sale or
straddle;

. a trader in securities that has elected the -to-market method of accounting for your securit

. a person liable for alternative minimum t;

. a person who owns 10% or more of our voting st

. a partnership or other pi-through entity for United States federal incomepaxposes; o

. a person whos“functional currenc” is not the United States doll:

The discussion below is based upon the provisidnthe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended “@wde”), anc

regulations, rulings and judicial decisions thegmas of the date hereof, and such authoritiesbeagplaced, revoked or modif
so as to result in United States federal incometasequences different from those discussed below.

If you are considering the purchase, ownership or idposition of our Class A shares, you should congufour own tax
advisors concerning the United States federal incomtax consequences to you in light of your partical situation as well a:
any consequences arising under the laws of any othtaxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, “United States Holdengans a beneficial owner of our Class A sharesishfar United States federal inco
tax purposes:
. an individual citizen or resident of the Unitedt8t

. a corporation (or other entity treated as a copmrdor United States federal income tax purposesated or organized
or under the laws of the United States, any staeedf or the District of Columbi

. an estate the income of which is subject to Un@tates federal income taxation regardless of iiscgo or

. a trust if it (1) is subject to the primary supsigh of a court within the United States and oneanore United Statt
persons have the authority to control all substhrdecisions of the trust or (2) has a valid etectin effect unde
applicable United States Treasury regulations tbrémted as a United States pers

Taxation of Dividends

Distributions on the Class A shares (including amewvithheld to reflect Panamanian withholding &xéany) will be taxabl
as dividends to the extent paid out of our curr@naiccumulated earnings and profits, as determimeter United States fede
income tax principles. Such income (including withthtaxes) will be includable in your gross incoaseordinary income on the ¢
actually or constructively received by you. Suckidinds will not be eligible for the dividends raes deduction allowed
corporations.

85




Table of Contents

With respect to nowmerporate United States Holders, certain dividerd®ived in taxable years beginning before Janiy
2011 from a qualified foreign corporation may béjsat to reduced rates of taxation. A foreign cogtion generally is treated a
qualified foreign corporation with respect to dieftls paid by that corporation on shares that adilyetradable on an establist
securities market in the United States. UnitedeStatreasury Department guidance indicates thaCtass A shares, which are lis
on the NYSE, are readily tradable on an establisteedirities market in the United States. Therebsano assurance, however,
our Class A shares will be considered readily todelan an established securities market in latarsieNoneorporate United Stat
Holders that do not meet a minimum holding perieguirement during which they are not protected ftbenrisk of loss or that ele
to treat the dividend income as “investment incomefsuant to Section 163(d)(4) of the Code will heteligible for the reduc
rates of taxation regardless of our status as kfigdaforeign corporation. In addition, the ragduction will not apply to dividends
the recipient of a dividend is obligated to makiatedl payments with respect to positions in sulistiy similar or related propert
This disallowance applies even if the minimum haddperiod has been met. You should consult your axradvisors regarding t
application of these rules to your particular cimgtances.

Subject to certain conditions and limitations, Fraaaian withholding taxes on dividends may be titateforeign taxes eligik
for credit against your United States federal inedax liability. For purposes of calculating theefign tax credit, dividends paid
the Class A shares will be treated as income froorces outside the United States and will genemadiystitute passive incon
Further, in certain circumstances, if you:

. have held Class A shares for less than a specifinadnum period during which you are not protecteshf risk of loss, o
. are obligated to make payments related to the elindd,

you will not be allowed a foreign tax credit foréign taxes imposed on dividends paid on the Qlaskares, if any. The rul
governing the foreign tax credit are complex. Yoe arged to consult your tax advisors regardingateilability of the foreign te
credit under your particular circumstances.

To the extent that the amount of any distributi®oesds our current and accumulated earnings aridspiar a taxable year,
determined under United States federal income ticiples, the distribution will first be treated @ taxfree return of capite
causing a reduction in the adjusted basis of tles<CA shares (thereby increasing the amount of gaidecreasing the amount
loss, to be recognized by you on a subsequent gligpo of the Class A shares), and the balancexéess of adjusted basis will
taxed as capital gain recognized on a sale or exgghéas discussed below under “—Taxation of Caf@tihs”). Consequently, sut
distributions in excess of our current and accutedl@arnings and profits would generally not gige to foreign source income ¢
you would generally not be able to use the foreigx credit arising from any Panamanian withholdiag imposed on su
distributions unless such credit can be appliedjési to applicable limitations) against Unitedt8safederal income tax due on of
foreign source income in the appropriate categoryfdreign tax credit purposes. However, we dointegnd to keep earnings ¢
profits in accordance with United States federabme tax principles. Therefore, you should expleat & distribution will general
be treated as a dividend (as discussed above).

Passive Foreign Investment Company

We do not believe that we are a passive foreigedtment company (a “PFICTr United States federal income tax purp:
(or that we were one in 2006), and we expect toaipen such a manner so as not to become a P-liwever, we are or becom
PFIC, you could be subject to additional Unitedt&tdederal income taxes on gain recognized wipeet to the Class A shares
on certain distributions, plus an interest chargecertain taxes treated as having been deferredruhd PFIC rules. Further, non-
corporate United States Holders will not be eligifdr reduced rates of taxation on any dividendgived from us in taxable ye:
beginning prior to January 1, 2011, if we are alPiflthe taxable year in which such dividends axiel jpr the preceding taxable ye

Taxation of Capital Gains

For United States federal income tax purposes,wiluecognize taxable gain or loss on any salehexge or redemption o
Class A share in an amount equal to the differémtereen the amount realized for the Class A shadeyaur tax basis in the Clas:
share. Such gain or loss will generally be capjth or loss. Capital gains of individuals deriweith respect to capital assets t
for more than one year are eligible for reducedgatf taxation. The deductibility of capital lossesubject to limitations. Any ge
or loss recognized by you will generally be treaedJnited States source gain or loss.
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Information reporting and backup withholding

In general, information reporting will apply to édiends in respect of our Class A shares and theepds from the sa
exchange or redemption of our Class A shares tieapaid to you within the United States (and intaiercases, outside the Uni
States), unless you are an exempt recipient suahcagporation. A backup withholding tax may apjaysuch payments if you fail
provide a taxpayer identification number or cectifion of other exempt status or fail to reportuth dividend and interest income.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholdinges will be allowed as a refund or a credit agaymir United State
federal income tax liability provided the requiieébrmation is timely furnished to the Internal Rene Service.

Panamanian Taxation

The following is a discussion of the material Paaaran tax considerations to holders of Class Aeshander Panamanian
law, and is based upon the tax laws and regulaifiofisrce and effect as of the date hereof, whicy e subject to change. T
discussion, to the extent it states matters of Panén tax law or legal conclusions and subjetiiéoqualifications herein, represe
the opinion of Galindo, Arias & Lopez, our Pananaantcounsel.

General principles
Panamas income tax regime is based on territoriality pipfes, which define taxable income only as thaemie which i
generated from a source within the Republic of Remeor for services rendered outside of Panamawhigh, by their nature, a
intended to directly benefit the local commerciatidties of individuals or corporations which opé within its territory. Sa

taxation principles have governed the Panamansaalfregime for decades, and have been upheldghrodicial and administrati
precedent.

Taxation of dividends

Distributions by Panamanian corporations, whethéhé form of cash, stock or other property, atgestt to a 10% withholdir
tax for the portion of the distribution that isrdtutable to Panamanian sourced income, as definesuant to the territoriali
principles that govern Panamanian tax law. Distidns made by a holding company which corresponditidends paid by i
subsidiary for which the dividend tax was paid, a@ subject to any further withholding under Paaaman law. Therefor
distributions on the Class A shares would not Hgesit to withholding taxes to the extent that sdigtributions are attributable
dividends received from any of our subsidiaries.

Taxation of capital gains

As long as the Class A shares are registered Ww&hQNV and are sold through an organized markatafanian taxes |
capital gains will not apply either to Panamaniansther countrieshationals. As part of the offering process, we haggstered th
Class A shares, with both the New York Stock Exgjgaand the CNV.

Other Panamanian taxes

There are no estate, gift or other taxes imposethéyanamanian government that would affect agnalfithe Class A shar
whether such holder were Panamanian or a natidraalather country.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.
G. Statement by Experts

Not applicable.
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H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the informational requirementghef U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whiclalso known as ti
Exchange Act. Accordingly, we are required to fiégorts and other information with the Commissimejuding annual reports
Form 20-F and reports on FormK6-You may inspect and copy reports and other infion to be filed with the Commission at
Public Reference Room of the Commission at 100 reegt N.W., Washington D.C. 20549, and copies ef riaterials may |
obtained there at prescribed rates. The public ofdgin information on the operation of the Comnue& Public Reference Roc
by calling the Commission in the United States-800-SECB330. In addition, the Commission maintains a webesi www.sec.go
from which you can electronically access the regi&in statement and its materials.

As a foreign private issuer, we are not subjecth® same disclosure requirements as a domestic relg&trant under tl
Exchange Act. For example, we are not requiredrépgre and issue quarterly reports. However, weighrour shareholders w
annual reports containing financial statementstadddy our independent auditors and make avaifebteur shareholders quarte
reports containing unaudited financial data for firgt three quarters of each fiscal year. We (jlaarterly financial statements w
the SEC within two months of each quarter of oscdl year, and we file annual reports on Forn¥2Qithin the time period requir
by the SEC, which is currently six months from Daber 31, the end of our fiscal year.

I. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.
Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures bout Market Risk

The risks inherent in our business are the potelotiaes arising from adverse changes to the pffi¢eel, interest rates and |
U.S. dollar exchange rate.

Aircraft Fuel. Our results of operations are affected by changdise price and availability of aircraft fuel. Tcamage the pric
risk, we use crude oil option contracts, zero codiirs and swap agreements. Market risk is estichas a hypothetical 10% incre
in the December 31, 2006 cost per gallon of fuels&®l on projected 2007 fuel consumption, such amease would result in
increase to aircraft fuel expense of approxima$2$.0 million in 2007, not taking into account alarivative contracts. We currer
have hedged approximately 27% of our projected Z0@Frequirements and 6% of our projected fuelstwnption from January
2008 to June 30, 2008. All existing hedge contraettle by June 2008. We may enter into additidrealging agreements in !
future to reduce volatility in our fuel expenses.

Interest.Our earnings are affected by changes in interéss rdue to the impact those changes have on ihexpsnse froi
variablerate debt instruments and operating leases andterest income generated from our cash and investbaéances. If intere
rates average 10% more in 2007 than they did d@@@$, our interest expense would increase by appedely $0.9 million and tt
fair value of our debt would decrease by approxatya$5.9 million. If interest rates average 10%sles2007 than they did in 20(
our interest income from cash equivalents wouldekese by approximately $0.9 million and the faiuesof our debt would increa
by approximately $6.2 million. These amounts artemeined by considering the impact of the hypottatinterest rates on ¢
variable-rate debt and cash equivalent balancBsember 31, 2006.

Foreign CurrenciesThe majority of our obligations are denominatedli®. dollars. Since Panama uses the U.S. dollkgax
tender, the majority of our operating expenses ase denominated in U.S. dollars. Our foreign ergearisk is limited ¢
approximately 41% of our revenues are in U.S. dellgVhile a significant part of our revenues ardareign currency, no sing
currency represented more than 6% of our operatiwgnues in 2006, except for the Colombian Pesalwhépresented 25'
Generally, our exposure to most of these foreigmetwcies is limited to the period of up to two wedletween the completion ¢
sale and the conversion to U.S. dollars.
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Argentinean Pes
Brazilian Rea
Chilean Pesi
Colombian Pes
Costa Rican Color
Mexican Pest

U.S. Dollar
Venezuelan Boliva
Other(1)

2006 Revenues and Expenses Breakdown by Currency

Revenue Expense
4.5% 2.1%
6.4% 3.2%
3.5% 1.€%
25.2% 13.5%
3.4% 1.€%
4.1% 1.S%
41.2% 70.€%
4.C% 1.7%
7.€% 3.4%

(1) Dominican Peso, Euro, Guatemalan Quetzal, Jam&icHar, Honduran Lempira, Haitian Gourde, Uruguayasc

Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equiy Securities

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquecies
None.
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Seurity Holders and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 15. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedure

Disclosure controls and procedures are designeshgare that information required to be disclosedh@gyCompany in repo
filed or submitted under the Securities Exchangedfd 934 is recorded, processed, summarized gratted within the time perio
specified in the SEG’rules and forms. We carried out an evaluatioreutite supervision of our management, including ahiei
executive officer and chief financial officer, dfet effectiveness of the design and operation ofd@alosure controls and procedt
as of December 31, 2006. There are inherent lifoitatto the effectiveness of any system of discistontrols and procedur
including the possibility of human error and thecamvention or overriding of the controls and pihages. Accordingly, eve
effective disclosure controls and procedures cdy provide reasonable assurance of achieving twitrol objectives. Based ug
our evaluation, our chief executive officer andetHinancial officer concluded that our discloswentrols and procedures w
effective to provide reasonable assurance thatrimdtion required to be disclosed by us in the ripihiat we file or submit under 1
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedegpudted, within the time periods specified in Hpplicable rules and forn
and that it is accumulated and communicated tonrmamagement, including our chief executive officed ahief financial officer, ¢
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repadrtg

Management of the Company is responsible for a@stdabfy and maintaining effective internal contrekofinancial reporting «
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securitieshaxge Act of 1934. The Compasyinternal control over financial reporting
designed to provide reasonable assurance to thep&@uors management and board of directors regarding t&yeapation and fe
presentation of published financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @etmisstatements. Therefc
even those systems determined to be effective maride only reasonable assurance with respecintiniiial statement preparat
and presentation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Cghspaternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2006.
making this assessment, management used the ariteriforth by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgaitna of the Treadw:
Commission (COSO) in Internal Controlrtegrated Framework. Based on this assessmentagearent believes that, as
December 31, 2006, the Company’s internal contvet dinancial reporting is effective based on thosteria.

Managemens assessment of the effectiveness of internal @lsnéiver financial reporting as of December 31,8208s bee
audited by Ernst & Young, the independent registgnablic accounting firm who also audited the Compsa consolidated financi
statements. Ernst & Young's attestation report anagement’s assessment of the Compamyternal controls over financ
reporting is included herein.

Changes in internal control

No significant changes in our internal controldroother factors that could significantly affeceie controls subsequent to
date of the evaluation, including any correctivias with regard to significant deficiencies andterial weaknesses, were mad
a result of the evaluation.
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccountiRigm

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
COPA HOLDINGS, S. A.

We have audited management’s assessment, inclndéeé accompanying ManagemenReport on Internal Control over Finan
Reporting, that Copa Holdings, S.A. and its sulasids (the “Company”)maintained effective internal control over finar
reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on aitgiablished in Internal Controlategrated Framework issued by the Comm
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimisgthe COSO criteria). The Compasymanagement is responsible
maintaining effective internal control over finaakcreporting and for its assessment of the effeatss of internal control o\
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to expsean opinion on managemengssessment and an opinion on the effectivendhs
Company’s internal control over financial reportingsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri@d@nited States). Tho
standards require that we plan and perform thetaadbbtain reasonable assurance about whethectigeinternal control ovi
financial reporting was maintained in all materiespects. Our audit included obtaining an undedstanof internal control ow
financial reporting, evaluating managemsndé'ssessment, testing and evaluating the desigropemting effectiveness of inter
control, and performing such other procedures asamsidered necessary in the circumstances. Wevieethat our audit provide:
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranadiregthe reliability o
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordante generally accepted account
principles. A companyg internal control over financial reporting inclsdéhose policies and procedures that (1) pertaith¢
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detedurately and fairly reflect the transactions digpositions of the assets of
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance thatacsions are recorded as necessary to permit pteggaof financial statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that receipts and expenditures of tiepamy are being made only
accordance with authorizations of management anectdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonalsleurance regardi
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asitjon, use, or disposition of the compasigssets that could have a material €
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d@étisstatements. Also, projectic
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiage subject to the risk that controls may becimradequate because of change
conditions, or that the degree of compliance whithpolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, managemest’assessment that the Company maintained effectteenal control over financial reporting as
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all matergspects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in @pinion, the Compar
maintained, in all material respects, effectivesiinal control over financial reporting as of Decem®1, 2006, based on the CC
criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boédnited States), tl
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as adrbleer 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consatiddaatements of incon
shareholderséquity, and cash flows for each of the three yeatke period ended December 31, 2006 of the Cognpad our repo
dated May 30, 2007 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sl Ernst and Young

Panama City, Republic of Panama
May 30, 2007
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Item 16. Reserved
Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Joastafieda qualifies as an “audit committee firsrexpert’as defined b
current SEC rules and meets the independence eageits of the SEC and the NYSE listing standardisafediscussion of the role
our audit committee, see “Iltem 6C. Board PracticAsidit Committee.”
Item 16B. Code of Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Basi@nduct and Ethics applicable to our directoifs;ers, employees a
consultants. The Code of Business Conduct and €ttda be found at www.copaair.com under the heatimgstor Relations-
Corporate Governance.” Information found at thidsree is not incorporated by reference into thiswtoent.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth by category of seevihe total fees for services performed by ouejehdent auditors Ernst
Young during the fiscal years ended December 305 2td 2006:

2005 2006
Audit Fees $ 1,717,00: $ 959,42¢
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —
Total $ 1,717,00: $ 959,42¢
Audit Fees

Audit fees for 2006 included the audit of our arinfil@ancial statements and internal controls, theiew of our quarter|
reports, and $64 thousand related to services redde connection with our follow-on offering of&is A shares in June 2006.

Audit fees for 2005 included the audit of our arnfiancial statements and approximately $1.1 wnillirelated to servic
rendered in connection with our initial public affeg in December 2005.

Audit-Related Fees

There were no audit-related fees for 2006.
Tax Fees

There were no tax fees.

All Other Fees

There were no other fees for services performeBrgt & Young during the fiscal years ended Decan3lie 2005 and 2006.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee approves all audit, auditited services, tax services and other servigasded by Ernst & Young. Ar
services provided by Ernst & Young that are noc#mally included within the scope of the audit stle preapproved by the aut
committee in advance of any engagement. Pursudtti®2-01 of Regulation %; audit committees are permitted to approve ce

fees for audit-related services, tax services ahdraservices pursuant toda minimisexception prior to the completion of an a
engagement. In 2006, none of the fees paid to Brivaiung were approved pursuant to theeminimisexception.
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Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards forAudit Committees

None.

Item 16E. Purchase of Equity Securities by the Is®r and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

PART 1lI

Item 17. Financial Statements

See “ltem 18. Financial Statements.”

Item 18. Financial Statements

See our consolidated financial statements beginmmBage F-1.

Item 19. Exhibits

1.1%

2.1*

2.2*

10.1%*t

10.2*%*t

10.3**t

10.4**t

10.5%*t

10.6**t

10.7*%*t

10.8**t

10.9%*t

English translation of the Articles of IncorporatipPacto Socia) of the Registrar

Form of Second Amended and Restated Shareholdgreefent among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporacién de
Inversiones /#£reas, S.A. and Continental Airlines, I

Form of Amended and Restated Registration Righteé&ment among Copa Holdings, S.A., Corporaciéon de
Inversiones £reas, S.A. and Continental Airlines, It

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October ®818etween First Security Bank and Compariia Pafiame
Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model -71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 amgriircraft Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 18@8veen
First Security Bank and Compafiia Panamerfia de Ana8.A., in respect of One Boeing Model 737-71@rft,
Manufacture’s Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of R1gy2004 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated Octdhé998,
between First Security Bank and Compafiia Paname@aidcion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model 737971
Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of October ®818etween First Security Bank and Compariia Pafiame
Aviacion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model +71Q Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Letter Agreement dated as of November 6, 1998 amgmrcraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Octohdr9P8,
between First Security Bank and Compafiia Paname@widcion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model 737371
Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Amendment Agreement dated as of R1gy2003 to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated Octdhé998,
between First Security Bank and Compafiia Paname@widcion, S.A., in respect of Boeing Model 737371
Aircraft, Serial No. 2904

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novembei1988, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @onpafiia
Panamfia de Aviacdn, S.A., Boeing Model 7:-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 8881
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Coni@&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737 Aidraft,
Serial No. 2860

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 1998itoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1888yeen
Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Compafiia Paferde Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Model 737-700 Airtr&erial
No. 28607
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10.10**%

10.11**t

10.12**t

10.13**%

10.14**%

10.15**%

10.16**t

10.17**t

10.18**%

10.19**t

10.20**

10.21*t

10.22*t

10.23**

10.24**%

10.25**

10.26**

10.27**t

10.28**%

10.29**

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agrof30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smwilnc. and Comjiiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing
Model 73°-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 2860

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novemberl288, between Aviation Financial Services Inc. @udnpafiia
Panamfia de Aviacdn, S.A., Boeing Model 7:-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Letter Agreement No. 1 dated as of November 18818%ircraft Lease Agreement, dated November 8881
between Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Conigp&fanamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing Model 737 Aibfraft,
Serial No. 3004

Letter Agreement No. 2 dated as of March 8, 199itoraft Lease Agreement, dated November 18, 1888yeen
Aviation Financial Services Inc. and Compafiia Pafade Aviacién, S.A., Boeing Model 737-700 Airtr&erial
No. 3004¢

Lease Extension and Amendment Agreement dated Agrof30, 2003, to Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated
November 18, 1998, between Aviation Financial Smwilnc. and Comjiiia Panamefia de Aviacion, S.A., Boeing
Model 73°-700 Aircraft, Serial No. 3004

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of Novembe2B03, between International Lease Finance Cormoratnd
Compsiiia Panamfia de Aviacon, S.A., New B73-700 or 800, Serial No. 306°

Aircraft Lease Agreement, dated as of March 4, 20@4ween International Lease Finance Corporatmmh@ompafiia
Panamfia de Aviacdn, S.A., New B73-700 or 800, Serial No. 328(

Aircraft Lease Agreement dated as of December @34 2between Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A. andh@afiia
Panamfia de Aviacdn, S.A., in respect of Boeing B7-800 Aircraft, Serial No. 2967

Embraer 190LR Purchase Agreement DCT-006/2003 deted May 2003 between Embraer— Empresa Brasitieira
Aeroréutica S.A. and Regional Aircraft Holdings Li

Letter Agreement DCT-007/2003 between Embraer—Es#Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regional raftc
Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase Agreement [-006/2002

Letter Agreement DCT-008/2003 between Embraer—Es#Brasileira de Aeronautica S.A. and Regionalraftc
Holdings Ltd., relating to Purchase Agreement [-006/2002

Embraer 190 Purchase Agreement COM 0028-06 datedi&iey 2006 between Embraer—Empresa Brasileira de
Aeroréutica S.A. and Copa Holdings, S.A. relating to Eagsrl90LR aircrat

Letter Agreement COM 0029-06 to the Embraer Agregrdated February 2006 between Embraer—Empresa
Brasileira de Aercautica S.A. and Copa Holdings, S.A. relating to Eagorl90LR aircral

Aircraft General Terms Agreement, dated Novemberl®98, between The Boeing Company and Copa Hdlding
S.A.

Purchase Agreement Number 2191, dated Novembdr9®8, between The Boeing Company and Copa Holdings,
S.A,, Inc. relating to Boeing Model 7-7V3 & 737-8V3 Aircraft

Supplemental Agreement No. 1 dated as of June¥, & Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between dbm@
Company and Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 2 dated as of Decenthe21 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 betwken T
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 3 dated as of June@D® © Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between dbm@
Company and Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 4 dated as of Decenthe2D2 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 betwkeen T
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 5 dated aBatbber 31, 2003 to Purchase Agreement Number Bé8teen The



Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

10.30**t Supplemental Agreement No. 6 dated as of Septetn#04 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 betwken T
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S
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10.31**%

10.32**%

10.33*t

10.34*t

10.35**F

10.36**%

10.37**

10.38**

10.39**

10.40**
10.41**
10.42**
10.43**

10.44tt

10.45t%

10.46t7

12.1

12.2

131
13.2

21.1%

Supplemental Agreement No. 7 dated as of Decemi0® to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 between Th
Boeing Company and Copa Holdings, S

Supplemental Agreement No. 8 dated as of April2ZD®5 to Purchase Agreement Number 2191 betweeBdbimg
Company and Copa Holdings, S.

Supplemental Agreement No. 9 dated as of Marct2Q66 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2&a8dd
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company apé Goldings, S.A

Supplemental Agreement No. 10 dated as of May 8620 the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 213%ddat
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company apé Goldings, S.A

Maintenance Cost per Hour Engine Service Agreentatieéd March 5, 2003, between G.E. Engine Servinesand
Copa Holdings, S.A

English translation of Aviation Fuel Supply Agreemhedated July 18, 2005, between Petroleos Delfa, &hd
Compsiia Panamfia de Aviacén, S.A.

Form of Guaranteed Loan Agreem:

Form of Amended and Restated Alliance Agreementéen Continental Airlines, Inc. and Compaiiia Parianuie
Aviacion, S.A.

Form of Amended and Restated Services AgreemeweketContinental Airlines, Inc. and Compariia Parfeme
Aviacién, S.A.

Form of Amended and Restated Frequent Flyer Proarticipation Agreemet
Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. 2005 Stock Incentivart

Form of Copa Holdings, S.A. Restricted Stock AwAgieemen

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Regist’s directors

Supplemental Agreement No. 11 dated as of Augus2@06 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number gagd
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company apé Goldings, S.A

Supplemental Agreement No. 12 dated as of Feb2@&r2007 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Numbgt gated
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company apé Goldings, S.A

Supplemental Agreement No. 13 dated as of April22®7 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number gagsdd
November 25, 1998 between the Boeing Company apé Goldings, S.A

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, puesu to Rules 13a-14 and 13d-under the Securities Exchange Ac
1934.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puesut to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Secultieange Act of
1934.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuantSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puiesut to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Subsidiaries of the Registre

*  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibit andorporated by reference from our Registratioate&hent on Form E; filed
June 15, 2006, File No. 3-135031.

**  Previously filed with the SEC as an exhibitcaimcorporated by reference from our Registratitetednent on Form E; filed
November 28, 2005, as amended on December 1, 2@DBecember 13, 2005, File No. -129967.



t  The Registrant was granted confidential treatmenpértions of this exhibit
tt The Registrant has requested confidential treatfeemortions of this exhibit
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SIGNATURES

The Registrant hereby certifies that it meets &lthe requirements for filing on Form Z9-and that it has duly caused
authorized the undersigned to sign this annualrtepoits behalf.

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.
By: /s/ Pedro Heilbroi

Name: Pedro Heilbron
Title: Chief Executive Officer

Dated: July 2, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
COPA HOLDINGS, S. A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Copa Holdings, S. A. and its subs@igthe “Company”gs o
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related colasetl statements of income, shareholdegsiity, and cash flows for each of
three years in the period ended December 31, Zl$se consolidated financial statements are ttponssbility of the Company’
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial statementedas our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBio(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet éamdibtain reasonable assurance about whethdintnecial statements are free
material misstatement. An audit includes examinorga test basis, evidence supporting the amoutsiisclosures in the financ
statements. An audit also includes assessing ttmuating principles used and significant estimatesle by management, as wel
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@raWe believe that our audits provide a reastmbhsis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégspects, the consolidated finan
position of the Company and its subsidiaries atebdzer 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidatedtsesfutheir operations and th
cash flows for each of the three years in the pegiaded December 31, 2006, in conformity with W&herally accepted account
principles.

As discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated firdratiatements, the Company adopted, effective Dbeee®il, 2006, Statement
Financial Accounting Standard No. 158, “EmployeA€counting for Defined Benefit Pension and OthestRzirement Plans,
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88 and 104.32(R)".

We have also audited, in accordance with the stadsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bofdnited States), tl
effectiveness of the Compamyinternal control over financial reporting as oéd@mber 31, 2006, based on criteria establish
Internal Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee onSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissiod
our report dated May 30, 2007 expressed an unggalipinion thereon.

/sl Ernst and Young

Panama City, Republic of Panama
May 30, 2007
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2006 2005
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivale! $ 169,88( $ 94,10¢
Shor-term investment 27,50( 20,38¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment 197,38( 114,49(
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of of $7,305 and $4,911 as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respecti' 60,31¢ 46,37
Accounts receivable from related part 1,81¢ 15€
Expendable parts and supplies, net of allowancelisolescence of of $21 and $9 as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respecti' 8,661 4,10¢
Prepaid expenst 16,59( 15,40:
Other current asse 5,871 3,81¢
Total Current Asset 290,65: 184,35
Investments 29,03: 26,17
Property and Equipment:
Owned property and equipme
Flight equipmen 857,59¢ 628,87¢
Other 43,71¢ 35,89¢
901,31: 664,77"
Less: Accumulated depreciati (104,179 (79,985
797,13: 584,79(
Purchase deposits for flight equipm: 65,15( 52,75:
Total Property and Equipme 862,28 637,54:
Other Assets:
Prepaid pension ass 64t 1,261
Goodwill 21,77¢ 20,51
Other intangible ass 31,93¢ 31,29¢
Other asset 18,69: 15,77:
Total Other Asset 73,04¢ 68,84:
Total Assets $ 1,255,01 $ 916,91:
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (continued)
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2006 2005
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of lor-term debi $ 91,45: $ 67,90¢
Accounts payabl 47,62% 44,84¢
Accounts payable to related part 8,81¢ 7,75C
Air traffic liability 116,81: 85,67:
Taxes and interest payat 31,49( 27,45(
Accrued expenses payal 32,10¢ 14,78(
Other current liabilitie! 11,26¢ 5,57¢
Total Current Liabilities 339,57 253,97¢
Non-Current Liabilities:
Long-term debt 529,80: 402,95
Post employment benefits liabili 1,701 1,60z
Other lon¢-term liabilities 7,717 8,471
Deferred tax liabilities 4,557 4,03¢
Total Nor-Current Liabilities 543,77 417,06t
Total Liabilities 883,34t 671,04!
Shareholders Equity:
Class A common stock - 30,951,425 shares authoamddssued, 30,034,375 shares
outstanding 20,50: 20,50:
Class B common stoc- 12,778,125 shares authorized, issued, and outatg 8,72 8,72:
Additional paid in capita 3,34( —
Retained earning 343,39( 217,86:
Accumulated other comprehensive I (4,289 (1,21%)
Total Shareholde’ Equity 371,66¢ 245,86
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 1,255,01! $ 916,91.

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancitkeBtents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Operating Revenue:
Passenger reven $ 798,90: $ 563,52 $ 364,61
Cargo, mail and othe 52,25¢ 45,094 35,22¢
851,16( 608,61+ 399,83
Operating Expenses:
Aircraft fuel 217,73( 149,30: 62,54¢
Salaries and benefi 91,38: 69,73( 51,70:
Passenger servicir 64,38( 50,62: 39,22:
Commissions 57,80¢ 45,08 29,07:
Maintenance, material and repe 50,057 32,50¢ 19,74:
Reservations and sal 38,21: 29,21 22,11¢
Aircraft rentals 38,16¢ 27,63 14,44¢
Flight operation: 33,74( 24,94 17,90«
Depreciatior 24,87« 19,857 19,27¢
Landing fees and other rent: 23,92¢ 17,90¢ 12,15¢
Other 44,75¢ 32,62: 29,30¢
685,03 499,42 317,49
Operating Income 166,12: 109,19:. 82,34
Non-operating Income (Expense)
Interest expens (29,15() (21,629 (16,48¢)
Interest capitalize 1,71z 1,08¢ 963
Interest incom: 7,251 3,544 1,42:
Other, ne 18t 39t 6,06°
(19,99¢) (16,607) (8,039
Income before Income Taxes 146,12! 92,59: 74,30
Provision for Income Taxe 12,28¢ 9,59 5,73
Net Income $ 133,83¢ $ 82,99¢ $ 68,57.
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 3.1¢ $ 1.94 $ 1.6C
Diluted $ 3.1C $ 1.94 $ 1.6C

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancitkeBtents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

(US$Thousands)
Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Other
(Nor-par value) Issued Capital Paid in Retained Comprehensive
Class A Class B Class A Class B Capital Earnings Loss Total
At December 31, 2003 30,034,37 12,778,12 $ 20,50! $ 8,72% — $ 86,36( — $115,58:
Net Income — — 68,57 68,57:
Dividends declare — — (10,000 (10,000
At December 31, 200- 30,034,37 12,778,12 20,50! 8,72 — 144,93: — 174,15!
Net Income — — 82,99¢ — 82,99¢
Other comprehensive los
Foreign currency
translation — — — (1,219 (1,219
Total comprehensive
income 81,78:
Dividends Declare: — — (10,069 — (10,069
At December 31, 2005 30,034,37 12,778,12 20,50: 8,722 — 217,86 (1,21¢) 245,86
Net Income 133,83¢ 133,83¢
Other comprehensive los
Net Change in fair value
of derivative
instruments (3,99¢) (3,999
Foreign currency
translatior 1,861 1,861
Total comprehensive
income 131,70:
Restricted Stock Pla 3,34( 3,34(
Actuarial loss (Adoption of
FAS 158), net of tax of
$84 (929 (929)
Dividends Declare: — — (8,31)) (8,317)
At December 31, 200t 30,034,37 12,778,12 $ 20,50! $ 8,727 $ 3,34 $ 343,39( $ (4,289 $371,66¢

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancateBtents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In US$ thousands)

(US$ Thousands)
Year Ended December 31
2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $ 133,83 $ 82,99¢ $ 68,57:
Adjustments for
Deferred income taxe (328) (885) (519
Depreciatior 24,87« 19,857 19,27¢
(Gain) / Loss on sale of property and equipn (612) (1,340 (1,12
Provision for doubtful accoun 3,764 813 1,02¢
Provision for obsolescence of expendable partsapglies 12 3 6
Derivative instruments mark to marl 4,49¢ (16%5) 94t
Stock compensatia 3,34( — —
Changes in
Accounts receivabl (15,319 (11,25¢) 2,281
Accounts receivable from related part (1,667) (44¢) —
Other current asse (8,690 282 (3,319)
Restricted cas 11C (3,69¢) 582
Other asset (3,412 (7,607 (1,430
Accounts payabl 2,69¢ (4,33¢6) 25
Accounts payable to related part 97t 4,017 1,08¢
Air traffic liability 30,65¢ 27,76¢ 6,20(
Other liabilities 18,72: 9,36( 5,01:
Net cash provided by operating activities 193,46¢ 115,36¢ 98,63
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment (32,989 (48,299 (38,087)
Proceed from redemption of investme 22,90¢ 20,66: 30,63¢
Advance payments on aircraft purchase conti (58,69 (49,46)) (16,319
Acquisition of property and equipme (193,33() (63,309 (65,769)
Disposal of property and equipme 3,12¢ 2,80¢ 3,201
Purchase of AeroRepublica, net of acquired « — (22,285 —
Net cash flows used in investing activitie (258,98() (159,88¢) (86,32()
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowir 254 ,55¢ 68,421 101,19¢
Payments on loans and borrowir (77,247 (46,929 (32,12%)
Issuance of bonc — 27,50¢ 6,357
Redemption of bond (27,509 — (35,679
Dividends declared and pe (8,31)) (10,069) (20,000
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 141,49¢ 38,92¢ 29,75t
Effect of exchange rate change on ca: (212) 29 —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 75,77¢ (5,560 42,06¢
Cash and cash equivalents at Januget 94,10¢ 99,66¢ 57,59¢
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 $ 169,88l $ 94,10¢ $ 99,66¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Interest paid, net of amount capitaliz $ 26,77¢ $ 21,12¢ $ 16,02:
Income taxes pai 11,28¢ 7,411 4,28¢

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated FinancitkeBtents are an integral part of these statements.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Corporate Information

Copa Holdings, S. A. (“the Companyi§ a leading Latin American provider of internatbairline passenger and cargo services
Company was incorporated according to the lawshiefRepublic of Panama. The Company owns 99.8%senéltares of Compadii
Panameria de Aviacion, S. A. (“Copa”), 100% of thares of Oval Financial Leasing, Ltd. (“OVAL"), ORAS. A. (“OPAC"),anc
99.8% of the shares of AeroRepublica, S.A. (“Aempiidica”).

Copa, the Compang’core operation, is incorporated according toldiaes of the Republic of Panama and provides intevnal ail
transportation for passengers, cargo and mail. @@esates from its Panama City hub in the Reputfli®anama, from where
offers approximately 108 daily scheduled flightsceng 36 destinations in 21 countries in North, Cardnd South America and !
Caribbean. Additionally, Copa provides passengetks access to flights to more than 120 other irdéamal destinations throu
codeshare agreements with Continental Airlines, [fiContinental”) and other airlines. The Company has a broad comat
alliance with Continental which includes joint mating, code-sharing arrangements, participatiodantinentals OnePass freque¢
flyer loyalty program and access to Continentall® Vounge program, PresidesitClub, along with other benefits such as imprt
purchasing power in negotiations with service pdevs, aircraft vendors and insurers. As of Deceriter2006, Copa operate:
fleet of 30 aircraft with an average age of 3.5rgpeonsisting of 24 modern Boeing 7Réxt Generation aircraft and six (6) Embi
190 aircraft. OVAL is incorporated according to faes of the British Virgin Islands, and controtetspeciapurpose vehicles tr
have a beneficial interest in 24 aircraft, with arging value of $726 million, all of which are ke to either Copa Airlines
AeroRepublica. The aircraft are pledged as colidtier the obligation of the speciplirpose vehicles, which are all consolidate
the Company for financial reporting purposes; hosvethe creditors of the specialipose vehicles have no recourse to the ge
credit of the Company or Copa. OPAC is incorporagedording to the laws of the Republic of PanamBAO owned the ol
corporate headquarters building located in PanaityaMdich was sold to a third party during 2006.

Additionally, during 2005 the Company purchased’9®of AeroReplilica, a domestic Colombian air carrier, whichrisarporate
according to the laws of the Republic of Colombia aperates a fleet of ten (10) leased BB and one (1) Embraer 190 aircra
of December 31, 2006 (See Note 3).

On December 15, 2005, the Company concluded thmlimgublic listing on the New York Stock Exchan@®YSE”") and ite
principal shareholders sold 18,112,500 shares aEsCA common stock held by them. Cost related i® ittitial public listing
amounted $3.7 million which are included as a conepb of “Other, net” within Nommperating income (expense) in the Consolid
Statements of Income for 2005.

On June 28, 2006, the Company concluded a followeftering on the NYSE whereby Continental Airlinesie of the Company’
principal shareholders, sold 6,562,500 shares a§<CA common stock at $21.75 per share. Proceefi$38.0 million, net of tr
commissions and discounts of $6.8 million, wereeieed directly by the selling shareholder with mogeeds being received by

Company. Cost related to this follow-on offering@mted $0.3 million which are included as a compored “Other, net"within
Non-operating income (expense) in the ConsolidateteBtants of Income for 2006.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A substantial portion of the Company’s assets aoated in the Republic of Panama, a significanperiion of the Company’
customers are Panamanian, and a significant piopoof the Company flights operate through its hub at Tocumen Iragoma
Airport in Panama City. As a result, the Companpatels on economic and political conditions premgilfrom time to time i
Panama.

"o«

As used in these Notes to Consolidated Financate8tents, the terms “the Company”, “we”,
Copa Holdings, S.A. and, unless the context ind&atherwise, its consolidated subsidiaries.

us”, “oand similar terms refer

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements were peeparaccordance with U.S. generally accepted attoay principles for financii
reporting using the U.S. Dollar as the reportingeuocy.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise abeounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Than€ial statements
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reportinggas the parent company, using consistent a¢gupolicies. Subsidiaries ¢
consolidated from the date on which control is $farred to the Company and cease to be consolideded the date on whic
control is transferred from the Company. All intmpany accounts, transactions and profits arigiog fconsolidated entities he
been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statiets requires management to make estimates andhptssns that affect ti
amounts reported in the consolidated financiakstants and accompanying notes. Actual results atifflet from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bdnkss;term time deposits, asdeicked commercial paper and securities, and
agency securities with original maturities of threenths or less when purchased.

Investments

The Company invests in short-term time depositsetdmcked commercial paper and securities, and U.8ergment agenc
securities with original maturities of more thameth months but less than one year. Additionallg, @ompany invests in lortgsm
time deposits and U.S. government agency securvitidssmaturities greater than 365 days. These imvests are classified as short-
term and longerm investments respectively, in the accompany@umsolidated Balance Sheets. All of these investsnain
classified as held-taiaturity securities, and are stated at their amedlticost, since the Company has determined thasithe intel
and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Rieted cash is classified within lortgfim investments, and is primarily held
collateral for letters of credit.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expendable Parts and Supplies

Expendable parts and supplies for flight equipnartcarried at average acquisition cost and arersegal when used in operatic
An allowance for obsolescence is provided overr#maaining estimated useful life of the related raift; plus an allowance f
expendable parts currently identified as excesgedlnce the carrying cost to net realizable valdgesgé allowances are basec
management estimates, which are subject to change.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost andeqreciated to estimated residual values over éstimated useful lives using
straightline method. Jet aircraft, jet engines and airaratfibles are assumed to have an estimated residiug of 15% of origini
cost; other categories of property and equipmesitaasumed to have no residual value. The estimestefdl lives for property at
equipment are as follows:

Years
Building 40
Jet aircraft 30
Jet engine 30
Ground property and equipme 10
Furniture, fixture, equipment and othi 5to 1(
Software rights and licens 3to8
Aircraft rotables 7 to 3(
Leasehold improvemen Lesser of remaining lease term or useful

Measurement of Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company records impairment losses on loregt assets used in operations, consisting prailgipf property and equipme
when events or changes in circumstances indicamanagemers’ judgment, that the assets might be impaired laadindiscounte
cash flows estimated to be generated by thosesaasetess than the carrying amount of those asSesh flows estimates are bs
on historical results adjusted to reflect the Conypabest estimate of future market and operating iiond. The net carrying val
of assets not recoverable is reduced to fair vellistimates of fair value represent the Compsirbgst estimate based on indu
trends and reference to market rates and transadiod are subject to change.

Revenue Recognition

Passenger Reven

Passenger revenue is recognized when transportatiprovided rather than when a ticket is sold. @hmount of passenger tic
sales not yet recognized as revenue is reflectédintraffic liability” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Fares fortidkat hav
expired and/or are one year old are recognizedssamger revenue. A significant portion of the Canyfs ticket sales are proces

through major credit card companies, resulting ¢eoants receivable which are generally shentn in duration and typical
collected prior to when revenue is recognized. Thenpany believes that the credit risk associaték thiese receivables is minimal.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We are required to charge certain taxes and feesupmpassenger tickets. These taxes and fees et¢tadsportation taxes, airp
passenger facility charges and foreign arrival deplarture taxes. These taxes and fees are legasassnts on the customer. As
have a legal obligation to act as a collection agéth respect to these taxes and fees, we donetitde such amounts in passel
revenue. We record a liability when the amountscaniéected and relieve the liability when paymeats made to the applica
government agency or operating carrier.

Cargo and Mail Services Revenue

Cargo and mail services revenue are recognized Wee@ompany provides the shipping services angliyecompletes the earni
process.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily comprised of excess bggg-harges, commissions earned on tickets solfights on other airlines ai
charter flights, and is recognized when transpioriatr service is provided.

Frequent Flyer Progran

The Company participates in Continental’s “OnePdesjuent flyer program, for which the Compasyassengers receive all
benefits and privileges offered by the OnePassrarogContinental is responsible for the adminigirabf the OnePass progre
Under the terms of the Companyfrequent flyer agreement with Continental, OneRagmbers receive OnePass frequent
mileage credits for travel on Copa and AeroRepabéiod the Company pays Continental a per mile frateach mileage cre:
granted by Continental, at which point the Comphayg no further obligation. The amounts due to @ential under this agreem
are expensed by the Company as the mileage cerditsarned.

Passenger Traffic Commissions

Passenger traffic commissions are recognized asnsgpwhen the transportation is provided and tla¢ek revenue is recogniz
Passenger traffic commissions paid but not yetgeieed as expense are included in “Prepaid expérisethe accompanyir
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The Companys functional currency is the U.S. Dollar, the legatder in Panama. Assets and liabilities in foredgrrencies a
translated at end-of-period exchange rates, eoepbnmonetary assets, which are translated at equivbl&htdollar costs at da
of acquisition and maintained at historical ratpe@tions are translated at average exchangeimagéfect during the period. Forei
exchange gains and losses are included as a contpoin®@ther, net” within Normeperating income (expense) in the Consolid
Statements of Income.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of AeroRd&tida are measured using the Colombian Peso agutiiional currency; adjustments
translate those statements into U.S. Dollars arerded in other comprehensive loss.

In 2006, approximately 71% of the Company’s expsressel 41% of the Comparsytevenues were denominated in U.S. Dollars
remainder of the Compars/’expenses and revenues were denominated in thencies of the various countries to which
Company flies, with the largest nawollar amount denominated in Colombian pesos foickwtthe Company hedge the risk
fluctuation from time to time (see Note 7). Genlgrahe Companys exposure to others foreign currencies is limited period of u
to two weeks, from the time a sale is completetthéotime funds are converted into U.S. Dollars.

Maintenance and Repair Costs

Maintenance and repair costs for owned and lediggd €quipment, including the overhaul of aircrafimponents, are charg
to operating expenses as incurred. Engine overbastls covered by power-by-theur arrangements are paid and expens
incurred, on the basis of hours flown per the amitrUnder the terms of our power-by-thedr agreements, we pay a set d
amount per engine hour flown on a monthly basis #medthirdparty vendor assumes the obligation to repair thgines at n
additional cost to us, subject to certain speciégdusions.

Additionally, although our aircraft lease agreemsesypecifically provide that we, as lessee, areamsiple for maintenance
the leased aircraft, we do, under certain of ousting lease agreements, pay maintenance resenasctaft and engine lessors 1
are to be applied towards the cost of future masmee events. These reserves are calculated basegarformance measure, s
as flight hours, and are specifically to be usetetmburse thirdparty providers that furnish services in connectigth maintenanc
of our leased aircraft. If there are sufficientdsnon deposit to pay the invoices submitted, theypaid. However, if amounts
deposit are insufficient to cover the invoices, mast cover the shortfall because, as noted aboegeare legally responsible -
maintaining the lease aircraft. Under four of ouistng aircraft lease agreements, if there areegx@amounts on deposit at
expiration of the lease, the lessor is entitledetain any excess amounts. The maintenance regeaigsinder our lease agreem:
do not transfer either the obligation to maintdie &ircraft or the cost risk associated with thénteaance activities to the airct
lessor. In addition, we maintain the right to selaay thirdparty maintenance providers. Therefore, we rechedd amounts
prepaid maintenance within Other Assets on our Glateted Balance Sheets and then recognize maimtenexpense when |
underlying maintenance is performed, in accordamitle our maintenance accounting policy. Any excassunts retained by t
lessor upon the expiration of the lease, whichnateexpected to be material, would be recognizeatid#ional aircraft rental exper
when it becomes probable that we would not befrefib such excess, mostly at expiration of the lease
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employee Profit Sharing

The Company sponsors a profit-sharing program ébh Imanagement and nemanagement personnel. For members of manage
profit-sharing is based on a combination of the @any’s performance as a whole and the achievenfdntlividual goals. Profit-
sharing for non-management employees is basedysmtethe Compang' performance. The Company accrues each montthé
expected profit-sharing, which is paid annuallfFebruary. Amounts expensed for the Company’s psbifiring program for each
the three years in the period ended December 3B &@re $8.4 million, $5.8 million and $5.5 millisespectively.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Tamgany recognized as advertising expense $4.8omjl$3.7 million, an
$2.8 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are provided under the itgbitethod and reflect the net tax effects of terapp differences between the
basis of assets and liabilities and their repoaimdunts in the financial statements.

Gooduwill and Intangibles

The Company performs impairment testing, in acaoecdawith SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Asséetsof goodwill
separately from impairment testing of indefinliteed intangibles. The Company tests goodwill fmpairment, at least annually,
comparing the book value to the fair value at tygorting segment level and tests individually imiég-lived intangibles, at lee
annually, by reviewing the individual book valuesmpared to the fair value. Considerable managefoelgiment is necessary
evaluate the impact of operating and macroeconaimmges and to estimate future cash flows to medairvalue. Assumptiol
used in the Company’impairment evaluations are consistent with irdaeprojections and operating plans. The Companynai
recognize any material impairment charges for galbdwintangibles assets during the years presknte

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in thar gears’consolidated financial statement amounts and rlatée disclosures
conform with the current year's presentation.
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardar@dssued Interpretation No. 48\ccounting for Uncertainty in Income Tax
an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 1¢9IN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty icéme taxes recogniz
in financial statements. FIN 48 requires the imd@a tax position to be recognized in the finahstatements if that position is mc
likely than not of being sustained upon examinatignthe taxing authority. FIN 48 is effective fasdal years beginning aft
December 15, 2006. The cumulative effect of appiytime provisions of FIN 48, if any, will be repadtas an adjustment to t
opening balance of retained earnings in 2007. W carrrently evaluating the requirements of FIN 48l ats effect on ou
consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 16t Value Measurements(“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defines fair valu
establishes a framework for measuring fair valuganerally accepted accounting principles, and eapalisclosures about fair val
measurements. The provisions of this standard applyther accounting pronouncements that requirepenmit fair value
measurements. SFAS 157 becomes effective for shalfyears beginning after November 15, 2007. Ugtoption, the provisions
SFAS 157 are to be applied prospectively with diexceptions. The Company is currently evaluatimgpotential impact, if an
that the adoption of SFAS 157 will have on the otidated financial position or results of operaton

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 153h& Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Final Liabilities”. The
standard allows entities to voluntarily choosespcified election dates, to measure many finarsiséts and financial liabilities (
well as certain non-financial instruments thatsimilar to financial instruments) at fair valuedttfair value option”).The election i
made on an instrument-bgstrument basis and is irrevocable. If the faitugaoption is elected for an instrument, the Statet
specifies that all subsequent changes in fair vidu¢hat instrument shall be reported in earnirg§SAS 159 becomes effective
the fiscal years beginning after November 15, 200fe Company is currently evaluating the potentigbact, if any, that th
adoption of SFAS 159 will have on the consoliddtedncial position or results of operations.

3. Acquisition of AeroRepublica

On April 22, 2005, the Company acquired a contnglliownership interest in AeroRdgita, a Colombian domestic airlir
According to the Colombian Civil Aviation Administiion, Unidad Especial Administrativa de Aeratiéa Civil, in 200€
AeroRepublica was the secolatgest domestic carrier in Colombia in terms ofitwer of passengers carried, providing dome
service to 12 cities in Colombia with a pointgoint route network as well as international sexwtic Panama City from Bogota, C
and Medellin. The acquisition of AeroRepublica esEnts an attractive opportunity to increase thag2my’s access and visibility 1
Colombia, one of the largest airline passenger gtarkn Latin America with more than 45 million iddints, and to improv
AeroRepublicas operational and financial performance. Colombees a border with Panama, and for historic, calland busines
reasons it represents a significant market for mRayamanian businesses. Management believes thi@tiopal coordination wit
AeroRepublica may create additional passengeridraiffthe Companys existing route network by providing Colombian gEsger:
more convenient access to the international degimaserved through the Company’s Panama hub.

Of the total estimated purchase price, approxiga®BD.7 million has been allocated to goodwill am@ngible assets with indefini
lives. Goodwill, approximately $20.1 million, regents the excess of the purchase price of the rachjbusiness over the fair val
of the underlying net tangible and intangible assetd is recorded in the AeroRéfia segment. Intangible assets with indefi
lives consist primarily of the fair value allocatéd the routes and the AeroRd&fida trade name, valued at $25.7 million i
$4.9 million, respectively. Goodwill was increase®006 for an adjustment to assume airport taigahibns of AeroRepublica.

As of December 2005, the investment in AeroR#igé totaled $31.4M. During 2006 and first qua2e07, the Company invested
additional $5.8 million and $5.8 million, respedldy, in exchange for 5.4 million and 6.4 millionweshares of AeroRefblica,
respectively. As a result of these transactionsthpany’s total investment increased to $43.0ionill
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COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, long-term debt consisted of thifghg (in millions):

2006 2005
Long-term fixed rate det $ 347.€ $ 292.t
(Secured fixed rate indebtedness due through 2017.

Effective rates ranged from 3.98% to 6.7%

Long-term variable rate del 247 .2 150.¢
(Secured variable rate indebtedness due through. 201

Effective rates ranged from 5.40% to 19.7¢

Mediumr-term variable rate del 26.2 —
(Unsecured variable rate indebtedness due in 2007

Weighted average rate of 5.86%, as of Decembe2(B16)

Private bond issuanc — 27.5
(Unsecured variable rate indebtedness due in 2006

Weighted average rate of 7.22%, as of Decembe2(¥15)

Sut-total 621.% 470.¢
Less current maturitie 91.t 67.¢
Long-term debt less current maturiti $ 529.¢ $ 403.(
Maturities of long-term debt for the next five yeare as follows (in millions):

Year ending December 3
2007 $ 91.t
2008 $ 43.7
2009 $ 425
2010 $ 42.4
2011 $ 43.¢
Thereafte $ 357.¢

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company B&8.8 million and $337.1 million of outstanding @ifedness, respective
that is owed to financial institutions under finange arrangements guaranteed by the Expuogert Bank of the United States. 1
Exportdmport Bank guarantees support 85% of the net @maelprice of the aircraft and are secured withsa fiiriority mortgage ¢
the aircraft in favor of a security trustee on BebhExport-Import Bank.
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The Company’s Exporimport Bank supported financings are amortized oguarterly basis, are denominated in dollars
originally bear interest at a floating rate linkedLIBOR. The Exportmport Bank guaranteed facilities typically offer aption to fi>
the applicable interest rate. The Company has esestthis option with respect to $325.4 millionchidecember 31, 2006.

The Company effectively extends the maturity of atiscraft financing to 15 years through the useaof'Stretched Overe
Amortization and Repayment,” or SOAR, structure shhprovides serial drawewns calculated to result in a 100% loan accrett
a recourse balloon at the maturity of the Exponpdnt Bank guaranteed loan which totaled $31.9 arillas of December 31, 2006.

The Company also typically finances a portion & flurchase price of the Boeing aircraft through ro@mcial loans which total
$17.6 million as of December 31, 2006.

During 2005, the Company secured a senior term faeifity in the amount of $134 million for the mirase of six (6) Embraer 1
aircraft. The loans have a term of twelve yearsigu2005, the Company utilized $43.8 million ofstliacility and the remainir
$90.1 million was drawn during 2006.

During 2006, the Company secured a senior and fjueion loan facility in the amount of $239.6 mitidor the purchase of t
(10) Embraer 190 aircraft. The loans have a tertwefve years. During 2006, the Company utilize8.82nillion of this facility an
the remainder of the facility will be drawn durigg07. In January 2007, the Company utilized $71ilBom of this facility.

During 2006, the Company secured a medium term faaility in the amount of $34.3 million for thenfancing of predelivery
payments of two (2) Boeing 73800 aircraft having delivery months of August anaviember 2007. The Company has grantec
the benefit of the bank, a first priority secuiittiyerest in the rights, title and interest over thve (2) Boeing 73800 aircraft. Intere
on the loans are paid on a quarterly basis withptiveipal balance to be repaid upon delivery ef dircraft.

During 2006, the Company arranged a $22 milliorilifgcto consolidate and refinance AeroRepublg@xisting debt with mo
favorable conditions.

Assets, primarily aircraft, subject to agreemestsusing the Compang’indebtedness amounted to $736.0 million and $53dlion
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

5. Investments

The Company invests in time deposits, absetked commercial paper and securities, and Ux&rgment agency securities. Th
investments are classified within short-term andgherm investments in the accompanying Consolidatedari®e Sheet
Investments are classified as heldataturity securities since the Company has the frdaed the ability to hold them until maturi
These investments are stated at their amortizedvduish is essentially the same as their fair valuengterm investments matt
within three (3) years. Restricted cash classifigithin longterm investments, held in time deposits, amountefi7t5 million an
$7.7 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,aetyely.
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6. Leases

The Company leases certain aircraft and other asseter longerm lease arrangements. Other leased assets éndat propert'
airport and terminal facilities, sales offices, niahance facilities, training centers and geneifides. Most contract leases inclt
renewal options. Noaircraft related leases, primarily held with logalvernments, generally have renewable terms ofyeae. Ir
certain cases, the rental payments during the ralngeriods would be greater than the current paysn@&ecause the lease rene\
are not considered to be reasonably assured, medéh SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases’the rental payments that would
due during the renewal periods are not includedhim determination of rent expense until the leam®srenewed. Leaseh
improvements are amortized over the contractuatijroitted lease term, which does not include theeweh periods. Tt
Company'’s leases do not include residual valueaguees.

At December 31, 2006, the scheduled future mininlease payments under operating leases that hava i remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year dod@sgs (in millions):

Operating Leases

Aircraft Non-Aircraft

Year ending December 31,

2007 $ 35.4 $ 5.4

2008 36.¢ 5.¢

2009 30.t 553

2010 20.2 4.8

2011 17.C 4.3

Later year: 32.€ 14.¢
Total minimum lease paymer $ 172.¢ $ 40.5

Total rent expense was $38.1 million, $35.4 milliand $20.0 million for the years ended December28D6, 2005 and 20(C
respectively.

7. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

Fuel Price Risk Manageme

The Company periodically enters into crude oil cgitions, jet fuel zero cost collars, and jet fsmbp contracts to provide for sF
to midterm hedge protection (generally three to eight@@mths) against sudden and significant increasgst ifuel prices, whil
simultaneously ensuring that the Company is notpmditively disadvantaged in the event of a sub&ihdecrease in the price of

fuel. The Company does not hold or issue derivdtivancial instruments for trading purposes. Dur@)6, the Company bec
accounting for these derivatives as cash flow hedgefinancial reporting purposes.
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They are recorded at fair value as a componentegfgyments and other current assets or other ¢diabilities in the accompanyir
Consolidated Balance Sheets with the offset to Uheolated other comprehensive lossét of hedge ineffectiveness. Hec
ineffectiveness included in “Other non-operatingome (expense)in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Ircovas
$(0.7) million in 2006. Our loss related to fuedigeng instruments included in aircraft fuel in dbonsolidated Statement of Incol
was $(3.1) million in 2006.

The fair value of hedge contracts amounted to ${@®illion at December 31, 2006, and was recordetDitmer current liabilities’in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company’s paeshof jet fuel are made substantially from ompser.

Prior to accounting for these derivatives as cdstv thedges, all changes in the fair value of sdehivative contracts, whic
amounted to $(1.8) million, $0.2 million and $(0r@jllion in years 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectivelgre recorded as a compon
of “Other, net” within Non-operating income (expeis

As of December 31, 2006, the Company held deriedtigtruments on 20% of its projected 2007 fuekoomption, as compared wi
derivatives held on 19% of actual fuel consumegda6.

Outstanding financial derivatives instruments expibee Company to credit loss in the event of ndigperance by the counterparti
to the agreements. However, the Company does rmecexany failure of the counterparties to meetrtiodiligations, as th
Company’s policy to manage credit risk is to engiagleusiness with counterparties who are finangisiable and welrersed in the
matters of energy risk management. The amountalf stedit exposure is generally the unrealized,ghany, in such contracts.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk Managem

In 2006, the Company began to use forward conttackedge against the risk associated with itscisted pesdenominated cas
flows. This derivative does not qualify as hedgasfihancial reporting purposes in accordance WBIBAS No. 133, ‘Accounting fol
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activit”. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of such dative contracts, which amount
to $(2.0) million were recorded as a component@fheér, net” within Normeperating income (expense). The fair value of fods
contracts amounted to $(2.1) million at DecemberZ¥06, and was recorded in “Accrued Expense Payablthe Consolidate
Balance Sheets.

Debt
The fair value of the Compars/debt with a carrying value of $621.3 million &w70.9 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2!

respectively, was approximately $613.0 million &#69.0 million. These estimates were based on ifmdnted amount of futu
cash flows using the Company’s current incremenati& of borrowing for a similar liability.
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Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalentsrjaees] cash, accounts receivable and accountsfagpproximate fair value d
to their short-term nature.

8. Cash and Stock Based Compensation Plans

The company has established equity compensatiors plader which it administers restricted stockelstoptions and certain ott
equity-based awards to attract, retain and motivatecutive officers, certain key employees and employee directors
compensate them for their contributions to the ghoand profits of the company.

Adoption of SFAS 123

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Stated§'SFAS”) No. 123R;'Share-Based Payment(“SFAS 123R") effective
January 1, 2006. This pronouncement requires coiapam measure the cost of employee services maéivexchange for an awi
of equity instruments (typically stock options) bdson the grantiate fair value of the award or at fair value of tward at eat
reporting date, depending on the type of awardtgrarThe fair value is estimated using optiting models. The resulting cos
recognized over the period during which an empldageequired to provide service in exchange fordheard, which is usually tl
vesting period. For those awards issued subsedoetite adoption of SFAS 123R that allow for accgien of vesting upc
retirement, total compensation cost is recognizest the period ending on the first eligible retierhdate.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, this accountimgtment was optional with pro forma disclosweguired. Prior to 2006, t
Company did not have stoddased compensation, therefore a special trangiiethhod was not required for the accounting of |
years compensation co

Nor-vested Stock

The Compensation Committee of our board of direcagproved a one time neested stock bonus for certain executive office
eliminated the existing Long Term Retention PlamnNested stock delivered under this award program beaysourced frol
treasury stock, or authorized un-issued shares.

In March 2006, in accordance with this program,@mmpensation Committee of our Board of Directaemted 935,650 novestel
stock awards.

Senior management were granted 847,625vested stock awards which vest over five (5) y@aggearly installments equal to 1!
of the awarded stock on each of the first thredvemsaries of the grant date, 25% on the fourthivemeary and 30% on the fif
anniversary. Managers, officers and key employaes,on our senior management team, were grant€alB&onvested stoc
awards which vest on the second anniversary ofitaet date.

The related compensation cost charged against iedonthis plan was $3.3 million in 2006.
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The Compensation Committee plans to make additiegaity based awards under the plan from timene tincluding addition:
non-vested stock and stock option awards. We aatieithat future employee nemsted stock and stock option awards gre
pursuant to the plan will generally vest over a&¢hyear period and the stock options will carrgraytear term.

Non-vested stock awards were measured at their faireyabhich is the same amount for which a similagistricted share would
issued to third party, on the grant date. For ®@62grants the fair value of these non-vested st@ckds was $21.10.

A summary of non-vested stock award activity urttierplan as of December 31, 2006 and changes diléngear is as follows:

2006
Shares
Outstanding at beginning of the ye —
Granted 935,65(
Exercisec —
Forfeited 18,60(
Outstanding at end of the ye 917,05(

The Company uses the straidinme attribution method to recognize the compensatiost for awards with graded vesting peri
The Company estimates that the remaining compemsadst, not yet recognized for the nagsted stock plan, is $16.0 million w
an weighted average remaining contractual life.fssy2ars. Additionally, the Company estimates that 2007 compensation ¢
related to this plan will be $4.4 million.
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9. Earnings Per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the income asithre data used in the basic and diluted earmiegshare computations for

dates indicated (in millions, except share andesbata):

December 31

2006 2005 2004

Income available to common stockholders for bo#tsid

and diluted EP! Us$ 133.¢ 83.C 68.€
Weighted average common shares outstanding aplgicab

to basic EP¢ 42,812,50 42,812,50 42,812,50
Basic earnings per she Uss$ 3.1 1.94 1.6C
Weighted average common shares outstanding aplgicab

to diluted EP< 42,812,50 42,812,50 42,812,50
Effect of dilutive shares

Non-vested Stock Pla 422,05: 0 0
Adjusted weighted average common shares outstandi

applicable to diluted EP 43,234,55 42,812,50 42,812,50
Diluted earnings per sha Uss 3.1( 1.94 1.6C
10. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the componeras@fmulated other comprehensive loss is as fol{owsnillions):

Foreign Derivatives
Currency Financial
Translation Pensions Instruments Total

Balance as of December 31, 2004 uUs$ — — — —
Foreign Currency Translatic (1.2 — — (1.2
Balance as of December 31, 20( (1.2 — — (1.2
Foreign Currency Translatic 1.8 — — 1.8
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives

instruments — — (4.0 (4.0
Impact of adoption of SFAS 158, net of

tax of $0.1 — (0.9 — (0.9
Balance as of December 31, 2006 US$ 0.€ (0.9 (4.0 (4.9
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On December 31, 2006 the Company adopted SFAS 5&.“1Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Oi
Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB Statsniéa. 87, 88 and 106 and 132" (SFAS 158). Under SFAS 15
unrecognized actuarial (gains) losses relatedaa#fined benefit pension are recorded in accumdilather comprehensive loss. 1
actuarial (gains) losses recorded in accumulatéeérotomprehensive loss were $0.9 million net ofliegple income taxes .
December 31, 2006.

11. Issued Capital and Corporate Reorganization

On November 23, 2005, the Company’s Board of Dinecapproved a reorganization of the Compargpital stock. Following tr
reorganization, the Comparsyauthorized capital stock consists of 80 millibares of common stock without par value, divided
Class A shares, Class B shares and Class C sharasdiately following the reorganization, there &&0,034,375 Class A shai
outstanding, 12,778,125 Class B shares outstandihgwned by CIASA (a Panamanian entity), and tas€ C shares outstandii
The reorganization did not impact the operation8r@ancial condition of the Company in any respaatl, as such, does not resul
a new basis of accounting. All share and per simoemation for all periods presented have beetated to give retroactive effect
the reorganization. Class A and Class B shares ti@vsame economic rights and privileges, includirgright to receive dividend
except that the holders of the Class A shares atremtitled to vote at the Company’s shareholdersétings, except in connecti
with a transformation of the Company into anothemporate type; a merger, consolidation or sgfinef the Company; a change
corporate purpose; voluntarily delisting Class Argls from the NYSE; approving the nomination okipendent directors nominat
by the Company’s Board of DirectsrNominating and Corporate Governance Committed; ary amendment to the foregoi
special voting provisions adversely affecting tights and privileges of the Class A shares.

The Class A shareholders will acquire full votinghts, entitled to one vote per Class A share bmatters upon which sharehold:
are entitled to vote, if in the future the Compan@lass B shares ever represent fewer than 10%edbtal number of shares of 1
Company’s common stock outstanding and the Indep@n®irectors Committee of the CompamyBoard of Directors (th
“Independent Directors Committeeshall have determined that such additional votights of Class A shareholders would not ce
a triggering event referred to below. In such eyt right of the Class A shareholders to votehenspecific matters described in
preceding paragraph will no longer be applicable séch time, if any, as the Class A shareholdecgiiee full voting rights, thi
Board of Directors shall call an extraordinary sfeniders’meeting to be held within 90 days following theedas of which th
Class A shares are entitled to vote on all matatréhe Company’s shareholders’ meetings. At theaexdinary shareholders’
meeting, the shareholders shall vote to electlellemn members of the Board of Directors in a stat@mmended by the Nominati
and Governance Committee. The terms of office efdhectors that were serving prior to the extrawad; shareholdersneeting
shall terminate upon the election held at that inget

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to oo \per share on all matters for which shareholdegsentitled to vote. Class

shares will be automatically converted into Classhares upon the registration of transfer of sumdres to holders which are r
Panamanian.
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The Class C shares will have no economic valuevahdot be transferable, but will possess suchingrights as the Independ
Directors Committee shall deem necessary to erbareffective control of the Company by Panamani&he Class C shares will
redeemable by the Company at such time as the émdiemt Directors Committee determines that a triggesvent, shall no long
be in effect. The Class C shares will not be ettitb any dividends or any other economic rights.

12. Income Taxes

The Company pays taxes in the Republic of Panamaraother countries in which it operates, basedegulations in effect in ea
respective country. The Compaayevenues come principally from foreign operatiand according to the Panamanian Fiscal |
these foreign operations are not subject to inctamén Panama.

The Company has elected to calculate its Panamamiame tax with the alternative gross tax electidnder this method, based
Article 121 of the Panamanian Fiscal Code, incooreiriternational transportation companies is cal@d based on a territorial
method that determines gross revenues earned anRahy applying the percentage of miles flown wittiie Panamanian territc
against total revenues. Under this method, losy ¢darwards cannot be applied to offset tax lidpilDividends from the Compary’
Panamanian subsidiaries, including Copa Airlings, separately subject to a ten percent tax if slickdends can be shown to
derived from income from sources in Panama.

The Company is also subject to local tax regulatiomeach of the jurisdictions where it operatbs, great majority of which a
related to the taxation of income. In some of thentries to which the Company flies, the Compangsdoot pay any income ta:
because it does not generate taxable income uhdelaws of those countries or because of treatiestteer arrangements the
countries have with Panama. In the remaining c@sjtthe Company pays income tax at a rate rarfgimgy 25% to 35% of incom
Different countries calculate income in differerdays, but they are typically derived from saleshia applicable country multiplied
the Company’s net margin or by a presumed net masgt by the relevant tax legislation. The deteatiim of the Company’
taxable income in several countries is based oansbmation of revenues sourced to each particidanity and the allocation
expenses of the Compasydperations to that particular country. The methagly for multinational transportation company soog
of revenue and expense is not always specificathggibed in the relevant tax regulations, andetoge is subject to interpretati
by both the Company and the respective taxing aitigs Additionally, in some countries, the applidity of certain regulatior
governing norincome taxes and the determination of the filirajust of the Company are also subject to interpogtathe Compar
cannot estimate the amount, if any, of the potetaialiabilities that might result if the allocatis, interpretations and filing positic
used by the Company in its income tax returns whedlenged by the taxing authorities of one or nementries.
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Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a bikdtagreement between Panama and the United Shat€ompany is exempt frc
the U.S. source transportation income tax derivechfthe international operation of aircratft.

The provision for income taxes recorded in the @bdated Statements of Income was as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Panamze

Current $ 1.1 $ 0.8 $ 0.7

Deferred — — —
Foreign

Current 11.5 7. 5.5

Deferred (0.3 0.¢ (0.5)
Total 12.2 $ 9.€ $ 5.7

The Company paid taxes of $11.3 million, $7.4 moiliand $4.3 million in years 2006, 2005 and 208dpectively.

Pre-tax income, based on the Copa Airlinegrnal route profitability measures, related sam&manian operations was $44.9 mill
$32.3 million, and $25.5 million in 2006, 2005, a@804, respectively, and related to foreign operetiwas $101.2 millio
$60.3 million, and $48.8 million in 2006, 2005, a2@D4, respectively.

AeroRepublicas benefit from operating loss carryforwards amodrite $0.8 million as of December 31, 2006. The ferfem
operating loss carryforwards are available for @ogleof seven (7) years from when they were geeerat 2005.

Income tax returns for all companies incorporatethe Republic of Panama are subject to reviewalzyauthorities up to the i
three (3) years, including the year ended Decer®bef006 according to current tax regulations. &tbrer countries where t
Company operates, it is subject to review by thespective tax authorities for periods ranging fri last two (2) to six (6) years.

The amount of income tax expense incurred in Panaarias from the statutory rate because of the fRan&n gross tax electic
Income taxes outside of Panama are generally detedhon the basis of net income or revenue, andfahie countries have ra
that vary from the Panamanian statutory rate.
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The reconciliations of income tax computed at ttandPnanian statutory tax rate to income tax expdosehe years end:
December 31 are as follows (in millions):

Amount Percentag
2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Provision for income taxes at

Panamanian statutory rai $ 43¢ $ 27 0§ @ 22: 30.(% 30.(% 30.(%
Panamanian gross tax elect (12.9 (8.9 (6.9 (8.5%) (9.€%) (9.2%)
Difference in Panamanian statutor

rates and non-Panamanian

statutory rate (19.7) (9.3 (9.7 (13.1%) (10.(%) (13.0%)
Provision for income taxe $ 12.2 $ 9.€ $ 5.7 8.4% 10.4% 7.7%

Deferred income taxes are provided under the itgbitethod and reflect the net tax effects of temapp differences between the
basis of assets and liabilities and their repoaidunts in the consolidated financial statements.

Significant components of the Company’s deferreditilities and assets are as follows (in milsyn

2006 2005
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible Asset $ (105 % (11.¢)
Maintenance reservt @an $ (1.5)
Pension obligatiol — (0.2)
Others 0.C (1.0
(12.2) (14.2)
Deferred tax asset
Property and Equipme 6.8 7.C
Pos-employment benefit obligatic 0.1 0.1
Allowance for doubtful accoun 1kt 0.8
Expendable parts and suppl 0.€ 1.1
Prepaid expenst 0.4 0.t
Others 2.1 S8
11.5 13.C
Net deferred tax liabilitie (0.7) (1.2
Less: Current deferred tax ass 3.8 2.8
Non current deferred tax liabilitie $ 46 3 (4.0

The Company’s deferred tax assets recognized irCtivesolidated Balance Sheets, within other curassets, for AeroReplica
segment was $3.8 million for 2006.
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13. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company, in accordance with Panamanian lales, I required to establish and fund both a sewerdund and a terminatic
indemnity plan.

The Company contributes to the Severance Fund based92% of applicable wages paid annually. Upessation of the labe
relationship, regardless of cause, the companggsired to pay the employee the amount accumulgid¢d the cessation of the lat
relationship. This plan is accounted for as a defibenefit pension plan under SFAS No. 8Emiployers’Accounting for Pensior
" (SFAS 87), whereby pension benefit expense isgrized over the employees’ approximate servicegsr

The Company contributes to the Termination IndeynRlain based on 0.33% of total applicable waged aanually. Upon cessatis
of the labor relationship due to termination, tr@r®any is required to pay 6.54% of applicable waggeaed over the duration of t
employment period of the terminated employee. phas is accounted for as a post-employment bepkdit under SFAS No. 112, “
Employer’ Accounting for Post-employment BenefitfSFAS 112), whereby postimployment benefit expense is recognized ove
employees’ approximate service periods.

In Panama, all employees are covered by one or mibthese plans. In Colombia, all employees hiretbike April 1, 1994 ar
covered by a defined benefit pension plan. The fitsnander these plans are based on years of seaic an employeg’
accumulated compensation. Pension obligations aesuaned as of December 31 of each year.

The Company adopted SFAS 158 for its fiscal yealirgnDecember 31, 2006. Under SFAS 158, the furddetlis of the define
benefit pension plan is required to be reportedb@ance sheet. This standard does not change thendsirecognized regarding t
Post-employment Benefit Plan.

The impact of adopting SFAS 158 on individual litams of the Consolidated Balance Sheet at DeceBhe2006 is as follows (i

millions):
Before Adjustment After
Adopting to Adopt Adopting
SFAS 158 SFAS 158 SFAS 158
Non-current benefit ass $ 1.€ $ 1.0 3 0.€
Deferred tax liability 4.7 (0.7) 4.€
Accumulated other comprehensive i (3.9 (0.9 (4.9
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Panama Pension and Post Employment Plans

Pension Plar

The following table sets forth the defined benpéitsion plan’s change in projected benefit oblagatin millions) at December 31:

2006 2005
Accumulated benefit obligatic $ 2.8 $ 2.€
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of y $ 2.6 $ 2.t
Service cos 0.3 0.2
Interest cos 0.2 0.1
Actuarial losse: 0.4 0.2
Benefits paic (0.9 (0.2
Projected benefit obligation at end of y: $ 3.4 $ 2.6

The following table sets forth the defined benpéihsion plan’s change in the fair value of plaretss@n millions) at December 31.:

2006 2005
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ $ 34 $ 2.¢
Actual return on plan asse 0.2 0.C
Employer contribution: 0.8 0.7
Benefits paic (0.9 (0.2
Fair value of plan assets at end of y $ 4.C $ 3.4

The following table sets forth the amounts (in i) recognized in the consolidated balance shegthe funded status of the
at December 31.:

2006 2005
Noncurrent benefit ass $ 0.€ $ i.e
Net overfunded amount recognized in balance ¢ 0.€ 1.3
Unrecognized net actuarial gain (lo — (0.9
Funded status of the pla— net overfundes $ 0.€ $ 0.5
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At December 31, 2006 the amount of net actuaris,loet of tax, recorded in accumulated other cehmrsive loss that have not
been recognized as components of net periodic hexgense is $0.9 millions.

The amount of unrecognized net actuarial loss dembrin accumulated other comprehensive loss expdotde recognized
components of net periodic benefit expense dur@yas $0.1 million.

The following actuarial assumptions were used tdemeine the actuarial present value of projectedefie obligation &
December 31:

2006 2005

Weighted average assumed discount 5.54% 5.5(%
Weighted average rate of compensation incr. 3.25% 3.25%

Net periodic benefit expense for the years endezk®éer 31 included the following components (inionk):

2006 2005 2004
Service cos $ 0.2 $ 0.2 $ 2
Interest cos 0.2 0.1 0.1
Expected return on plan ass (0.7) (0.7) (0.2)
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 0.4 $ 0.2 $ .3

The following actuarial assumptions were used tereine the net periodic benefit expense for ther yaded December 31:

2006 2005 2004
Weighted average assumed discount 5.5(% 5.75% 6.25%
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass 4.5(% 4.00% 4.00%
Weighted average rate of compensation incr. 3.25% 3.5(% 4.0(%

The Companys discount rate is determined based upon the resfeligh quality corporate bond rates, the chamgéhéese rate
during the year, and year-end rate levels.
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The Company holds its Seniority Premium funds wttofuturo, a Panamanian pension fund managemenpammmbacked &
various banks and insurance companies. The SeniBrigmium is invested in Proahorro, a conservatired which invests i
instruments such as savings accounts (0.76%) amel deposits (99.24%), with return on funds amogntm 5.35% in 2006. Tl
expected return on plan assets is based upon dmagwa of the Companyg’ historical trends and experience taking into ant
current and expected market conditions.

Estimated future contribution and benefit paymewtsich reflect expected future service, for thergeended December 31, are
follows (in millions):

Future contribution payment

2007 $ 0.8
Future benefit payment
2007 $ 0.€
2008 $ 0.6
2009 $ 0.€
2010 $ 0.6
2011 $ 0.€
Remaining five year $ 2L

Pos-employment Benefit Plan

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, afd, 20tal expense for the pomtployment benefits was $0.5 milli
$0.4 million, and $0.4 million, respectively.

Colombia Pension Plan

Pension Plar

Colombian labor laws require employers establigte@sion plan for their employees. AeroRelpra, based on these labor laws,
established two (2) defined benefit pension plaxisemployees hired before April 1, 1994 are covkel®y one of these defin
benefit pension plans, the future pension plarhergension bond plan. Additionally, AeroRépda has a pension which is paic
widows. There are 9 members covered under thegggms.

The Companys unfunded benefit obligation recognized, withirhest long term liabilities, for these plans is $thilion at
December 31, 2006.

14. Fleet Impairment Charges

The Company re-evaluated the value of its Boeing 230 aircraft, rotable and expendable parts im@ance with SFAS No. 144, “
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of L-Lived Assets in 2003.

In 2004, the Company entered into a sales agreefoeits remaining Boeing 73200 aircraft. Gains on the sale of the aircra
$1.1 million in each of 2004 and 2005 are incluaéthin Other, net. In 2005, the Company sold peetated to its Boeing 73200
resulting in a gain of $0.3 million which is alseluded within Other, net.
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15. Related Party Transactions

The following is a summary of significant relatedrfy transactions that occurred during 2006, 20th 2004. Except as otherw
discussed, the payments to and from related pantigh® ordinary course of business were based@vaping market rates.

Continental AirlinesSince 1998, Continental has implemented a comps#eicommercial and services alliance with COPAy
elements of the alliance include: similar brand des code sharing, dwanding of the OnePass frequent flyer program atin
America, joint construction and operation of thex&aa Presidents Club VIP lounge, joint purchasingintenance and engineer
support and a number of other marketing, salessandce initiatives.

As a result of these activities, the Company padtDental $25.1 million, $16.9 million, and $14rillion in 2006, 2005 and 20C
respectively, and Continental paid COPA $17.8 omlli$16.1 million, and $12.3 million in 2006, 2088d 2004, respectively. T
Company owed Continental $0.9 million and $2.3iomll at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectivelynti@ental owed tr
Company $1.5 million in 2006. The services providegl considered normal to the daily operationsott lairlines.

Banco Continental de Panan8.A. (‘Banco Continentd). The Company has a strong commercial banking reistip with Banc
Continental de Panama, S. A., which is controllgdh® Companys controlling shareholders. In January 3, 2007 Graimancier
Continental, S. A., the parent company of Banco tlbental agreed to merge the operations of Bancoti@ental with Banc
General to form Pananmlargest privately owned bank. Following the exietuof the merger the shareholders of Grupo Firean
Continental S. A. will own approximately 39% of tbembined entity.

The Company obtains financing from Banco Continlentader short to mediurterm financing arrangements for part of
commercial loan tranche of one of the Company’sdexfmport Bank facilities. The Company also maintagiesieral lines of crec
and time deposit accounts with Banco Continental.

Interest payments to Banco Continental totaled $iildon, $1.6 million and $1.1 million in 2006, 26 and 2004, respectively, &
the Company received $1.5 million, $1.0 milliond&$i.1 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectivélye debt balance outstand
at December 31 amounted to $8.5 million and $25lifomin 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amsuwart included inCurren
maturities of long-term debt” and “Long-term debtthe Consolidated Balance Sheets.

ASSA Compdia de Seguros, S.A*ASSA"). Panamanian law requires the Company to maintaimstgrance policies througt
local insurance company. The Company has contra&®8A, an insurance company controlled by the Camizacontrolling
shareholders, to provide substantially all of itsurance. ASSA has, in turn, reinsured almostfahe risks under those policies w
insurance companies in Europe. The net payment $&A4 after taking into account the reinsurance tedseé risks total
$0.03 million in each of 2006, 2005 and 2004.
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Petoleos Delta, S.A.“Delta Petroleurt). During 2005, the Company entered into a contrath RWetrdeos Delta, S.A. to supply
jet fuel needs. The price agreed to under thisraohis based on the two week average of the Uulf. Goast Waterborne Me
index plus local taxes, certain thipdty handling charges and a handling charge téaD&he contract has a one year term
automatically renews for one year period unlessiteated by one of the parties. While the Comparggdntrolling shareholders
not hold a controlling equity interest in Petrolddslta, S.A., one of the Compasyexecutive officers, Jorge Garcia, previo
served as a Project Director at Petréleos Del#a, Bayments to Petl@os Delta totaled $77.9 million in 2006 and $2@i8ion from
August to December of 2005.

Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A@esarrollo Inmobiliarié). During January 2006, the Company moved into its
headquarters, a recently constructed building &xtaix miles away from Tocumen International Aitpdihe Company leases fi
floors consisting of approximately 104,000 squaret fof the building from Desarollo Inmobiliario, antity controlled by the sar
group of investors that controls CIASA, under a-year lease at a rate of $0.1 million per month. nRanyts to Desarrol
Inmobiliario del Este, S.A. totaled $1.8 millionda@.6 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Galindo, Arias & LopezMost of the Company legal work, including passing on the validitytbé shares offered, is carried ou
the law firm Galindo, Arias & Lopez. Certain pans®f Galindo, Arias & Lopez are indirect shareleofdof CIASA and serve on 1
Companys Board of Directors. Payments to Galindo, Ariakdez totaled $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.1llimn in 2006, 200!
and 2004, respectively.

Other Transactionsthe Company purchases most of the alcohol and b#nezrages served on its aircraft from Motta Irderonal
S.A. and Global Brands, S.A., both of which aretaalled by the Compang’ controlling shareholders. The Company does ne¢
any formal contracts for these purchases, but péndesale prices based on price lists periodicallymitted by those importers. 1
Company paid $0.5million, $0.4 million and $0.4 Iroih in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Companys telecommunications and other data services haea provided by Ziad Holdings, former Telecarrieg., sinct
February 2003. Some of the controlling shareholadr€IASA have a controlling interest in Ziad Halds. Payments to Zi
Holdings totaled $0.5 million, $0.4 million and #0million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company receives services from Call Center @atjon, a call center that operates Cep&servations and sales services
handles calls from Panama as well as most othertges Copa flies to. One of the Company directdoseph Fidanque ll, is one
the owners of this call center. Payments to Calit€@eCorporation totaled $2.4 million in 2006.

The advertising agency that the Company uses imrRanRogelio Diaz Publicidad (RDP), is owned by binether-intaw of the

Companys chief executive officer. Gross invoices for ahdces performed through RDP totaled $1.5 milli&a,5 million ani
$1.8 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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16. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has a purchase contract with Boeind 5oBoeing 73MNext Generation aircraft, under which the Compaayg hi
(6) firm orders and nine (9) purchase rights. Aiddidlly, the Company has a purchase contract wittbfaer for 35 Embraer 1
aircraft, under which the Company has thirteen {@8) orders and twenty two (22) purchase options.

The firm orders have an approximate value of $84&lbon based on aircraft list prices, includingtienated amounts for contract
price escalation and paelivery deposits. The Company is scheduled to thkivery of the aircraft underlying the 19 firmderrs
between 2007 and 2009.

Covenants

As a result of the various aircraft financing cawits entered into by the Company, the Companygsimed to comply with certa
financial covenants. These covenants, among ofiregd, require the Company to maintain an EBITDARixed charge ratio of
least 2.5 times, the ratio of lorigkem obligations to tangible net worth not to extdeto 1, a minimum tangible net worth
$160 million, an EBITDAR to finance charge expensgon of at least 2.0 times, a net borrowings tonBanys capitalization rati
of less than 85%, a total liability plus operatiegses minus operating cash to tangible net waitib of less than 5.5, a lortgrm
obligations to EBITDAR ratio of less than 6.0, animium unrestricted cash balance of $50 million andinimum of $75 million i
available cash, cash equivalents and short-teresinvents.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company was in compdéiavith all required covenants.
Labor Unions

Approximately 50% of the Comparg/'4,770 employees are unionized. There are cureetven (7) union organizations; f
(5) covering employees in Panama and two (2) cogegimployees in Colombia.

The five (5) unions covering employees in Pananctude: the pilots’ union (SIPAC); the flight atteards’ union (SIPANAB); th
mechanics’ union (SINTECMAP); the traffic attendgintnion (UTRACOPA); and a generalized union (SIELAShich represen
ground personnel, messengers, drivers, countetsagad other noexecutive administrative staff. After negotiatio@npa Airline:
entered into a new collective bargaining agreemtit SIELAS on October 26, 2005, and with SITECMARd SIPANAB ol
April 1, 2006. Copa Airlines will enter into negation with the pilots in the third quarter of 2008pically, collective bargainir
agreements in Panama extend for four years. Coflia€s has traditionally experienced good relatinith its unions.

The two (2) unions covering employees in Colombizlude: the pilots’ union (ACDAC) and the traffitendants union (ACAV)
AeroRepiblica entered into a new collective bargaining agrent with ACAV on April 1,2005 and will be effegttil March 200¢
AeroRepublicas next negotiation with the pilots union will beginound June 2007. Typically, collective bargainaggeements
Colombia extend from two to four years. AeroRepeiohas traditionally experienced good relations vig unions.
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Lines of Credit for Working Capital and LettersGriedit

The Company maintained available facilities for king capital with several banks with yezméd available balances of $34.5 mill
and $38.5 million at December 31, 2006 and 200fpeetively.

The Company maintained available facilities fotdet of credit with several banks with outstandiajances of $27.3 million a
$13.7 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, resgey. These letters of credit are pledged focuft rentals, maintenance ¢
guarantees for airport facilities. Of this total,l5% million are letters of credit opened on beludlfAeroRepblica for the sam
purposes listed above.

These lines of credit have been put in place tdderiliquidity gaps and for other potential continges. Due to the Comparsy’
current cash position, the lines of credit do rntéhoutstanding balances.

Termination of General Sales Agent

The Company historically outsourced sales functionsome outstations through agreements with gésatas agents (GSA). O\
the past few years, the Company has been discamgirexisting agreements in order to reduce distidoucosts and take dire
control over these functions. As a result of thisgess, the Company terminated general sales aggaements in 2004.
accordance with SFAS No. 146 Atcounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disgo&ctivities”, the Company recorded, witt
other operating expenses, provisions amounting1t@ illion at December 31, 2004, when the genssdés agreements w
terminated.

Payments relating to the termination of the gensa#s agent agreements amounted to $1.3 millimh,$2.9 million in 2005 ar
2004, respectively.

The Company has no remaining GSA agreements vgtiifigiant termination contingencies.

17. Subsequent Events

Debt

In February 2007, the Company entered into a lggeeament for $36.3 million to finance a portioraoivanced delivery payments
two Boeing 737800 aircraft with delivery months of May and Noveanl2008. The Company has granted, for the benéfihe

borrowers, a first priority security interest irethights, title and interest over these aircrafts.

In addition, in March, 2007, the Company enterdd aloan agreement for $4.7 million to finance paechase of an engine.
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Stock Grants

During first quarter 2007 the Compensation Comraitté our Board of Directors approved two (2) newangl to certain nam
executive officers. These new plans granted 15869es of nomwested stock awards and 38,003 options, which weidited ove
three (3) years. The Company estimates the 200peosation cost for these plans is $0.6 million.

Commitment

In April 2007, the Company entered into agreeméatpurchase four (4) Boeing 73ext Generation aircraft with the option
purchase an additional three (3) Boeing Re%¢ Generation aircraft. The approximate totalieadf these firms and option aircrat
$585.1 million based on aircratft list prices, irdihg estimated amounts for contractual price eticaland predelivery deposits. Tt
Company is scheduled to take delivery of the falrafrcraft underlying the firm orders between 2Giid 2012 and the opti
aircraft (if exercised) in 2013.

Dividend distributior

On May 9, 2007, the Comparsy’Board of Directors approved a dividend distribatiof approximately $13.6 million, whi
represents 10.10% of the 2006 net income. Thisldid was paid on June 15, 2007.

18. Segment Reporting

Prior to the acquisition of AeroRebplica on April 22, 2005, the Company had one regdnle segment. Upon the acquisitior
AeroRepublica, the Company determined it has twmomable segments, the Copa segment and the AedbReEp segmen
primarily because: (1) management evaluates ttendiml and operational results of the Copa segraedtAeroReplilica segmer
separately for internal reporting and managemenfopeance evaluation purposes; and (2) managemaends to allo
AeroRepublica’s existing management to continueratpey the airline as a point-eint Colombian carrier, without significe
integration into the Copa network. The accountinficges of the segments are the same as thoseiliedén Note 1, Summary ¢
Significant Accounting Policies”. General corporatel other assets are allocated to the Copa segment
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Operating information for the Copa segment andi&bmRepblica segment for the period ended December 316 20@ 2005 is :
follow (in millions):

2006 2005
Operating Revenues:
Copa Segmer $ 676.2 $ 505.%
AeroRejublica segmen 175.¢ 103.(
Eliminations (0.9 (0.7)
Consolidatec $ 851.2 $ 608.€
Depreciation:
Copa Segmer $ 23.7 $ 19.5
AeroRejlblica segmen 1.2 0.€
Consolidatec $ 24.¢ $ 19.¢
Aircraft Rentals:
Copa Segmer $ 23.¢ $ 22.1
AeroRejlblica segmen 14.€ 5.k
Eliminations (0.3 0.C
Consolidatec $ 38.2 $ 27.€
Operating income:
Copa Segmer $ 166.¢ $ 103.(
AeroRejublica segmen (0.5) 6.1
Consolidatec $ 166.1 $ 109.]
Interest expense:
Copa Segmer $ (2520 % (18.9)
AeroRejublica segmen (2.2 (2.2
Consolidatec $ (2749 3% (20.5)
Interest income:
Copa Segmer $ 6.8 $ 3.4
AeroRejlblica segmen 0.4 0.2
Consolidatec $ 7.3 $ 3.€
Income (loss) before income taxe:!
Copa Segmer $ 155.¢ $ 89.¢
AeroRejlblica segmen (9.9 2.8
Consolidatec $ 146.] $ 92.€
Total Assets at End of Period:
Copa Segmer $ 1,168.: $ 851.1
AeroRejlblica segmen 132.¢ 98.1
Eliminations (46.0) (32.9)
Consolidatec $ 1,255.( $ 916.¢

F-35




Table of Contents

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Information concerning operating revenue by priatigeographic area for the period ended Decembéx 84 follow (in millions):

2006 2005 2004
North America $ 131.2 $ 86.¢ $ 66.2
Central America and Caribbe 157.C 125.2 104.2
South Americe 450.2 303.2 148.¢
Panam:e 1123 93.2 80.E
Total operating revent $ 851.2 $ 608.€ $ 399.¢

We attribute revenue among the geographical arassdoupon point of sales. Our tangible assets apidat expenditures cons
primarily of flight and related ground support gmuient, which is mobile across geographic markets #rerefore, has not be
allocated.
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10.44% Supplemental Agreement No. 11 dated as of Augus2@06 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

10.45% Supplemental Agreement No. 12 dated as of Feb2&r2007 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Numbgt
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

10.46% Supplemental Agreement No. 13 dated as of April2287 to the Boeing Purchase Agreement Number 2191
dated November 25, 1998 between the Boeing ComaadyCopa Holdings, S./

12.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, puesit to Rules 13a-14 and 13d-under the Securities Exchat
Act of 1934.

12.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puest to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the SecuBtiebange
Act of 1934.

13.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuantSection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

13.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, puiesut to Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

t  The Registrant was granted confidential treatmenp®ortions of this exhibit
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EXHIBIT 10.44

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®ON PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Supplemental Agreement No. 11
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as of Awg30, 2006 by and between THE BOEING COMPAN
Delaware corporation with its principal office ie&tle, Washington, (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, .SINC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageeiment No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat), as
amended and supplemented, relating to Boeing Ma8i&{7VV3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreearetite **Material Redacted** and

WHEREAS, Boeing and Buyer have mutually agreedhersd the Agreement to incorporate the effect afehand certai
other changes;
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cams herein contained, the parties agree to anienddreement as follow
1.1. Table of Contents, Tables and Exhik:

1.2. Remove and replace, in its entirety the “ Talll€ontents’, with the “ Table of Contentsattached hereto and hereby
made a part of the Agreement, to reflect the chaunggede by this Supplemental Agreem:

1.3. Table 1-4 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7377V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the deletion ol
November 2007 7:-7V3 aircraft from this table

1.4. Table 1-5 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the addition of
November 2007 7:-8V3 aircraft to this table
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1.5. Letter AgreementsNo. 6-1162-LAJ-982R3, entitled “ Special Mattéirticle 14 has been updated to correct various
manufacture’s serial numbers and to include our agreement datérial Redacted** for certain future aircre

The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sujgpierd to the extent herein provided as of the ldateof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppleidgmeement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

**Material Redacted**

By: By:

Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office
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Table 1-4
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments

Detail Specification: D6-38808-421 4th Qtr 2004

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-700 154,500 (4/30/2004, Forecast (F
Engine Model: CFM5€-7B22 Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
Airframe Price: **Material Formula: Jul-04 ECI-MFG/CPI
Redacted* Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula: N/A N/A
Optional Features: **Material
Redacted* Airframe Escalation Data:
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Base Year Index (ECI): **Material
Redacted* Redacted**
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Base Year Index (CPI): **Material
Redacted* Redacted**
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material
Redacted*
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: **Material
Redacted*
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material
Redacted*
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: **Material
Redacted*
Escalation
Estimate
Adv Advance Payment Per Aircraft
Payment (Amts. Due/Mos. Prior to Delivery):
Escalation Manufacturer Base 21/18/12/9/
Delivery Number of Factor Serial Price Per At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number AP 1% 4% 5% 30%
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted*
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted*
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted*
Total: 3
COP—SA 11
Nov 07— Sub from-700 to &-800 Boeing Proprietary Page .




Table 1-5
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-8V3 174,200 Detail Specification: D6-388081 Rev C 4th Qtr 2005
pounds dated -4-05  Forecast (F
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B2€ 26,400 Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
pounds Formula: Jul-04 ECI-MFG/CPI
Airframe Price: **Material Engine Price Base Year/Escalation
Redacted* Formula: N/A N/A
Optional Features: **Material
Redacted* Airframe Escalation Data:
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Base Year Index (ECI): **Material
Redacted* Redacted**
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Base Year Index (CPI): **Material
Redacted* Redacted**
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material
Redacted*
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: **Material
Redacted*
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material
Redacted*
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: **Material
Redacted*
Escalation
Estimate Advance Payment Per Aircraft
Adv Payment (Amts. Due/Mos. Prior to Delivery):
Escalation  Manufacturer Base 21/18/12/9/
Delivery Number of Factor Serial Price Per At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Number AlP 1% 4% 5% 30%
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted*
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted*
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted*
Total: 3
COP—SA 11
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The Boeing Company
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

6-1162-LAJ-982R3

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject: Special Matter:

Reference: Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Purchase Agregivetateen The Boeing
Company (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. (Custonmelating to Model 737
aircraft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends and supplements tteh&se Agreement. This Letter Agreement
supersedes and replaces in its entirety Letterekgent 6-1162-MJB-0017. All terms used but not
defined in this Letter Agreement have the same mgaas in the Purchase Agreement. In
consideration of the Aircraft orders, Boeing pra@sdhe following to Customer.

1. **Material Redacted**
2. **Material Redacted**
3. **Material Redacted**
4. **Material Redacted**.
5. **Material Redacted**
6. **Material Redacted**
7. **Material Redacted**
8. **Material Redacted**
9. **Material Redacted**
10. *Material Redacted**
11. *Material Redacted**
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12. *Material Redacted**
13. *Material Redacted**
14. **Material Redacted**
15. **Material Redacted**
16. **Material Redacted**

17. Confidentiality. Customer understands that certain commerciafiaadcial information
contained in this Letter Agreement are consideseBdreing as confidential. Customer agrees
that it will treat this Letter Agreement and thé&imation contained herein as confidential and
will not, without the prior written consent of Bowj, disclose this Letter Agreement or any
information contained herein to any other persoartity.

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date , 2006

THE BOEING COMPANY

**Material Redacted**

By

Its Attorney-In-Fact

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By

Its Chief Executive Office

PA 2191 SA 11






EXHIBIT 10.45

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®ON PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Supplemental Agreement No. 12
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as of F&h 2007 by and between THE BOEING COMPANY, a
Delaware corporation with its principal office ie&tle, Washington, (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, .SINC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchageeient No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat), as
amended and supplemented, relating to Boeing Ma8i&{7VV3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreearetite **Material Redacted** and

WHEREAS, Boeing and Buyer have mutually agreedhersd the Agreement to incorporate the effect afehand certai
other changes;
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cam@s herein contained, the parties agree to anienddreement as follow
1.1. Table of Contents and Tabl:

1.2. Remove and replace, in its entirety the * Talil€ontents’, with the “ Table of Content5attached hereto and hereby
made a part of the Agreement, to reflect the changede by this Supplemental Agreem:

1.3. Table 1-4 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7377V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the deletion of
May 2008 73-7V3 aircraft from this table

1.4. Table 1-5 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the addition of
May 2008 73-8V3 aircraft to this table

The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sugplerd to the extent herein provided as of the ladateof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

PA No. 2191 Page 1 SA No. 1:




Boeing and Customer have each caused this Supplaidereement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
**Material Redacted**
By: By:
Its: Attorney-In-Fact Its: Chief Executive Office
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Table 1-4

Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-7V3 Aircra ft
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments

Airframe Model/MTOW:

Engine Model:

Airframe Price:

Optional Features:

Suk-Total of Airframe and Features:
Engine Price (Per Aircraft):

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE):

Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate:
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate:

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept:

737-700
CFM5¢€-7B22

154,50(

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

Formula:

Detail Specification:

Engine Price Base Year/Escalation Formula

Airframe Escalation Data:

**Material Redacted*
**Material Redacted*

**Material Redacted*

Base Year Index (ECI):
Base Year Index (CPI):

D6-38808-421
(4/30/2004)

Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation

Jul-04
N/A

ECI-MFG/CPI
N/A

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Escalation Advance Payment Per Aircraft
Estimate (Amts. Due/Mos. Prior to Delivery):
Escalation Adv Payment 21/18/12/9/

Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Base At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Serial Number Price Per A/F 1% 4% 5% 30%
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material

Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted*
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted*

Total: 2

COP—SA 12
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Table 1-5
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3 Aircra ft
Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-8V3 174,200 pounc Detail Specification:

Engine Model/Thrust: CFM5€-7B2€ 26,400 pounc

Airframe Price: **Material Redacted* Airframe Price Base Year/Escalation
Optional Features: **Material Redacted* Formula:

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: “*Material Redacted* Engine Price Base Year/Escalation
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Redacted* Formula:

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE): **Material Redacted*

Airframe Escalation Data:
Base Year Index (ECI):
Base Year Index (CPI):

Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate: **Material Redacted*
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate: **Material Redacted*

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at Proposal Accept: **Material Redacted*

D6-388081 Rev C

dated -4-05
Ju-04 ECI-MFG/CP
N/A N/A

**Material Redacted**
**Material Redacted**

Escalation Advance Payment Per Aircraft
Estimate (Amts. Due/Mos. Prior to Delivery):
Escalation Adv Payment 21/18/12/9/¢
Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Base At Signing 24 Mos. Mos. Total
Date Aircraft (Airframe)  Serial Number Price Per A/P 1% 4% 5% 30%
**Material **Material 1.1101 35068 $71,479,00 $624,79( $2,859,16! $3,573,95! $21,443,70
Redacted** Redacted*
**Material **Material ~ **Material **Material **Material $629,62( **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material ~ **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material ~ **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted**
Total: 4
COP—SA 12
4419:-May 08 Sub t-700 to a-800 Boeing Proprietary Page .






EXHIBIT 10.46

CERTAIN PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTEIAND FILED
SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS®ON PURSUANT
TO A REQUEST FOR CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT

Supplemental Agreement No. 13
to
Purchase Agreement No. 2191
between
The Boeing Company
and
COPA Holdings, S.A., Inc.
Relating to Boeing Model 737 Aircraft

THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT entered into as of A28, 2007 by and between THE BOEING COMPANY,
a Delaware corporation with its principal officeS$eattle, Washington, (Boeing) and COPA HOLDING®3,.SNC. (Customer);

WHEREAS, the parties hereto entered into Purchagedinent No. 2191 dated November 25, 1998 (theehgeat), a
amended and supplemented, relating to Boeing Ma8i&{7VV3 and 737-8V3 aircraft (the Aircraft); and

WHEREAS, Customer and Boeing have come to agreeametite **Material Redacted** and **Material Redadt*
and

WHEREAS, Boeing and Buyer have mutually agreedierad the Agreement to incorporate the effect oferend
certain other changes;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cam@s herein contained, the parties agree to anenddreement as follow
1.1. Table of Contents, Tables and Letter Agreem:

1.2. Remove and replace, in its entirety the “ Talll€ontents’, with the “ Table of Content5attached hereto and hereby
made a part of the Agreement, to reflect the chaunggede by this Supplemental Agreem:

1.3. Table 1-4 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7377V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the *Material
Redacted** for the **Material Redacted** 7-7V3 Aircraft.

1.4. Table 1-5 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the **Material
Redacted** 73-8V3 Aircraft.
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1.5. Table 1-6 entitled “ Aircraft Information TablerfModel 7378V3 Aircraft” is attached hereto to reflect the scheduled
delivery months for the 7:-8V3 Aircraft of **Material Redacted*

1.6. Table 1-7 entitled “ RLE3958—Option Aircraft— Aircraft Information Table for Model 738V3 Aircraft” is attached
hereto to reflect the scheduled delivery monthgHer73-8V3 Option Aircraft of **Material Redacted*

1.7. Letter Agreement No. 6-1162-LAJ-982R4 entitleghéBial Matters” to include a revision to Articlee@titled **Material
Redacted** an¢ Confidentiality”.

1.8. Letter Agreement No. 6-1162-RLL-3958 entitled §tidn Aircraft” is attached hereto and hereby made a part of the
Agreement

The Purchase Agreement will be deemed to be sugplerd to the extent herein provided as of the ldateof and as so
supplemented will continue in full force and effect

Boeing and Customer have each caused this Suppleldgmeement to be duly executed as of the dayyaad first written above.

THE BOEING COMPANY COPA HOLDINGS, S.A
**Material Redacted**
By By:
Its:  Attorney-In-Fact Its:  Chief Executive Office

PA No. 2191 Page 2 SA No. 1!
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Table 1-4
Aircraft Information Table Model 737-7V3 Aircraft
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Rayments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-700 154,500 Detail Specification: D6-3880¢-42-1 (4/30/2004
Engine Model: CFM5€-7B22 Airframe Price Base Jul-04 ECI-MFG/CPI
Year/Escalation Formula:
Airframe Price: **Material
Redacted** Engine Price Base Year/Escalation N/A N/A
Optional Features: **Material Formula:
Redacted**
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material Airframe Escalation Data:
Redacted**
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Base Year Index (ECI): **Material
Redacted** Redacted**
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding **Material Base Year Index (CPI): **Material
BFE/SPE): Redacted** Redacted**
Buyer Furnished Equipment **Material
(BFE) Estimate: Redacted**
Seller Purchased Equipment **Material
(SPE) Estimate: Redacted**
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at **Material
Proposal Accept: Redacted**
Escalation Escalation Estimat¢ Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mos. Total
Date Aircraft  (Airframe) Serial Number Price Per A/IP 1% 4% 5% 30%
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
Total: 2
COP—SA 13
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Table 1-5
Aircraft Information Table Model 737-8V3 Aircraft
Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-8V3 174,200 Detail Specification: D6-3880¢-1 Rev C, dated-4-05
pounds
Airframe Price Base Jul-04 ECI-MFG/CPI
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B26 26,400 Year/Escalation Formula:
pounds
Airframe Price: **Material Engine Price Base Year/Escalation N/A N/A
Redacted** Formula:
Optional Features: **Material
Redacted** Airframe Escalation Data:
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material
Redacted** Base Year Index (ECI): **Material
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Redacted**
Redacted** Base Year Index (CPI): **Material
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding **Material Redacted**
BFE/SPE): Redacted**
Buyer Furnished Equipment **Material
(BFE) Estimate: Redacted**
Seller Purchased Equipment **Material
(SPE) Estimate: Redacted**
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at **Material
Proposal Accept: Redacted**
Escalation Escalation Estimate  Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mos Total
Date Aircraft  (Airframe) Serial Number Price Per A/P 1% 1% 5% 30%
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
Total: 4
COP—SA 13
44824 Boeing Proprietary Page .




Table 1-6
Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3
Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Airframe Model/MTOW: 737-8V3 174,200 Detail Specification: D6-3880¢-1 Rev C, dated-4-05
pounds
Airframe Price Base Jul-06 ECI-MFG/CPI
Engine Model/Thrust: CFM56-7B26 26,400 Year/Escalation Formula:
pounds
Airframe Price: **Material Engine Price Base Year/Escalation N/A N/A
Redacted** Formula:
Optional Features: **Material
Redacted** Airframe Escalation Data:
Sub-Total of Airframe and Features: **Material
Redacted** Base Year Index (ECI): **Material
Engine Price (Per Aircraft): **Material Redacted**
Redacted** Base Year Index (CPI): **Material
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding **Material Redacted**
BFE/SPE): Redacted**
Buyer Furnished Equipment **Material
(BFE) Estimate: Redacted**
Seller Purchased Equipment **Material
(SPE) Estimate: Redacted**
Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at **Material
Proposal Accept: Redacted**
Escalation Escalation Estimate  Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):
Delivery Number of Factor Manufacturer Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mos Total
Date Aircraft  (Airframe) Serial Number Price Per A/P 1% 1% 5% 30%
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted* Redacted* Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
Total: 4
COP—SA—13
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The Boeing Company
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

6-1162-LAJ-982R4

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject: Special Matter:

Reference: Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Purchase Agregivetateen The Boeing
Company (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. (Custonmelating to Model 737
aircraft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends and supplements tteh&se Agreement. This Letter Agreement
supersedes and replaces in its entirety Letterékgent 6-1162-MJB-0017. All terms used but not
defined in this Letter Agreement have the same imgaas in the Purchase Agreement. In
consideration of the Aircraft orders, Boeing pra@sdhe following to Customer.

1. **Material Redacted**
2. **Material Redacted**
3. **Material Redacted**
4. **Material Redacted**
5. **Material Redacted**
6. **Material Redacted**
7. **Material Redacted**
8. **Material Redacted**
9. **Material Redacted**
10. **Material Redacted**
11. *Material Redacted**
12. *Material Redacted**
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. **Material Redacted**
. **Material Redacted**
. **Material Redacted**
. **Material Redacted**
. **Material Redacted**
. **Material Redacted**
. **Material Redacted**

. **Material Redacted**

SA 1:
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ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date

THE BOEING COMPANY

**Material Redacted**

By

Its Attorney-In-Fact

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By

Its Chief Executive Office

, 2007




(-

EOEING

PA 2191

The Boeing Company
P.O. Box 3707
Seattle, WA 98124-2207

6-1162-RLL-3958

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A.

Apartado 1572

Avenida Justo Arosemena y Calle 39
Panama 1, Panama

Subject: Option Aircrraft

Reference: Purchase Agreement No. 2191 (the Purchase Agregivetateen The Boeing
Company (Boeing) and COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. (Custonmelating to Model 737
aircraft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement amends the Purchase Agreeknérms used but not defined in this Letter
Agreement have the same meaning as in the Puréggeement.

Boeing agrees to manufacture and sell to Custonitianal Model 737 aircraft aSption

Aircraft . The delivery months, number of aircraft, AdvaiR@yment Base Price per aircraft and
advance payment schedule are listed in TalMgd this Letter Agreement. The Airframe Price shi
includes the Engine Price.

1. Aircraft Description and Chang:
**Material Redacted**

2. Price
**Material Redacted**

SA 1:




(-

EOEING

PA 2191

Page 2

2.2 Price Adjustment.

**  Material Redacted*
3. Paymen.

3.1 Customer will pay a deposit to Boeing in theoant shown in Table 1-7 for each Option
Aircraft (Deposit), on the date of this Letter Agmeent. If Customer exercises an option, the Deposit
will be credited against the first advance payntkm. If Customer does not exercise an option,
Boeing will retain the Deposit for that Option Aliadt.

3.2 Following option exercise, advance paymenteénamounts and at the times listed in Table
1-7 will be payable for the Option Aircraft. The reimder of the Aircraft Price for the Option Aircr
will be paid at the time of delivery.

4. Option Exercist.
**Material Redacted**

5. Contract Term.

Boeing and Customer will promptly confirm Custonsegxercise of its rights in respect to an
Option Aircraft by entering into a definitive agreent for the purchase of an Option Aircratft,
including the terms and conditions contained is thetter Agreement, in the Purchase Agreement,
and other terms and conditions as may be agreed tifidaterial Redacted**

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date , 2007

SA 1t
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By **Material Redacted**

Its Attorney-In-Fact

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A

By

Its Chief Executive Office

Attachmeni— Table -7




Airframe Model/MTOW:

Engine Model/Thrust:
Airframe Price:

Optional Features:

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features:

Engine Price (Per Aircraft):

Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding
BFE/SPE):

Buyer Furnished Equipment
(BFE) Estimate:
Seller Purchased Equipment
(SPE) Estimate:

Refundable Deposit/Aircraft at
Proposal Accept:

Escalation
Number of  Factor

Aircraft

Delivery
Date

Table 1-7

RLL-3958 — Option Aircraft

Aircraft Information Table for Model 737-8V3
Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

737-8V3

CFM5¢€-7B26

Manufacturer
(Airframe) Serial Number

**Material **Material
Redacted* Redacted*
**Material **Material
Redacted* Redacted*
**Material **Material
Redacted* Redacted*

**Material
Redacted*
**Material
Redacted*
**Material
Redacted*

Total: 3

COP—SA—13
43715

**Material
Redacted**
**Material
Redacted**
**Material
Redacted**

174,200 pound

26,400 pound

Redacted**

**Material
Redacted**
**Material
Formula:
**Material
Redacted**

Detail Specification:

Airframe Price Base
Year/Escalation Formula:

Engine Price Base Year/Escalation

Airframe Escalation Data:

**Material
Redacted**
**Material

Redacted**

**Material
Redacted**
**Material
Redacted**

**Material
Redacted**

Escalation Estimatce

Base Year Index (ECI):

Base Year Index (CPI):

D6-3880¢-1 Rev C, dated-4-05

Jul-06

N/A

**Material
Redacted**

**Material
Redacted**

ECI-MFG/CPI

N/A

Advance Payment Per Aircraft (Amts. Due/Mos. Priorto Delivery):

Adv Payment Base At Signing 24 Mos. 21/18/12/9/6 Mot Total

Price Per A/IP 1% 4% 5% 30%
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
**Material **Material **Material **Material **Material
Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted** Redacted**
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EXHIBIT 12.1
Certification
I, Pedro Heilbron, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material factroit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this reg

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statémend other financial information included irstreport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the company aaruf,for, the periods
presented in this repol

4.  The company'’s other certifying officer(s)drare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18ayHnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiakrmédion relating to the company, including its caigated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entitiesticularly during the period in which this repis being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financéarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappsges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsinefport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting tleeecurred during the
period covered by the annual report that has nadierffected, or is reasonably likely to mateyadiffect, the company’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer(sddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent ev@tuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the company’s auditors #mel audit committee of the company’s board of doesc(or persons
performing the equivalent function:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversdfgct the company’s ability to record, processnswarize and report
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the
company’s internal control over financial reporting

Date: July 2, 2007

/s/ Pedro Heilbron
Pedro Heilbron
Chief Executive Officer

(Section 302 CEOQ Certificatiol






EXHIBIT 12.2
Certification
I, Victor Vial, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of Copa Holdings, S.A

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material factroit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this reg

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statémend other financial information included irstreport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the company aaruf,for, the periods
presented in this repol

4.  The company'’s other certifying officer(s)drare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18ayHnd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiakrmédion relating to the company, including its caigated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entitiesticularly during the period in which this repis being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financéarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeragsurance regarding the reliability of financégorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappsges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentédsinefport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting tleeecurred during the
period covered by the annual report that has nadierffected, or is reasonably likely to mateyadiffect, the company’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The company’s other certifying officer(sddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent ev@tuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the company’s auditors #mel audit committee of the company’s board of doesc(or persons
performing the equivalent function:

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversdfgct the company’s ability to record, processnswarize and report
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the
company’s internal control over financial reporting

Date: July 2, 2007

[s/ Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Officer

(Section 302 CFO Certificatiol






EXHIBIT 13.1

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarba@etey Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of satti350, chapter 63 of title 18, Unit
States Code), each of the undersigned officersopioldings, S.A. (the * Compariy does hereby certify, to such officer’s
knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddinber 31, 2006 of the Company fully complies whihrequirements
of section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securiigshange Act of 1934 and information containethForm 20F fairly presents, i
all material respects, the financial condition aesults of operations of the Company.

Dated: July 2, 2007

/s/ Pedro Heilbron
Pedro Heilbron
Chief Executive Officer







EXHIBIT 13.2

Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarba@etey Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of satti350, chapter 63 of title 18, Unit
States Code), each of the undersigned officersopioldings, S.A. (the * Compariy does hereby certify, to such officer’s
knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year endeddinber 31, 2006 of the Company fully complies whihrequirements
of section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securiigshange Act of 1934 and information containethForm 20F fairly presents, i
all material respects, the financial condition aesults of operations of the Company.

Dated: July 2, 2007

[s/ Victor Vial
Victor Vial
Chief Financial Officer



